
SPRING ANNUAL TOWN MEETING 
April 5, 2025 

Table of Contents 
                                                                                                                   

                                          PAGE(S) 
  

REPORT & RECOMMENDATIONS  
  

Report & Recommendations of the Advisory & Finance Committee  ........................    3-15 
 

  

VOTING CHARTS 
  

Advisory & Finance Committee Roll Call Voting Charts ..............................................    19-20 
  

 
  

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS COMMITTEE 
  

Capital Improvements Committee Project Rankings ..................................................    23-27 
  

  

BURKE’S LAW 
  

Report of Outstanding Articles ………………………………………………………………………………   31-42 
  

 
  

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION    

Article 1   Reports of Boards, Officers & Committees  ...........................................    45   

Article 2  Revolving Fund Spending Limits  ...........................................................   47-56           

Article 3  Continuation of Committees .................................................................    57-61   

Article 4   Salaries of Elected Town Officials ..........................................................    63-65     

Article 5  General Fund Operating Budgets ..........................................................   67-144   

Article 6  Water Enterprise Budget  ......................................................................  145-147   

Article 7  Sewer Enterprise Budget ………………………………………………………………….   149-152   

Article 8  Solid Waste Enterprise Budget ………………………………………………………….  153-155   

Article 9  Airport Enterprise Budget …………………………………………………………………  157-160   

Article 10   Cable Public Access Enterprise Budget ……………………………………………..  161-165       

Article 11 Facility Capital Maintenance Stabilization Fund ………………………………..  167-169   

Article 12 Nuclear Stabilization Fund ………………………………………………………………..  171-173   

Article 13 Capital Improvements ............................................................................  175-181   

Article 14   Chapter 90 Roads ……………………………………………………………………………..  183-185   

Article 15  Town Promotion Fund ………………………………………………………..……………  187-190   

Article 16 CPC – Reduce Borrowing – Plymouth Coalition for the Homeless ........  191-193      

Article 17 CPC – Reduce Borrowing – Stephens Field ............................................  195-197      

Article 18 CPC – FY26 Annual Budget   ...................................................................  199-202   

Article 19 WITHDRAWN …………………………………………………………………………………….     

Article  20 Eversource Easement – Nook Road …………………………………………………..  203-207   

Article 21 Proposed Bylaw – School Facilities Maint.  ...........................................  209-212     

Article 22 Charter Amendment – School Facilities Maint.  ....................................  213-216    

Article 23 Charter Amendment – Charter Review Committee  .............................  217-219    

Article 24 Charter Amendment – Land Use Acquisition Committee  ....................  221   

Article 25  HERO Act – COLA Increase ………………………………………………………………………….  223-225   

Article 26 HERO Act – Exemption Amount Increase ………………………………………….. 227   

Article 27 Citizen’s Petition  Zoning Amend. Light Industrial to Mixed Commerce 229-236   

Article 28 Citizen’s Petition – Bylaw Amend. – Public Comment ...........................  237-243   

Article 29 Citizen’s Petition – Home Rule – Digital Legal Notices  .........................  245-248  
    





REPORT & 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1



2



REPORT & RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE ADVISORY & FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Spring Annual Town Meeting - Saturday, April 5, 2025 

 
ARTICLE 1: Reports of Boards, Officers and Committees. 
To hear the reports of the several Boards and Officers and Committees of the Town thereon, or 
take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 1. Approval of 
this article will allow boards and committees to place their reports on file with the Town Clerk. 
Most Board and Committee reports can be found in the Annual Town Report. 
 
ARTICLE 2: Revolving Fund Spending Limits 
To see if the Town will vote pursuant to G.L. c. 44, §53E 1/2 to establish the fiscal year 2026 
spending limits for each revolving fund established by Chapter 143 of the General By-laws, 
Departmental Revolving Funds, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2. Approval of 
this article will set the FY2026 spending caps for each of the revolving funds listed herein 
pursuant to G.L. c. 44, §53E ½. 
 
ARTICLE 3: Continuation of Committees.  
To see what action the Town will take pursuant to Chapter 173 of the General By-Laws 
regarding the formation, reformation, organization, continuation or discharge of existing 
Committees created by vote of Town Meeting, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 3. Approval of   
this article will authorize the Cedarville Steering Committee and the Plymouth Center Steering 
Committee to continue to operate for the next three years, with a further review in three years at 
the 2028 Annual Town Meeting. 
 
ARTICLE 4: Salaries of Elected Town Officials. 
To see what action the Town will take pursuant to G.L. c.41, §108 with regard to fixing the 
salaries of elected Town Officials, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $22,500 (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 4. Approval of 
this article will set the annual stipends for the Select Board and Town Moderator.  There are no 
changes to the stipend amounts this year. The Chair of the Select Board will receive a stipend of 
$4,500, the four remaining Select Board members will receive $4,000 each, and the Moderator 

3



will receive $2,000. The funding for these stipends are included in Article 5 – The General Fund 
Budget. 
 
ARTICLE 5: General Fund Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to provide a reserve fund and to determine what sums of 
money the Town will raise and appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward 
defraying charges and expenses of the Town, including debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve 
month period beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
Sub-Committee Report A’s Section of the Budget 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $16,653,088 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee is recommending a decrease of $6,700 to the Town 
Elections budget due to the cost savings from the reduction in polling locations. The Advisory & 
Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $16,653,088 which 
differs from Sub-Committee Report A. 
  
Sub-Committee Report B’s Section of the Budget 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $88,146,820 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $88,146,820 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report B. 
 
Sub-Committee Report C’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $38,366,530 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $38,366,530 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report C. 
 
Sub-Committee Report D’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $14,259,765 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $14,259,765 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report D. 
 
Sub-Committee Report E’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $6,222,984 (11-2-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $6,222,984 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report E. 
 
Sub-Committee Report F’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval  $127,647,811 (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $127,647,811 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report F. 

4



 
ARTICLE 6: Water Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and

 appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses
 of the Town for the water enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month period
 beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 

SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $6,346,287 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $6,346,287 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Water Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the 
Indirect Cost for the Water Enterprise in the amount of $1,776,968. 
 
ARTICLE 7: Sewer Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and

 appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses
 of the Town for the sewer enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month period 

beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $8,977,272 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $8,977,272 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Sewer Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the 
Indirect Cost for the Sewer Enterprise in the amount of $511,173. 
 
ARTICLE 8: Solid Waste Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and 
appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses 
of the Town for the solid waste enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month 
period beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $958,417 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $958,417 as detailed in Sub-Committee 
Report G – Solid Waste Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the Indirect 
Cost for the Solid Waste Enterprise in the amount of $430,722. 
 
ARTICLE 9: Airport Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and 
appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses 
of the Town for the airport enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month period 
beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 

 

5



 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $3,802,724 (10-3-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $3,802,724 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Airport Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the 
Indirect Cost for the Airport Enterprise in the amount of $433,477. 
 
ARTICLE 10: Cable Public Access Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will 
raise and appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying 
charges and expenses of the Town for the cable public access enterprise and debt and 
interest, for the ensuing twelve month period beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other 
action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,545,000 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $1,545,000 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Cable Public Access Enterprise. 
 
ARTICLE 11: Facility Capital Stabilization Fund  
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds a sum of 
money to the Facility Capital Maintenance Stabilization Fund, as authorized by the provisions of 
G.L. c. 40, §5B as amended, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $500,000 (Unanimous, 11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 11. Approval 
of this article will authorize the Town to raise and appropriate from the levy to the Facility 
Capital Maintenance Stabilization Fund for future use as it relates to capital maintenance of 
Town owned buildings.  
 
ARTICLE 12: Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund  
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds a sum of 
money to the Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund, as authorized by the provisions of G.L. c. 40, 
§5B as amended, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Not Recommended (4-8-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting does not approve Article 12 
Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund. For the second year in a row, many of the Committee 
members felt that the fund wasn’t being used for it’s intended purpose, tax relief, and therefore 
doesn’t recommend putting additional funds into the Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund when 
there is a current balance over $9.7 million.  

 
 

6



 
ARTICLE 13: Capital Improvements 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds or borrow a 
sum of money for the construction and/or repair and/or purchase and/or lease and/or replacement 
of departmental buildings and/or equipment and/or capital facilities for various departments of the 
Town and/or for feasibility and other types of studies, including the payment of costs incidental or 
related thereto, and to authorize contracts or lease/purchase agreements for such purposes for terms 
of three or more years, as follows,  
 

ITEM DEPARTMENT PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
A1 123 - Town Manager 1749 Courthouse 
A2 155 - Information Technology Fiber Over Lash Phase 3 
A3 155 - Information Technology Strategic Plan Refresh 
A4 155 - Information Technology Document Digitization Phase 3 
A5 210 - Police Property/Evidence Climate Control 
A6 210 - Police Feasibility Study for Police HQ 
A7 210 - Police Armored Vehicle Replacement 
A8 220 - Fire Replace and Equip Command Vehicles 
A9 295 - Harbormaster Town Wharf Extension 
A10 295 - Harbormaster 34' Calvin Beal - Refit 
A11 300 - School  PCIS Fire Alarm System Upgrade 
A12 300 - School  PNHS Main Entry Drain Install 
A13 300 - School  Purchase 7D Van 
A14 300 - School  Purchase School Bus 
A15 300 - School  SES Replacement of Remaining RTUs and Controls 
A16 300 - School  PCIS Parking Lot Pave/Stripe 
A17 300 - School  MES Replace Rubber Roof (Added Scope) 
A18 300 - School  District-Wide HVAC Repairs 
A19 300 - School  District-Wide Roofing Assessments and Repairs 
A20 300 - School  Admin Building Generator Replacement 
A21 300 - School  SES Final Asphalt Coat of Side Parking Lot 
A22 300 - School  PNHS Soccer Turf Replacement 
A23 300 - School  WES Ball Courts / Sidewalk Repave & Stripe 
A24 300 - School  NMES Stairwell Renovations 
A25 300 - School  PSHS Maintenance Garage 
A26 300 - School  Admin Building Exterior Repairs & Cupola 
A27 300 - School  FFES Multi-Use Tractor 
A28 411 - DPW Engineering Roadway Improvement Program & Preservation 
A29 420 - DPW Highway Replace 2008 F550 Bucket Truck 
A30 420 - DPW Highway New Roadside Mower 
A31 420 - DPW Highway Replace F350 Utility Body 
A32 420 - DPW Highway Replace 2014 John Deere Skid Steer 
A33 422 - DPW Facility Maintenance FS1 HQ Brick Repointing 

7



 

A34 422 - DPW Facility Maintenance PD HQ Locker Room / Restroom Renovation 
A35 491 - DPW Cemetery White Horse Cemetery Easement Construction 
A36 492 - DPW Parks & Forestry Reconstructing Tennis Courts - Briggs & Elmer Raymond 
A37 492 - DPW Parks & Forestry Replace Utility Pickup Truck #23 
A38 541 - Center For Active Living Moving Wall Replacement 
A39 630 - Recreation Forges Field Pickleball Court Drainage/Pathway 
A40 440 - DPW Sewer Sewer System Improvements 
A41 440 - DPW Sewer Truck Replacement #S55 
A42 450 - DPW Water Distribution System Improvements 
A43 450 - DPW Water Water System Improvements 
B1 220 - Fire Replace and Equip 2006 Aerial Platform 
B2 220 - Fire Replace and Equip 2007 Pumping Engine 
B3 440 - DPW Sewer CMOM Program 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $21,738,444 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 13. The Town 
Manager recommended funding $21,738,444 worth of capital items requested for FY26. The 
Advisory & Finance Committee agrees with this recommendation. (See pages 24-27 for the CIC 
spreadsheet). The recommended capital items fall within the following two overarching categories: 

• General Fund items totaling $19,228,444 to be funded with $12,746,886 from Free 
Cash, $3,469,761 from borrowing, $2,650,000 from General Fund Revenues, $59,330 
from Transportation Network Fee Fund, $100,000 from Fire Prevention Revolving Fund, 
and $202,467 from a Police Department Grant that does not require Town Meeting 
appropriation, 

• Enterprise Fund items totaling $2,510,000 to be funded with $360,000 from Sewer 
Enterprise Fund Retained Earnings, $850,000 from Water Enterprise Fund Retained 
Earnings, and $1,300,000 from borrowing. 

ARTICLE 14: Chapter 90 Roads  
To see if the Town will vote to accept and expend such sum or sums of money allotted or to be 
allotted to the Town from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts under the provisions of M.G.L. 
Chapter 90 or under any other state roadway reimbursement programs for FY26, and to authorize 
the Select Board to enter into a contract or contracts with the Massachusetts Department of 
Transportation Highway Division for such purposes; and further, to authorize the Treasurer with 
the approval of the Select Board, to borrow in anticipation of 100% reimbursement of said 
amounts, or to take any other action relative thereto. 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS—ENGINEERING DIVISION  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 14. Approval 
of this article will enable the Town to accept State Highway (Chapter 90) Funds for repairs and 
reconstruction of public roads. While the estimated amount of Chapter 90 funds for FY2026 was 
not known at the time this report was prepared, Plymouth did receive more than $1.59 million for 

8



FY2025. The Town expects a similar amount in FY2026 unless there is change in policy and/or 
the state’s financial health. 
 
ARTICLE 15: Town Promotion Fund  
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from the Town Promotion Fund created pursuant to 
Chapter 4 of the Acts of 1993, a sum of money for programs and projects that enhance the 
beautification, recreational resources, public safety, promotional and marketing activities, events, 
services and public improvements, or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,355,872 (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 15. Approval 
of this article will allow expenditures from the Town’s Promotion Fund.  The Promotion Fund, 
created by special legislation, is funded with 45% of the receipts from the Hotel/Motel Tax.  The 
Visitor Services Board oversees expenditures from this fund.  Expenditures include funding 
special events and celebrations.  The Town Promotion Fund is also used to pay a marketing and 
promotions contract with See Plymouth/Destination Plymouth, which provides the Town with 
television and print advertising around the country (and abroad), maintains a waterfront 
information booth, and provides for the operation of the See Plymouth website. 
 
ARTICLE 16: CPC - Reduce Borrowing – Plymouth Area Coalition for the Homeless 
(PACH) 
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under 
Article 16A, 2024 Spring Town Meeting for the purpose of constructing 26 family shelter units 
and education center deed restricted for affordable housing purposes located at 54 industrial Park 
Road Plymouth Massachusetts, by reducing the amount to be borrowed by a sum of money and 
appropriating a sum of money from Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation Act revenues or 
transfer from Community Preservation available funds or reserves for such purposes, and take any 
other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $398,814 (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 16. Approval of 
this Article will authorize the Town to use available Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation 
Act revenues to reduce the borrowing commitment for the Plymouth Area Coalition for the 
Homeless (PACH). 
 
 
ARTICLE 17: CPC – Reduce Borrowing – Stephens Field  
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under 
Article 16F, 2024 Spring Town Meeting for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field, 
for Open Space and Recreation purposes, as previously amended, by reducing the amount to be 
borrowed by a sum of money and appropriating a sum of money from Fiscal Year 2026 
Community Preservation Act revenues or transfer from Community Preservation available funds 
or reserves for such purposes, and take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE  

9



 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 17. Approval of 
this Article will authorize the Town to use available Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation 
Act revenues, in an amount to be determined by the Finance Director, to reduce the borrowing 
commitment for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field project. 
 
ARTICLE 18: CPC - CPA Fund Budget/Account Set-Aside 
To see if the Town will vote to hear and act on the report of the Community Preservation 
Committee on the Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation Budget including debt service and 
to appropriate from the Community Preservation Fund Fiscal Year 2026 estimated annual revenues 
a sum of money to meet the administrative expenses and all other necessary and proper expenses 
of the Community Preservation Committee for Fiscal Year 2026, and to set aside sums for future 
appropriation for the following purposes as recommended by the Community Preservation 
Committee: a sum of money for the acquisition, creation, and preservation of land for open space, 
including restoration and rehabilitation of land for recreational use; a sum of money for acquisition, 
preservation, restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources; and a sum of money for the 
acquisition, creation, preservation and support of community housing, or take any other action 
relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 18. Approval 
of this Article will allow the Community Preservation Committee to allocate 10% of the 
estimated annual revenues of the Community Preservation Fund (CPA) for future spending in 
community housing. Additionally, 4% of the estimated annual revenues of the CPA will be set 
aside for funding administrative and operational expenses and an amount will be set aside for 
interest expense on debt.  
 
ARTICLE 19: Withdrawn 
 
ARTICLE 20: Eversource Easement – Nook Road 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to grant and convey to NStar Electric 
Company, d/b/a Eversource Energy, access and utility easements for the installation of a pad 
mount transformer and equipment, underground wires, underground transmission lines, 
underground cable and conduit together with lines for control, relay and communication purposes 
over, across, upon and under a portion of Town owned property located at 41 Obery Street in the 
Town of Plymouth, Massachusetts as shown on a plan dated September 25, 2024, on file with the 
Town Clerk; or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
No Motion. No Action. 
 
 
 

 

10



ARTICLE 21: Proposed Bylaw – School Facilities Maintenance 
To see if the Town will vote to amend General bylaws, Chapter 177, to add Article III, Facilities 
Maintenance, Management, and Oversight, consistent with the proposed language; with 
underlined text to be inserted and strikethrough text to be deleted, as follows: 
Section 177-3 Facilities Maintenance, Management, and Oversight:   
 

A. Definitions: 
 

(1) School Facilities - For the purposes of this section, school facilities shall 
include:  

a. non-academic school buildings; school sports fields and any press 
boxes, halftime facilities, and/or lighting fixtures or structures 
associated with them; wells and wastewater treatment infrastructure 
located on school properties; and maintenance garages.  
 

B. Control and responsibility for public facilities shall be appropriated as follows: 
(1) The School Committee shall have general charge and superintendence of all school 
buildings, facilities, and grounds and shall furnish all school buildings with proper fixtures, 
furniture, and equipment;        
 
(2) The Town and its various Departments and Divisions shall have general charge and 
superintendence of all municipal buildings and grounds, excluding school buildings and 
grounds, and shall furnish all of these buildings, facilities, and grounds with proper fixtures, 
furniture, and equipment.  

 
or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 21. Approval 
of this article will codify the current status quo of Town and School operations into the General 
Bylaws and will prevent any future proposed consolidation efforts from occurring without Town 
Meeting approval, but Town Meeting can change a General Bylaw at any Town Meeting to 
reflect a desirable potential future consolidation agreement.  
 
ARTICLE 22: Charter Amendment – School Facilities Maintenance  
To see if the Town will vote to amend Chapter 4 Section 3 of the Plymouth Town Charter to delete 
Section 4-3-2(d) to remove the requirement that the Schools have superintendence of their 
buildings and grounds from the Town Charter with underlined text to be inserted and strikethrough 
text to be deleted, as follows: 

4-3-2 The powers and duties of the School Committee shall include the following: 

(a) To appoint a superintendent of the schools who shall manage the school system in a fashion  
consistent with law and the policy determinations of the School Committee and, upon the 
recommendation of the Superintendent, the School Committee may also establish and appoint 
positions of assistant or associate superintendents as provided by law. 

11



(b) To establish educational goals and policies for the schools in the Town consistent with the 
requirements of law and statewide goals and standards established by the State Board of 
Education. 

(c) To propose and to oversee the administration of an annual operating budget for the School 
Department, subject to appropriation by the Town Meeting. 

(d) To have general charge and superintendence of all school buildings and grounds and furnish 
all school buildings with proper fixtures, furniture and equipment. 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 22. Approval of 
this article will delete Section 4-3-2(d) to remove the requirement that the Schools have 
superintendence of their buildings and grounds from the Town Charter. 
 
ARTICLE 23: Charter Amendment – Charter Review Committee 
To see if the Town will vote to amend Chapter 7 Section 6 of the Plymouth Town Charter to permit 
a future Charter Review Committee to propose bylaws for Town Meeting consideration as part of 
their report to Town Meeting, consistent with the proposed language; with underlined text to be 
inserted and strikethrough text to be deleted, as follows: 
 
Chapter 7, Section 6 Periodic Charter Review Committee   
 
7-6-1 At least once every 5 years, a Charter Review Committee shall review this Charter and make 
a report, with recommendations, to the Town Meeting concerning any proposed amendments 
which the Committee may determine to be necessary or desirable. The Charter Review Committee 
shall also have the ability to propose new or amended general bylaws for Town Meeting 
consideration as part of their report. The members of the Charter Review Committee shall be 
appointed by a special committee consisting of the Moderator, who will serve as Chairman, one 
member of the Select Board and one (1) member of the Committee of Precinct Chairs. 
 
or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 23. Approval of 
this article will expand the scope of Charter Review Committee’s report to Town Meeting to 
include recommending new or amended general bylaw changes. 
 
ARTICLE 24: Charter Amendment – Land Use Acquisition Committee 
To see if Town will vote to authorize amending the Town Charter regarding the role, 
scope, and appointing authority of the Land Use and Acquisition Committee, consistent with the 
proposed language; with underlined text to be inserted, as follows: 

3-14-9 A Land Use and Acquisition Committee comprised of seven (7) members to act 

12



in an advisory capacity to the Select Board with respect to the acquisition, conveyance, 
and disposition of real property by the Town, or its subdivisions, either pursuant to 
Chapter 61, 61A, or 61B of the General Laws or in any instances as requested by the 
Town Manager on behalf of the Select Board. The members of the Land Use and Acquisition 
Committee shall be appointed for three (3) year overlapping terms as follows: Two (2) members 
shall be appointed by the Select Board, two (2) by the Planning Board, one (1) by the Conservation 
Commission, one (1) by the Agricultural Commission, and 
one (1) by the Open Space Committee. 

or take any other action relative thereto. 

SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 24. Approval of 
this article will expand the Land Use and Acquisition Committee’s role to include advisory 
capacity of conveyance and disposition of real property or in any instances as requested by the 
Town Manager on behalf of the Select Board, and to reduce the appointing authority for the 
Conservation Commission to one (1) member, and to add appointing authority to the Agricultural 
Commission for one (1) member to the Land Use and Acquisition Committee.  
 
ARTICLE 25: HERO Act – Cost of Living Increase  
To see if the Town will vote to accept the provisions of G.L. c. 59, §5, cl. 22I, as added by Chapter 
178 of the Acts of 2024, commonly referred to as the “HERO Act”, which will allow the Assessors 
to increase the real estate property tax exemptions for qualifying military service members, 
veterans and their spouses annually by an amount equal to the increase in the cost of living as 
determined by the Consumer Price Index for such year, which additional exemption will begin in 
Fiscal Year 2026; or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (11-0-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 25. Approval of 
this article will allow the Assessors to increase the real estate property tax exemptions for 
qualifying military service members, veterans and their spouses annually by an amount equal to 
the increase in the cost of living as determined by the Consumer Price Index for such year. 
 
ARTICLE 26: HERO Act – Exemption Amount Increase  
To see if the Town will vote to accept the provisions of G.L. c. 59, §5, cl. 22J, as added by Chapter 
178 of the Acts of 2024, commonly referred to as the “HERO Act”, to allow the Assessors to grant 
an additional real estate property tax exemption for qualifying military service members, veterans 
and their spouses in an amount equal to 50% of the amount of the exemption for which the taxpayer 
qualifies for, which additional exemption will begin in Fiscal Year 2026; or take any other action 
relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (11-0-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 26. Approval of 
this article will allow the Assessors to grant an additional real estate property tax exemption for 

13



qualifying military service members, veterans and their spouses in an amount equal to 50% of the 
amount of the exemption for which the taxpayer qualifies for. 
 
ARTICLE 27: Citizen’s Petition: Zoning Bylaw Amendment - Light Industrial to Mixed 
Commerce 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the Zoning Bylaw, Official Zoning Map of the Town of 
Plymouth, by changing the designation of Lots 11 B, 26A and 27 on Assessors' Map 102 
located off Commerce Way and Cherry Street from Light Industrial (LI) District to Mixed 
Commerce (MC) District, as well as to amend associated sections, provisions, definitions, 
table, charts, and procedures pertaining thereto, or take any other action relative thereto. 
By Petition: Bill Hallisey, et al 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 27. Approval of 
this article will amend the Zoning Bylaw, Official Zoning Map of the Town of 
Plymouth, by changing the designation of Lots 11 B, 26A and 27 on Assessors' Map 102 
located off Commerce Way and Cherry Street from Light Industrial (LI) District to Mixed 
Commerce (MC) District, as well as to amend associated sections, provisions, definitions, 
table, charts, and procedures pertaining thereto. 
 
ARTICLE 28: Citizen’s Petition: Bylaw Amendment - Public Comment 
Proposed Article to add a new By-law requirement to Town By-laws. 
Add paragraph 173-13: Each Precinct Caucus shall have provision in its Agenda for Public 
Comment. At the discretion of the Chair, Public Comment may be made at one time or interspersed 
with Presentations at the meeting. Public Comments cannot be censored. Public Comments are 
simply comments and not debatable. A minimum of two minutes should be allowed for each Public 
Comment speaker but may be allowed a longer period at the discretion of the Chair. The sequence 
of Public Comment speakers shall be (1) Precinct residences, (2) Plymouth Town Residences and 
(3) any other member of the Public. 
By Petition: Herbert G. McKay, et al 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval of Amended Bylaw Language (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 28 as amended. 
Approval of this article will Add paragraph 173-13 to the Town By-law: Each Precinct Caucus 
shall have provision in its Agenda for Public Comment. At the discretion of the Chair, Public 
Comment may be made at one time or interspersed with Presentations at the meeting. A minimum 
of two minutes should be allowed for each Public Comment speaker but may be allowed a longer 
period at the discretion of the Chair. 
 
ARTICLE 29: Citizen’s Petition: Home Rule Petition – Digital Legal Notices 
An Act allowing "print-free" digital legal notices for the Town of Plymouth. 
 
Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the General Court assembled, and by 
the authority of the same, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Purpose 

14



 
The purpose of this Act is to allow, but not require, the Town of Plymouth and its subdivisions to 
satisfy legal notice requirements entirely by digital publication as voted necessary by its Select 
Board and School Committee in light of the changing landscape of print newspaper businesses, 
particularly at the local level. 
 
Section 2. Means of Legal Notice Publication 
 
Notwithstanding G. L. c. 4, section 13 (b) or any other general or special law to the contrary, 
wherever the Town of Plymouth, Plymouth Public Schools, and/or their subdivisions, committees, 
boards, commissions, or offices are required by statute, ordinance, by-law or judicial order to 
publish a legal notice in a newspaper or newspaper of general circulation, the person, corporation, 
agency, authority, municipality, or legal entity may satisfy such requirement by one or more of the 
following means: 
 
A. a print newspaper of local or general circulation; 
B. the website of an on line news site reporting local news and opinion which satisfies all criteria 
for print or digital publication as set forth in G. L. c. 4, section 13(b); 
C. a townwide website that may be maintained as a repository for such notices; 
D. a statewide website that may be maintained as a repository for such notices. 
 
Section 3. Nothing set forth in this Act shall be construed to alter or amend the time or timing of 
publication of legal notices set forth in the General Laws. 
 
Section 4. This act shall take effect upon passage, subject to any editorial changes of form only 
that may be suggested by the General Court and any amendments that the Select Board determines 
to be within the scope of the general purpose objectives of this petition. 
By Petition: Richard M. Serkey, et al 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 29. Approval 
of this article will authorize the Select Board to petition the Massachusetts General Court for 
special legislative allowing digital legal notices for the Town of Plymouth as defined in the 2025 
Spring Annual Town Meeting Warrant and as on file with the town clerk.  

15



 

16



ROLL CALL 

VOTING CHARTS 

17



18



ADVISORY & FINANCE COMMITTEE - ROLL CALL VOTING CHART 

Ga
il B

ut
ler

 
Br

ian
 D

un
n

Da
nie

l G
re

en
Br

uc
e H

ow
ar

d
Jo

se
ph

 La
lle

y
Tim

ot
hy

 La
wlo

r
Ev

er
et

t M
ala

gu
ti

St
ev

e N
ea

rm
an

M
oll

y O
'Co

nn
or

Lo
re

nz
o P

iza
rro

Ch
ris

tin
e R

ich
ar

ds
M

ar
k S

ny
de

r
Em

ily
 To

m
pk

in
s

Da
vid

 Tr
ud

ell
 

VOTE TOTAL 
FOR-AGAINST-ABSTAIN

Y  - For                                               
N - Against                                        
A - Abstain  R - Recuse                    
X - Absent                                       
Ch - Chair did not vote                    
ARTICLES                              

1
Reports of Boards & 
Committees Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

2
Revolving Fund Spending 
Limits Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

3 Continuation of Committees Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

4
Salaries of Elected Town 
Officials Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

5 General Fund Budget:

By Subcommitte:                

A Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0
B Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0
C Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0
D Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0
E Y Y Y Y Y Y N Ch Y Y N Y Y Y 11-2-0
F: Medicaid Program & Out 
of District Transportation Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

F: School Budget Y Y Y Y Y Y N Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 12-1-0

6 Water Enterprise Budget Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

7 Sewer Enterprise Budget Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

8
Solid Waste Enterprise 
Budget Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

9 Airport Enterprise Budget Y Y Y N Y N Y Ch Y N Y Y Y Y 10-3-0

10
Cable Public Access 
Enterprise Budget Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

11
Facility Capital 
Stabilization Fund Y X Y Y Y Y X Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 11-0-0

12
Nuclear Mitigation 
Stabilization Fund N X N Y N N Y Ch N Y N N Y N 4-8-0

13 Capital Improvements Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

14 Chapter 90 Roads Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

19



Ga
il B

ut
ler

 
Br

ian
 D

un
n

Da
nie

l G
re

en
Br

uc
e H

ow
ar

d
Jo

se
ph

 La
lle

y
Tim

ot
hy

 La
wlo

r
Ev

er
et

t M
ala

gu
ti

St
ev

e N
ea

rm
an

M
oll

y O
'Co

nn
or

Lo
re

nz
o P

iza
rro

Ch
ris

tin
e R

ich
ar

ds
M

ar
k S

ny
de

r
Em

ily
 To

m
pk

in
s

Da
vid

 Tr
ud

ell
 

VOTE TOTAL 
FOR-AGAINST-ABSTAIN

Y  - For                                               
N - Against                                        
A - Abstain  R - Recuse                    
X - Absent                                       
Ch - Chair did not vote                    
ARTICLES                              

15 Town Promotion Fund Y X Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 12-0-0

16
Plymouth Area Coalition for 
the Homeless Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch X Y Y Y Y Y 12-0-0

17
CPC - Reduce Borrowing - 
Stephens Field Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch X Y Y Y Y Y 12-0-0

18 CPC - CPA FY26 Budget Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch X Y Y Y Y Y 12-0-0
19 WITHDRAWN Ch  

20
Eversource Easement - Nook 
Road Ch No Motion.         

No Action.

21
Proposed Bylaw - School 
Facilities Maint. Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

22
Charter Amendment - 
School Facilities Maint. Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y N Y Y 12-1-0

23
Charter Amendment - 
Charter Review Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

24
Charter Amendment - 
Land Use Acquisition Y Y Y Y X Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 12-0-0

25 HERO Act - COLA Increase A Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch X Y Y Y Y Y 11-0-1

26
HERO Act - Increase 
Exemption Amount A Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch X Y Y Y Y Y 11-0-1

27
Citizen's Petition - Zoning 
Amendment - Light Y Y Y Y Y Y N Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 12-1-0

28

Citizen's Petition - As 
Amended Bylaw 
Amendment - Public 
Comment

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

29
Citizen's Petition: Home 
Rule - Digital Legal Notices Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Ch Y Y Y Y Y Y 13-0-0

20



CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENTS 

COMMITTEE 

21



22



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD  
  ADVISORY & FINANCE COMMITTEE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS  
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT 
  DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 
 
SUBJECT: ATM ARTICLE 13 – CAPITAL REQUESTS &     
  RECOMMENDED PROJECTS 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 21, 2025  
 

 
The Capital Improvements Committee reviewed and ranked projects from all funds at their 
meeting of January 13, 2025. The attached spreadsheet includes the CIC ranking and the Town 
Managers’ recommendations with the appropriate funding sources of all the Department 
Requests. One of the lists is sorted by rank and the other list is sorted by ATM Article 13 and the 
STM. The department requests and backup can be accessed using the following link on the 
Town’s website:  
 
https://plymouth-ma.gov/1374/2025-SPRING-ANNUAL-TOWN-MEETING-FY26-SAT 
 
 
The following is being recommended as the funding sources for Article 13 of the Annual Town 
Meeting: 
  
Free Cash       $   12,746,886 
Borrowing       $     4,769,761 
General Fund Revenues     $     2,650,000 
Transportation Network Fee Fund    $          59,330 
Fire Prevention Revolving Fund    $        100,000 
Police Department Grant     $        202,467 
Sewer Retained Earnings     $        360,000        
Water Retained Earnings     $        850,000    
Grand Total – Article 13     $   21,738,444 
 
 
Thank you for your support of Annual Article 13 capital requests. There will be separate 
communication regarding the Special Town Meeting Articles. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
ACCOUNTING & FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 
 

23



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
an

ag
er

 R
ev

 - 
AT

M
 1

3 
&

 S
TM

Ar
tic

le
 #

 a
t 

AT
M

De
pa

rt
m

en
t

Fu
nd

De
pt

 
Pr

io
rit

y
Pr

oj
ec

t T
itl

e
CI

C 
Ra

nk
To

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 

Co
st

TM
 

Re
co

m
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

 S
ou

rc
e 

13
12

3 
- T

ow
n 

M
an

ag
er

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
17

49
 C

ou
rt

ho
us

e
24

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

13
15

5 
- I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Fi
be

r O
ve

r L
as

h 
Ph

as
e 

3
6

$2
50

,0
00

$2
50

,0
00

$2
50

,0
00

13
15

5 
- I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

St
ra

te
gi

c P
la

n 
Re

fre
sh

22
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
13

15
5 

- I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Do

cu
m

en
t D

ig
iti

za
tio

n 
Ph

as
e 

3
23

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ic

e
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Pr
op

er
ty

/E
vi

de
nc

e 
Cl

im
at

e 
Co

nt
ro

l
5

$6
7,

85
0

$6
7,

85
0

$6
7,

85
0

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ic

e
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

Fe
as

ib
ili

ty
 S

tu
dy

 fo
r P

ol
ice

 H
Q

8
$1

50
,0

00
$1

50
,0

00
$1

50
,0

00
13

21
0 

- P
ol

ic
e

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Ar

m
or

ed
 V

eh
icl

e 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t
35

$4
04

,9
34

$4
04

,9
34

$2
02

,4
67

$2
02

,4
67

 S
RH

SC
 G

ra
nt

 

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

06
 A

er
ia

l 
Pl

at
fo

rm
3

$2
,2

83
,4

67
$2

,2
83

,4
67

$2
,2

83
,4

67

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

07
 P

um
pi

ng
 

En
gi

ne
10

$1
,1

86
,2

94
$1

,1
86

,2
94

$1
,1

86
,2

94

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
Co

m
m

an
d 

Ve
hi

cle
s

32
$1

66
,2

38
$1

66
,2

38
$6

6,
23

8
$1

00
,0

00
 F

ire
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
Re

vo
lv

in
g 

13
29

5 
- H

ar
bo

rm
as

te
r

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
To

w
n 

W
ha

rf 
Ex

te
ns

io
n

16
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
13

29
5 

- H
ar

bo
rm

as
te

r
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

34
' C

al
vi

n 
Be

al
 - 

Re
fit

17
$1

20
,0

00
$1

20
,0

00
$1

20
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

4
PC

IS
 F

ire
 A

la
rm

 S
ys

te
m

 U
pg

ra
de

2
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

12
PN

HS
 M

ai
n 

En
tr

y 
Dr

ai
n 

In
st

al
l

9
$3

3,
65

3
$3

3,
65

3
$3

3,
65

3
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

10
Pu

rc
ha

se
 7

D 
Va

n
12

$8
8,

76
5

$8
8,

76
5

$8
8,

76
5

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
9

Pu
rc

ha
se

 S
ch

oo
l B

us
13

$1
47

,3
02

$1
47

,3
02

$1
47

,3
02

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
18

SE
S 

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f R
em

ai
ni

ng
 R

TU
s 

an
d 

Co
nt

ro
ls

18
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
7

PC
IS

 P
ar

ki
ng

 Lo
t P

av
e/

St
rip

e
19

$1
,1

96
,0

00
$1

,1
96

,0
00

$1
,1

96
,0

00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

M
ES

 R
ep

la
ce

 R
ub

be
r R

oo
f (

Ad
de

d 
Sc

op
e)

20
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Di

st
ric

t-W
id

e 
HV

AC
 R

ep
ai

rs
21

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
8

Di
st

ric
t-W

id
e 

Ro
of

in
g 

As
se

ss
m

en
ts

 
an

d 
Re

pa
irs

25
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
17

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ge
ne

ra
to

r 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t
27

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
15

SE
S 

Fi
na

l A
sp

ha
lt 

Co
at

 o
f S

id
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t

28
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

6
PN

HS
 S

oc
ce

r T
ur

f R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
30

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
14

W
ES

 B
al

l C
ou

rt
s /

 S
id

ew
al

k 
Re

pa
ve

 &
 

St
rip

e
36

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
16

NM
ES

 S
ta

irw
el

l R
en

ov
at

io
ns

40
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

5
PS

HS
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 G

ar
ag

e
42

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
13

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ex
te

rio
r R

ep
ai

rs
 &

 
Cu

po
la

43
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

11
FF

ES
 M

ul
ti-

Us
e 

Tr
ac

to
r

45
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1

13
41

1 
- D

PW
 E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Ro
ad

w
ay

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
gr

am
 &

 
Pr

es
er

va
tio

n
11

$5
,0

00
,0

00
$5

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,2

90
,6

70

$2
,7

09
,3

30

 R
ai

se
 &

 
Ap

pr
op

ria
te

 G
F 

Re
ve

nu
es

 &
 

TN
C 

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Re
pl

ac
e 

20
08

 F
55

0 
Bu

ck
et

 T
ru

ck
14

$2
67

,6
23

$2
67

,6
23

$2
67

,6
23

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Ne
w

 R
oa

ds
id

e 
M

ow
er

31
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21
13

42
0 

- D
PW

 H
ig

hw
ay

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

pl
ac

e 
F3

50
 U

til
ity

 B
od

y
46

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
e 

20
14

 Jo
hn

 D
ee

re
 S

ki
d 

St
ee

r
47

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

24



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
an

ag
er

 R
ev

 - 
AT

M
 1

3 
&

 S
TM

Ar
tic

le
 #

 a
t 

AT
M

De
pa

rt
m

en
t

Fu
nd

De
pt

 
Pr

io
rit

y
Pr

oj
ec

t T
itl

e
CI

C 
Ra

nk
To

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 

Co
st

TM
 

Re
co

m
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

 S
ou

rc
e 

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

FS
1 

HQ
 B

ric
k 

Re
po

in
tin

g
29

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

PD
 H

Q
 Lo

ck
er

 R
oo

m
 / 

Re
st

ro
om

 
Re

no
va

tio
n

41
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90

13
49

1 
- D

PW
 C

em
et

er
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
W

hi
te

 H
or

se
 C

em
et

er
y 

Ea
se

m
en

t 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n
39

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

co
ns

tr
uc

tin
g 

Te
nn

is 
Co

ur
ts

 - 
Br

ig
gs

 
&

 E
lm

er
 R

ay
m

on
d

15
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
13

49
2 

- D
PW

 P
ar

ks
 &

 F
or

es
tr

y
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Re
pl

ac
e 

Ut
ili

ty
 P

ick
up

 T
ru

ck
 #

23
38

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

13
54

1 
- C

en
te

r F
or

 A
ct

iv
e 

Li
vi

ng
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

M
ov

in
g 

W
al

l R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
37

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

13
63

0 
- R

ec
re

at
io

n
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Fo
rg

es
 F

ie
ld

 P
ick

le
ba

ll 
Co

ur
t 

Dr
ai

na
ge

/P
at

hw
ay

34
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
1

CM
O

M
 P

ro
gr

am
1

$1
,3

00
,0

00
$1

,3
00

,0
00

$1
,3

00
,0

00
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
2

Se
w

er
 S

ys
te

m
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
2

$2
00

,0
00

$2
00

,0
00

$2
00

,0
00

13
44

0 
- D

PW
 S

ew
er

Se
w

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

3
Tr

uc
k 

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t #

S5
5

3
$1

60
,0

00
$1

60
,0

00
$1

60
,0

00

13
45

0 
- D

PW
 W

at
er

W
at

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

1
Di

st
rib

ut
io

n 
Sy

st
em

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

1
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
13

45
0 

- D
PW

 W
at

er
W

at
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
2

W
at

er
 S

ys
te

m
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
2

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

13
 T

ot
al

$2
1,

73
8,

44
4

$2
1,

73
8,

44
4

$1
2,

74
6,

88
6

$4
,7

69
,7

61
$1

,2
10

,0
00

$3
,0

11
,7

97
ST

M
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Co
ld

 S
pr

in
g 

/ H
ES

 S
tu

dy
1

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Je
nn

ey
 P

on
d 

Da
m

 R
ep

ai
rs

/B
yp

as
s 

Ch
an

ne
l

4
$6

,7
38

,5
00

$6
,7

38
,5

00
$6

,7
38

,5
00

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

M
or

to
n 

Pa
rk

 C
ul

ve
rt

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
7

$5
,3

83
,5

00
$5

,3
83

,5
00

$5
,3

83
,5

00

 F
ed

er
al

 
Hi

gh
w

ay
 A

dm
in

 
$2

 m
ill

io
n 

po
te

nt
ia

l g
ra

nt
 

to
 re

du
ce

 
bo

rr
ow

in
g 

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f V
eh

icl
e

33
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

Af
fa

irs
 F

un
d 

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

En
gi

ne
er

in
g 

fo
r B

la
ck

 C
at

 B
og

 
Re

st
or

at
io

n
44

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
Af

fa
irs

 F
un

d 
ST

M
 T

ot
al

$1
4,

27
3,

04
8

$1
4,

27
3,

04
8

$0
$1

4,
12

2,
00

0
$0

$1
51

,0
48

Gr
an

d 
To

ta
l

$3
6,

01
1,

49
2

$3
6,

01
1,

49
2

$1
2,

74
6,

88
6

$1
8,

89
1,

76
1

$1
,2

10
,0

00
$3

,1
62

,8
45

25



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
ng

r R
ev

ie
w

 - 
by

 C
IC

 R
an

k

Ar
tic

le
 

# 
at

 
AT

M
De

pa
rt

m
en

t
Fu

nd
De

pt
 

Pr
io

rit
y

Pr
oj

ec
t T

itl
e

CI
C 

Ra
nk

To
ta

l P
ro

je
ct

 
Co

st
TM

 R
ec

om
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

So
ur

ce
ST

M
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Co
ld

 S
pr

in
g 

/ H
ES

 S
tu

dy
1

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

4
PC

IS
 F

ire
 A

la
rm

 S
ys

te
m

 U
pg

ra
de

2
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

06
 A

er
ia

l 
Pl

at
fo

rm
3

$2
,2

83
,4

67
$2

,2
83

,4
67

$2
,2

83
,4

67

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Je
nn

ey
 P

on
d 

Da
m

 R
ep

ai
rs

/B
yp

as
s 

Ch
an

ne
l

4
$6

,7
38

,5
00

$6
,7

38
,5

00
$6

,7
38

,5
00

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ice

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Pr

op
er

ty
/E

vi
de

nc
e 

Cl
im

at
e 

Co
nt

ro
l

5
$6

7,
85

0
$6

7,
85

0
$6

7,
85

0
13

15
5 

- I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Fi

be
r O

ve
r L

as
h 

Ph
as

e 
3

6
$2

50
,0

00
$2

50
,0

00
$2

50
,0

00

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

M
or

to
n 

Pa
rk

 C
ul

ve
rt

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
7

$5
,3

83
,5

00
$5

,3
83

,5
00

$5
,3

83
,5

00

 F
ed

er
al

 
Hi

gh
w

ay
 A

dm
in

 
$2

 m
ill

io
n 

po
te

nt
ia

l g
ra

nt
 

to
 re

du
ce

 
bo

rr
ow

in
g 

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ice

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Fe

as
ib

ili
ty

 S
tu

dy
 fo

r P
ol

ice
 H

Q
8

$1
50

,0
00

$1
50

,0
00

$1
50

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
12

PN
HS

 M
ai

n 
En

tr
y 

Dr
ai

n 
In

st
al

l
9

$3
3,

65
3

$3
3,

65
3

$3
3,

65
3

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

07
 P

um
pi

ng
 

En
gi

ne
10

$1
,1

86
,2

94
$1

,1
86

,2
94

$1
,1

86
,2

94

$2
,6

50
,0

00

 R
ai

se
 &

 
Ap

pr
op

ria
te

 G
F 

Re
ve

nu
es

 

$5
9,

33
0

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

Ne
tw

or
k 

Fe
e 

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
10

Pu
rc

ha
se

 7
D 

Va
n

12
$8

8,
76

5
$8

8,
76

5
$8

8,
76

5
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

9
Pu

rc
ha

se
 S

ch
oo

l B
us

13
$1

47
,3

02
$1

47
,3

02
$1

47
,3

02
13

42
0 

- D
PW

 H
ig

hw
ay

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Re

pl
ac

e 
20

08
 F

55
0 

Bu
ck

et
 T

ru
ck

14
$2

67
,6

23
$2

67
,6

23
$2

67
,6

23

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

co
ns

tr
uc

tin
g 

Te
nn

is 
Co

ur
ts

 - 
Br

ig
gs

 
&

 E
lm

er
 R

ay
m

on
d

15
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
13

29
5 

- H
ar

bo
rm

as
te

r
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

To
w

n 
W

ha
rf 

Ex
te

ns
io

n
16

$7
50

,0
00

$7
50

,0
00

$7
50

,0
00

13
29

5 
- H

ar
bo

rm
as

te
r

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
34

' C
al

vi
n 

Be
al

 - 
Re

fit
17

$1
20

,0
00

$1
20

,0
00

$1
20

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
18

SE
S 

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f R
em

ai
ni

ng
 R

TU
s 

an
d 

Co
nt

ro
ls

18
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
7

PC
IS

 P
ar

ki
ng

 Lo
t P

av
e/

St
rip

e
19

$1
,1

96
,0

00
$1

,1
96

,0
00

$1
,1

96
,0

00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

M
ES

 R
ep

la
ce

 R
ub

be
r R

oo
f (

Ad
de

d 
Sc

op
e)

20
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Di

st
ric

t-W
id

e 
HV

AC
 R

ep
ai

rs
21

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

13
15

5 
- I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

St
ra

te
gi

c P
la

n 
Re

fre
sh

22
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
13

15
5 

- I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Do

cu
m

en
t D

ig
iti

za
tio

n 
Ph

as
e 

3
23

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

13
12

3 
- T

ow
n 

M
an

ag
er

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
17

49
 C

ou
rt

ho
us

e
24

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
8

Di
st

ric
t-W

id
e 

Ro
of

in
g 

As
se

ss
m

en
ts

 
an

d 
Re

pa
irs

25
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Tr

ai
ni

ng
 G

re
en

 A
DA

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 &
 

Up
gr

ad
es

26
$7

44
,0

00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
17

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ge
ne

ra
to

r 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t
27

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
15

SE
S 

Fi
na

l A
sp

ha
lt 

Co
at

 o
f S

id
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t

28
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

FS
1 

HQ
 B

ric
k 

Re
po

in
tin

g
29

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

Pr
oj

ec
t R

ec
om

m
en

de
d 

fo
r C

PC
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
th

is 
sp

rin
g 

fo
r t

he
 fa

ll 
to

w
n 

m
ee

tin
g 

bu
t r

an
ke

d 
at

 th
is 

tim
e.

13
41

1 
- D

PW
 E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Ro
ad

w
ay

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
gr

am
 &

 
Pr

es
er

va
tio

n
11

$5
,0

00
,0

00
$5

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,2

90
,6

70

26



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
ng

r R
ev

ie
w

 - 
by

 C
IC

 R
an

k

Ar
tic

le
 

# 
at

 
AT

M
De

pa
rt

m
en

t
Fu

nd
De

pt
 

Pr
io

rit
y

Pr
oj

ec
t T

itl
e

CI
C 

Ra
nk

To
ta

l P
ro

je
ct

 
Co

st
TM

 R
ec

om
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

So
ur

ce
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

6
PN

HS
 S

oc
ce

r T
ur

f R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
30

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Ne
w

 R
oa

ds
id

e 
M

ow
er

31
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
Co

m
m

an
d 

Ve
hi

cle
s

32
$1

66
,2

38
$1

66
,2

38
$6

6,
23

8
$1

00
,0

00
 F

ire
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
Re

vo
lv

in
g 

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f V
eh

icl
e

33
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

Af
fa

irs
 F

un
d 

13
63

0 
- R

ec
re

at
io

n
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Fo
rg

es
 F

ie
ld

 P
ick

le
ba

ll 
Co

ur
t 

Dr
ai

na
ge

/P
at

hw
ay

34
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
13

21
0 

- P
ol

ic
e

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Ar

m
or

ed
 V

eh
icl

e 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t
35

$4
04

,9
34

$4
04

,9
34

$2
02

,4
67

$2
02

,4
67

SR
HS

C 
Gr

an
t

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
14

W
ES

 B
al

l C
ou

rt
s /

 S
id

ew
al

k 
Re

pa
ve

 &
 

St
rip

e
36

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

13
54

1 
- C

en
te

r F
or

 A
ct

iv
e 

Li
vi

ng
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

M
ov

in
g 

W
al

l R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
37

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Re

pl
ac

e 
Ut

ili
ty

 P
ick

up
 T

ru
ck

 #
23

38
$1

12
,8

30
$1

12
,8

30
$1

12
,8

30

13
49

1 
- D

PW
 C

em
et

er
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
W

hi
te

 H
or

se
 C

em
et

er
y 

Ea
se

m
en

t 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n
39

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
16

NM
ES

 S
ta

irw
el

l R
en

ov
at

io
ns

40
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

PD
 H

Q
 Lo

ck
er

 R
oo

m
 / 

Re
st

ro
om

 
Re

no
va

tio
n

41
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

5
PS

HS
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 G

ar
ag

e
42

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
13

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ex
te

rio
r R

ep
ai

rs
 &

 
Cu

po
la

43
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

En
gi

ne
er

in
g 

fo
r B

la
ck

 C
at

 B
og

 
Re

st
or

at
io

n
44

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
Af

fa
irs

 F
un

d 
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

11
FF

ES
 M

ul
ti-

Us
e 

Tr
ac

to
r

45
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1
13

42
0 

- D
PW

 H
ig

hw
ay

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

pl
ac

e 
F3

50
 U

til
ity

 B
od

y
46

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
e 

20
14

 Jo
hn

 D
ee

re
 S

ki
d 

St
ee

r
47

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d 

To
ta

l
$3

4,
24

5,
49

2
$3

3,
50

1,
49

2
$1

2,
74

6,
88

6
$1

7,
59

1,
76

1
$0

$3
,1

62
,8

45
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
1

CM
OM

 P
ro

gr
am

1
$1

,3
00

,0
00

$1
,3

00
,0

00
$1

,3
00

,0
00

13
44

0 
- D

PW
 S

ew
er

Se
w

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

2
Se

w
er

 S
ys

te
m

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

2
$2

00
,0

00
$2

00
,0

00
$2

00
,0

00
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
3

Tr
uc

k 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t #
S5

5
3

$1
60

,0
00

$1
60

,0
00

$1
60

,0
00

Se
w

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

 T
ot

al
$1

,6
60

,0
00

$1
,6

60
,0

00
$0

$1
,3

00
,0

00
$3

60
,0

00
$0

13
45

0 
- D

PW
 W

at
er

W
at

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

1
Di

st
rib

ut
io

n 
Sy

st
em

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

1
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
13

45
0 

- D
PW

 W
at

er
W

at
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
2

W
at

er
 S

ys
te

m
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
2

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

W
at

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

 T
ot

al
$8

50
,0

00
$8

50
,0

00
$0

$0
$8

50
,0

00
$0

Gr
an

d 
To

ta
l

$3
6,

75
5,

49
2

$3
6,

01
1,

49
2

$1
2,

74
6,

88
6

$1
8,

89
1,

76
1

$1
,2

10
,0

00
$3

,1
62

,8
45

27



28



BURKE’S 

LAW 

 

29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



ARTICLE 

SUPPORTING 

DOCUMENTATION 

43



44



ARTICLE 1: 
 
 
ARTICLE 1: Reports of Boards, Officers and Committees. 
To hear the reports of the several Boards and Officers and Committees of the Town thereon, or 
take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 1. Approval of 
this article will allow boards and committees to place their reports on file with the Town Clerk. 
Most Board and Committee reports can be found in the Annual Town Report. 
 

45



46



ARTICLE 2: 
 
 
ARTICLE 2: Revolving Fund Spending Limits 
To see if the Town will vote pursuant to G.L. c. 44, §53E 1/2 to establish the fiscal year 2026 
spending limits for each revolving fund established by Chapter 143 of the General By-laws, 
Departmental Revolving Funds, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 2. Approval of 
this article will set the FY2026 spending caps for each of the revolving funds listed herein 
pursuant to G.L. c. 44, §53E ½. 
 

47



48



Town of Plymouth 
Finance Department 

TO: Select Board, Advisory & Finance Committee 
FROM: Lynne A. Barrett, Director of Finance 
RE: ATM Article 2 – FY2026 Revolving Fund Spending Caps 
DATE: January 6, 2025   

In accordance with the Massachusetts Municipal Modernization Act changes to MGL Chapter 
44: Section 53E ½ Revolving Funds, Plymouth’s revolving funds are established by bylaw.  The 
statute further states that the town “shall, on or before July 1 of each year, vote on the limit on 
the total amount that may be expended from each revolving fund established under this 
section.” We are proposing the following FY2026 Revolving Fund Spending Caps:  

Revolving Fund 
FY 2026 

Spending Cap 
Manomet Village Parking $ 1 
Cedarville Village Parking   $ 1 
West Plymouth Village Parking   $ 1 
No. Plymouth Village Parking $ 1 
Plymouth Center Village Parking  $ 1 
Animal Shelter Adoption $ 5,000 
State Boat Ramp $ 97,894 
Recreation Fund $ 808,158 
Vocational Technical Services Fund $ 450,000 
Plymouth Beach Fund $ 592,018 
Cemetery Repair & Beautification Fund $ 20,000 
Council on Aging Programs Fund $ 120,000 
CAL Café Nutrition and Council On Aging Meals on Wheels Donation Fund  $ 100,000 
Library Lost Materials $ 15,000 
Fire Safety and Prevention $ 150,000  
Fire Alarm Master Box Services $ 95,000 
Local Hazardous Materials Program $ 60,000 
Cedarville Community Center $ 12,000  
Memorial Hall $ 331,290  
Compost Bins $ 5,160  
Hedges Pond $ 63,000 
CPA Conservation Land $ 0  
1820 Court House Maintenance $ 1  
Shellfish Upweller $ 10,000 
Plymouth County Outreach (PCO) $ 40,000  
Little Red Schoolhouse $ 30,000  
EV Charging $ 100,000 

49



Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
 

Fe
es

, C
ha

rg
es

 o
r o

th
er

 R
ec

ei
pt

s 
Cr

ed
ite

d 
to

 F
un

d 
Pr

og
ra

m
 o

r A
ct

iv
ity

 E
xp

en
se

s P
ay

ab
le

 fr
om

 F
un

d 
Fi

sc
al

 Y
ea

rs
 

FY
20

25
 

Sp
en

di
ng

 C
ap

 

FY
20

26
 

Re
qu

es
te

d 
Sp

en
di

ng
 C

ap
 

M
an

om
et

 V
ill

ag
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

 
Di

re
ct

or
 o

f P
la

nn
in

g 
&

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  
   

   
   

 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 
m

ad
e 

in
 li

eu
 o

f o
n-

sit
e 

pa
rk

in
g.

 

As
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 S

ec
tio

n 
20

3.
7 

of
 th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 B
yl

aw
, 

th
es

e 
fiv

e 
fu

nd
s m

ay
 b

e 
us

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
ei

r 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

vi
lla

ge
 c

en
te

rs
 fo

r p
ar

ki
ng

 re
la

te
d 

us
es

 
in

clu
di

ng
 la

nd
 a

cq
ui

sit
io

n,
 fa

cil
ity

 co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n,

 a
nd

 
th

e 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
of

 p
la

ns
 a

nd
 sp

ec
ifi

ca
tio

ns
. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
 $

1 
$1

 

Ce
da

rv
ill

e 
Vi

lla
ge

 
Pa

rk
in

g 
 

Di
re

ct
or

 o
f P

la
nn

in
g 

&
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t  

   
   

   
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 
m

ad
e 

in
 li

eu
 o

f o
n-

sit
e 

pa
rk

in
g.

 

As
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 S

ec
tio

n 
20

3.
7 

of
 th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 B
yl

aw
, 

th
es

e 
fiv

e 
fu

nd
s m

ay
 b

e 
us

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
ei

r 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

vi
lla

ge
 c

en
te

rs
 fo

r p
ar

ki
ng

 re
la

te
d 

us
es

 
in

clu
di

ng
 la

nd
 a

cq
ui

sit
io

n,
 fa

cil
ity

 co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n,

 a
nd

 
th

e 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
of

 p
la

ns
 a

nd
 sp

ec
ifi

ca
tio

ns
. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
 $

1 
$1

 

W
es

t P
ly

m
ou

th
 

Vi
lla

ge
 P

ar
ki

ng
 

Di
re

ct
or

 o
f P

la
nn

in
g 

&
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t  

   
   

   
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 
m

ad
e 

in
 li

eu
 o

f o
n-

sit
e 

pa
rk

in
g.

 

As
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 S

ec
tio

n 
20

3.
7 

of
 th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 B
yl

aw
, 

th
es

e 
fiv

e 
fu

nd
s m

ay
 b

e 
us

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
ei

r 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

vi
lla

ge
 c

en
te

rs
 fo

r p
ar

ki
ng

 re
la

te
d 

us
es

 
in

clu
di

ng
 la

nd
 a

cq
ui

sit
io

n,
 fa

cil
ity

 co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n,

 a
nd

 
th

e 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
of

 p
la

ns
 a

nd
 sp

ec
ifi

ca
tio

ns
. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$1

 
$1

 

N
o.

 P
ly

m
ou

th
 

Vi
lla

ge
 P

ar
ki

ng
 

Di
re

ct
or

 o
f P

la
nn

in
g 

&
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t   

   
   

   
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 
m

ad
e 

in
 li

eu
 o

f o
n-

sit
e 

pa
rk

in
g.

 

As
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 S

ec
tio

n 
20

3.
7 

of
 th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 B
yl

aw
, 

th
es

e 
fiv

e 
fu

nd
s m

ay
 b

e 
us

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
ei

r 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

vi
lla

ge
 c

en
te

rs
 fo

r p
ar

ki
ng

 re
la

te
d 

us
es

 
in

clu
di

ng
 la

nd
 a

cq
ui

sit
io

n,
 fa

cil
ity

 co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n,

 a
nd

 
th

e 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
of

 p
la

ns
 a

nd
 sp

ec
ifi

ca
tio

ns
. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$1

 
$1

 

Pl
ym

ou
th

 C
en

te
r 

Vi
lla

ge
 P

ar
ki

ng
   

   
  

Di
re

ct
or

 o
f P

la
nn

in
g 

&
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t   

   
   

   
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 
m

ad
e 

in
 li

eu
 o

f o
n-

sit
e 

pa
rk

in
g.

 

As
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 S

ec
tio

n 
20

3.
7 

of
 th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 B
yl

aw
, 

th
es

e 
fiv

e 
fu

nd
s m

ay
 b

e 
us

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
ei

r 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

vi
lla

ge
 c

en
te

rs
 fo

r p
ar

ki
ng

 re
la

te
d 

us
es

 
in

clu
di

ng
 la

nd
 a

cq
ui

sit
io

n,
 fa

cil
ity

 co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n,

 a
nd

 
th

e 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
of

 p
la

ns
 a

nd
 sp

ec
ifi

ca
tio

ns
. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$1

 
$1

 

An
im

al
 S

he
lte

r 
Ad

op
tio

n 
 

Di
re

ct
or

 o
f M

ar
in

e 
&

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
Af

fa
irs

 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 th

os
e 

ar
isi

ng
 fr

om
 d

ep
os

its
/s

pa
yi

ng
 

&
 n

eu
te

rin
g.

 

In
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 G

.L
 c.

14
0 

§1
39

A,
 a

ll 
an

im
al

s 
pl

ac
ed

 fo
r a

do
pt

io
n 

m
us

t b
e 

sp
ay

ed
 o

r n
eu

te
re

d.
 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 p
ro

vi
de

s f
or

 o
th

er
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
s a

s 
au

th
or

ize
d 

by
 §

13
9A

 a
s w

el
l a

s a
 re

fu
nd

 o
f a

 $
30

 
de

po
sit

, w
he

n 
pr

oo
f o

f s
pa

yi
ng

 o
r n

eu
te

rin
g 

pr
oc

ed
ur

e 
is 

pr
ov

id
ed

. T
o 

be
 u

se
d 

fo
r t

he
 ca

re
, 

he
al

th
 &

 w
el

fa
re

 o
f t

he
 a

ni
m

al
s, 

eq
ui

pm
en

t, 
su

pp
lie

s &
 ca

pi
ta

l e
xp

en
di

tu
re

s. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$5

,0
00

 
 $

5,
00

0 

St
at

e 
Bo

at
 R

am
p 

 
Ha

rb
or

 M
as

te
r 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
St

at
e 

Bo
at

 R
am

p 
pa

rk
in

g 
st

ick
er

 re
ce

ip
ts

. 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

us
ed

 sa
la

rie
s a

nd
 b

en
ef

its
 o

f f
ul

l-
tim

e 
st

af
f a

nd
 p

ar
t-t

im
e 

st
af

f a
nd

 o
th

er
 e

xp
en

se
s f

or
 

th
e 

pu
rp

os
es

 o
f m

an
ag

in
g,

 co
nt

ro
llin

g a
nd

 p
ro

vid
in

g a
 

hi
gh

er
 le

ve
l o

f p
ub

lic
 sa

fe
ty

 a
t t

he
 b

oa
t r

am
p.

 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
 $

95
,8

48
 

$9
7,

89
4 

50



Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
 

Fe
es

, C
ha

rg
es

 o
r o

th
er

 R
ec

ei
pt

s 
Cr

ed
ite

d 
to

 F
un

d 
Pr

og
ra

m
 o

r A
ct

iv
ity

 E
xp

en
se

s P
ay

ab
le

 fr
om

 F
un

d 
Fi

sc
al

 Y
ea

rs
 

FY
20

25
 

Sp
en

di
ng

 C
ap

 

FY
20

26
 

Re
qu

es
te

d 
Sp

en
di

ng
 C

ap
 

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
Fu

nd
 

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
Di

re
ct

or
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
re

cr
ea

tio
na

l p
ro

gr
am

s.
 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

us
ed

 fo
r s

al
ar

ie
s a

nd
 b

en
ef

its
 o

f 
fu

ll-
tim

e 
st

af
f, 

pa
rt

-ti
m

e 
an

d 
se

as
on

al
 st

af
f, 

 
as

 w
el

l a
s f

ac
ili

ty
 a

nd
 ca

pi
ta

l e
xp

en
se

s a
nd

 o
th

er
 

ex
pe

ns
es

 re
la

te
d 

to
 re

cr
ea

tio
n 

pr
og

ra
m

s. 
  

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
 $

75
5,

72
4 

  $
80

8,
15

8 
 

Vo
ca

tio
na

l 
Te

ch
ni

ca
l 

Se
rv

ic
es

 F
un

d 
Sc

ho
ol

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 a

ris
in

g 
fro

m
 

th
e 

Vo
ca

tio
na

l/E
du

ca
tio

na
l 

St
ud

ie
s P

ro
gr

am
s e

nu
m

er
at

ed
 

ab
ov

e 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

fo
r t

he
 sa

la
rie

s, 
be

ne
fit

s &
  

ex
pe

nd
itu

re
s o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
s:

 
a)

 A
ut

om
ot

iv
e 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 i)

 D
es

ig
n 

&
 V

isu
al

  
b)

 C
AD

/C
AM

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Co
m

m
un

ica
tio

n 
   

   
   

   
 

c)
 C

ar
pe

nt
ry

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
j) 

El
ec

tr
on

ics
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
d)

 C
hi

ld
 C

ar
e 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

k)
 G

ra
ph

ic 
Ar

ts
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

e)
 C

om
pu

te
r S

ci
en

ce
   

   
   

   
l) 

M
et

al
s/

W
el

di
ng

   
   

   
   

  
f) 

M
ar

in
e 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
   

   
   

m
) P

lu
m

bi
ng

 
g)

 C
ul

in
ar

y 
Ar

ts
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

n)
 C

os
m

et
ol

og
y 

   
   

   
   

   
   

h)
 D

ist
rib

ut
iv

e 
Ed

uc
at

io
n 

   
o)

 E
le

ct
ric

al
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

35
0,

00
0 

  $
45

0,
00

0 

Pl
ym

ou
th

 B
ea

ch
 

Fu
nd

 
Di

re
ct

or
 o

f M
ar

in
e 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

Af
fa

irs
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 se

ve
nt

y-
fiv

e 
pe

rc
en

t (
75

%
) o

f n
on

-r
es

id
en

t 
pa

rk
in

g 
re

ce
ip

ts
 a

t P
ly

m
ou

th
 

Be
ac

h,
 in

 a
dd

iti
on

 to
 o

ne
 

hu
nd

re
d 

pe
rc

en
t (

10
0%

) o
f 

Pl
ym

ou
th

 Lo
ng

 B
ea

ch
 4

x4
 

st
ick

er
 fe

es
. 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

us
ed

 fo
r s

al
ar

ie
s a

nd
 b

en
ef

its
 o

f 
fu

ll-
tim

e 
st

af
f, 

pa
rt

-ti
m

e 
sa

la
rie

s o
f s

ea
so

na
l N

RO
’s,

 
po

lic
e 

de
ta

ils
, a

nd
 fo

r c
ap

ita
l e

xp
en

se
s a

nd
 o

th
er

 
ex

pe
ns

es
 in

cu
rr

ed
 fo

r t
he

 p
ur

po
se

s  
of

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 a

nd
 p

ub
lic

 sa
fe

ty
 o

f 
Pl

ym
ou

th
 Lo

ng
 B

ea
ch

 a
nd

 re
pa

irs
 to

 th
e 

se
aw

al
l. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

57
6,

48
1 

 $
59

2,
01

8 

Ce
m

et
er

y 
Re

pa
ir 

&
 B

ea
ut

ifi
ca

tio
n 

Fu
nd

 
Ce

m
et

er
y 

Su
pe

rin
te

nd
en

t 

Th
os

e 
ar

isi
ng

 fr
om

 fo
un

da
tio

n 
re

ve
nu

e.
 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

us
ed

 fo
r c

ap
ita

l e
xp

en
se

s a
nd

 o
th

er
 

ex
pe

ns
es

 in
cu

rre
d 

fo
r b

ea
ut

ify
in

g,
 re

st
or

in
g,

 
re

se
ar

ch
in

g,
 a

nd
 re

pa
iri

ng
 to

w
n 

ce
m

et
er

ie
s. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

20
,0

00
 

$2
0,

00
0 

Co
un

ci
l o

n 
Ag

in
g 

Pr
og

ra
m

s F
un

d 
Di

re
ct

or
 o

f E
ld

er
 

Af
fa

irs
 - 

CO
A 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
Co

un
cil

 o
n 

Ag
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
s. 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

fo
r c

on
tr

ac
tu

al
 se

rv
ice

s a
nd

 
ot

he
r e

xp
en

se
s r

el
at

ed
 to

 p
ro

gr
am

s f
or

 se
ni

or
 

cit
ize

ns
. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
 $

10
0,

00
0 

$1
20

,0
00

 

CA
L C

af
é 

N
ut

rit
io

n 
an

d 
Co

un
ci

l o
n 

Ag
in

g 
 

M
ea

ls 
on

 W
he

el
s 

Do
na

tio
n 

Fu
nd

  
Di

re
ct

or
 o

f E
ld

er
 

Af
fa

irs
 - 

CO
A  

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
th

e 
CA

L C
af

é 
Nu

tr
iti

on
al

 
Pr

og
ra

m
 a

nd
 d

on
at

io
ns

 fo
r t

he
 

Co
un

cil
 o

n 
Ag

in
g 

M
ea

ls 
on

 
W

he
el

s p
ro

gr
am

. 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

fo
r C

AL
 C

af
é 

re
ve

nu
e 

so
ur

ce
s, 

ex
pe

ns
es

, s
up

pl
ie

s, 
sa

la
rie

s, 
an

d 
st

af
fin

g,
 a

s w
el

l a
s 

do
na

tio
n 

pa
ym

en
ts

 to
 O

ld
 C

ol
on

y 
El

de
r S

er
vi

ce
s f

or
 

m
ea

ls.
  

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$3

0,
00

0 
 

 
$1

00
,0

00
 

 

51



Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
 

Fe
es

, C
ha

rg
es

 o
r o

th
er

 R
ec

ei
pt

s 
Cr

ed
ite

d 
to

 F
un

d 
Pr

og
ra

m
 o

r A
ct

iv
ity

 E
xp

en
se

s P
ay

ab
le

 fr
om

 F
un

d 
Fi

sc
al

 Y
ea

rs
 

FY
20

25
 

Sp
en

di
ng

 C
ap

 

FY
20

26
 

Re
qu

es
te

d 
Sp

en
di

ng
 C

ap
 

Lo
st

 M
at

er
ia

ls 
Li

br
ar

y 
Di

re
ct

or
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
an

y 
fe

es
 co

lle
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Pl

ym
ou

th
 P

ub
lic

 Li
br

ar
y 

fo
r 

re
pl

ac
em

en
t c

os
ts

 o
f l

os
t o

r 
da

m
ag

ed
 m

at
er

ia
ls.

 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

us
ed

 fo
r t

he
 p

ay
m

en
t o

f 
m

at
er

ia
ls 

pe
r t

he
 Li

br
ar

y’
s C

ol
le

ct
io

n 
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
Po

lic
y.

 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$1

5,
00

0 
 

$1
5,

00
0 

 

Fi
re

 S
af

et
y 

an
d 

Pr
ev

en
tio

n 
Fi

re
 C

hi
ef

 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
pe

rm
its

 is
su

ed
 a

nd
 in

sp
ec

tio
ns

 
pe

rfo
rm

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Pl

ym
ou

th
 

Fi
re

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t, 

Fi
re

 
Pr

ev
en

tio
n 

Di
vi

sio
n.

 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

fo
r s

al
ar

ie
s a

nd
 b

en
ef

its
 a

nd
 to

 
su

pp
or

t t
he

 o
pe

ra
tio

na
l c

os
t o

f s
er

vi
ce

s p
ro

vi
de

d 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

Fi
re

 P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

Di
vi

sio
n 

in
clu

di
ng

 ca
pi

ta
l 

ex
pe

ns
es

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 e

xp
en

se
s. 

  

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

15
0,

00
0 

$1
50

,0
00

 

Fi
re

 A
la

rm
 

M
as

te
r B

ox
 

Se
rv

ic
es

 
Fi

re
 C

hi
ef

 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
fir

e 
al

ar
m

 se
rv

ice
s p

er
fo

rm
ed

 
by

 th
e 

Pl
ym

ou
th

 F
ire

 
De

pa
rt

m
en

t, 
Fi

re
 A

la
rm

 
Di

vi
sio

n.
 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

fo
r s

al
ar

ie
s, 

be
ne

fit
s, 

pu
bl

ic 
sa

fe
ty

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t, 

m
at

er
ia

ls,
 a

s w
el

l a
s c

ap
ita

l 
ex

pe
ns

es
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 e
xp

en
se

s u
se

d 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 F
ire

 A
la

rm
 S

er
vi

ce
s.

 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

95
,0

00
 

$9
5,

00
0 

Lo
ca

l H
az

ar
do

us
  

M
at

er
ia

ls 
Pr

og
ra

m
 

Fi
re

 C
hi

ef
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
fe

es
 co

lle
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Fi

re
 

De
pa

rt
m

en
t a

s a
 re

su
lt 

of
 

re
sp

on
di

ng
 a

nd
 m

iti
ga

tin
g 

ha
za

rd
ou

s m
at

er
ia

ls 
in

cid
en

ts
 

ei
th

er
 in

 P
ly

m
ou

th
 o

r b
y 

m
ut

ua
l a

id
 re

sp
on

se
s. 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

to
 re

pl
ac

e,
 re

pa
ir 

an
d/

or
 

pu
rc

ha
se

 e
qu

ip
m

en
t a

nd
 su

pp
lie

s u
se

d 
du

rin
g 

ha
za

rd
ou

s m
at

er
ia

ls 
in

cid
en

ts
 a

nd
 to

 su
pp

or
t t

he
 

op
er

at
io

na
l c

os
t o

f s
er

vi
ce

s p
ro

vi
de

d 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

Fi
re

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t L

oc
al

 H
az

ar
do

us
 M

at
er

ia
ls 

Pr
og

ra
m

.  

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

60
,0

00
 

$6
0,

00
0 

Ce
da

rv
ill

e 
Co

m
m

un
ity

 
Ce

nt
er

  
Fi

re
 C

hi
ef

 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 fe

es
 

co
lle

ct
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

ho
ur

ly
 

re
nt

al
 fe

es
 fo

r t
he

 u
se

 o
f t

he
 

Ce
da

rv
ill

e 
Co

m
m

un
ity

 C
en

te
r. 

Th
e 

fu
nd

s w
ill

 b
e 

us
ed

 to
 p

ay
 fo

r r
eg

ul
ar

 cl
ea

ni
ng

 
of

 th
e 

fa
cil

ity
 a

s w
el

l a
s t

o 
re

pl
ac

e,
 re

pa
ir,

 o
r 

pu
rc

ha
se

 su
pp

lie
s u

se
d 

fo
r t

he
 cl

ea
ni

ng
 a

nd
 u

p-
ke

ep
 o

f t
he

 C
om

m
un

ity
 R

oo
m

.  
 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

12
,0

00
 

$1
2,

00
0 

M
em

or
ia

l H
al

l 
Di

re
ct

or
 o

f 
Co

m
m

un
ity

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
re

nt
al

 fe
es

 a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 
M

em
or

ia
l H

al
l 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

fo
r s

al
ar

ie
s a

nd
 b

en
ef

its
 o

f f
ul

l-
tim

e 
st

af
f a

nd
 p

ar
t-t

im
e 

st
af

f, 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 a

nd
 

op
er

at
io

n 
of

 M
em

or
ia

l H
al

l i
nc

lu
di

ng
 ca

pi
ta

l 
ex

pe
ns

es
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 e
xp

en
se

s. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
 $

27
3,

38
8 

$3
31

,2
90

 

Co
m

po
st

 B
in

s 
As

sis
ta

nt
 D

PW
 

Di
re

ct
or

 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 re

la
tin

g 
to

 
th

e 
sa

le
 o

f c
om

po
st

 b
in

s. 
Th

is 
fu

nd
 sh

al
l b

e 
fo

r p
ur

ch
as

in
g 

co
m

po
st

 b
in

s. 
Fi

sc
al

 Y
ea

r 2
02

6 
an

d 
su

bs
eq

ue
nt

 y
ea

rs
 

  $
0 

$5
,1

60
 

He
dg

es
 P

on
d 

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
Di

re
ct

or
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 p

ro
gr

am
 

fe
es

 fr
om

 R
ec

re
at

io
n 

De
pt

. D
ay

 
Pr

og
ra

m
, d

ai
ly

-p
ar

ki
ng

 fe
es

, 
sp

ec
ia

l e
ve

nt
 &

 re
nt

al
 fe

es
.  

 

Th
e 

fu
nd

s w
ill

 b
e 

us
ed

 to
 co

ve
r R

ec
re

at
io

n 
De

pt
. 

se
as

on
al

 sa
la

rie
s a

nd
 o

pe
ra

tio
na

l e
xp

en
se

s f
or

 th
e 

fa
cil

ity
 a

s w
el

l a
s c

ap
ita

l e
xp

en
se

s. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
 $

11
3,

00
0 

  $
63

,0
00

 

52



  

Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
 

Fe
es

, C
ha

rg
es

 o
r o

th
er

 R
ec

ei
pt

s 
Cr

ed
ite

d 
to

 F
un

d 
Pr

og
ra

m
 o

r A
ct

iv
ity

 E
xp

en
se

s P
ay

ab
le

 fr
om

 F
un

d 
Fi

sc
al

 Y
ea

rs
 

FY
20

25
 

Sp
en

di
ng

 C
ap

 

FY
20

26
 

Re
qu

es
te

d 
Sp

en
di

ng
 C

ap
 

CP
A 

Co
ns

er
va

tio
n 

La
nd

  
Di

re
ct

or
 o

f M
ar

in
e 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

Af
fa

irs
 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 fe

es
 fr

om
 

th
e 

ha
rv

es
t a

nd
/o

r l
ea

se
 o

f t
he

 
Ce

nt
er

 H
ill

 C
ra

nb
er

ry
 B

og
.  

Th
e 

fu
nd

s w
ill

 b
e 

us
ed

 to
 fo

r t
he

 ca
re

, 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
, a

nd
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

 si
gn

ag
e 

an
d 

ot
he

r 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t o
f t

he
 la

nd
 a

cq
ui

re
d 

w
ith

 C
PA

 fu
nd

s. 
 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

0 
 $

0 

18
20

 C
ou

rt
 H

ou
se

 
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
  

To
w

n 
M

an
ag

er
 in

 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
w

ith
 

th
e 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 

Pr
es

er
va

tio
n 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 

Th
os

e 
re

ce
iv

ed
 fr

om
 fe

es
 a

nd
 

ot
he

r r
ev

en
ue

s, 
in

clu
di

ng
 le

as
e 

pr
oc

ee
ds

, c
ol

le
ct

ed
 w

ith
 

re
sp

ec
t t

o 
us

e 
of

 th
e 

18
20

 
Co

ur
t H

ou
se

 a
nd

 C
ou

rt
 H

ou
se

 
Gr

ee
n 

Th
e 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

fo
r t

he
 m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 o

f t
he

  
18

20
 C

ou
rt

 H
ou

se
, f

aç
ad

e,
 ro

of
, c

up
ol

a,
  

co
ur

tr
oo

m
 a

nd
 V

er
m

on
t M

ar
bl

e 
St

ai
rc

as
e.

 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$1

 
 $

1 

Sh
el

lfi
sh

 
Up

w
el

le
r 

Ha
rb

or
 M

as
te

r 

Th
os

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 fe

es
 

ch
ar

ge
d 

fo
r u

pw
el

le
r s

pa
ce

 

Th
is 

fu
nd

 sh
al

l b
e 

us
ed

 to
 su

pp
or

t t
he

 re
cr

ea
tio

na
l 

sh
el

lfi
sh

 p
ro

gr
am

 su
ch

 a
s s

he
llf

ish
 re

la
ys

, f
ut

ur
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

na
l o

ys
te

r h
ar

ve
st

, D
M

EA
 u

pw
el

le
r t

o 
ra

ise
 

se
ed

, o
r g

ra
nt

 m
at

ch
in

g 
fu

nd
s. 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
  $

10
,0

00
 

$1
0,

00
0 

Pl
ym

ou
th

 C
ou

nt
y 

O
ut

re
ac

h 
(P

CO
) 

Po
lic

e 
Ch

ie
f 

An
nu

al
 d

ue
s c

ol
le

ct
ed

 fr
om

 
PC

O
 m

em
be

r d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

.  

PC
O

 In
iti

at
iv

e 
to

 a
ss

ist
 th

os
e 

st
ru

gg
lin

g 
w

ith
 

su
bs

ta
nc

e 
ab

us
e 

di
so

rd
er

s, 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 

di
so

rd
er

s, 
an

d/
or

 b
eh

av
io

ra
l H

ea
lth

 d
iso

rd
er

s. 

 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 

 
$4

0,
00

0 
  

 
$4

0,
00

0 
 

Li
tt

le
 R

ed
 

Sc
ho

ol
ho

us
e 

To
w

n 
M

an
ag

er
 

an
d/

or
 F

in
an

ce
 

Us
ag

e 
fe

e 
fro

m
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

re
se

rv
at

io
ns

 
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
, r

ep
ai

rs
, s

up
pl

ie
s, 

an
d/

or
 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 th

e 
bu

ild
in

g 

 Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 

 

  $
30

,0
00

 
$3

0,
00

0 

EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g 

To
w

n 
M

an
ag

er
 

An
y 

fe
es

 co
lle

ct
ed

 fo
r u

se
 o

f 
th

e 
EV

 ch
ar

ge
rs

 
Th

is 
fu

nd
 sh

al
l b

e 
us

ed
 fo

r e
le

ct
ric

ity
 ch

ar
ge

s, 
eq

ui
pm

en
t, 

an
d 

re
cu

rr
in

g 
ne

tw
or

k 
so

ftw
ar

e 
co

st
s 

Fi
sc

al
 Y

ea
r 2

02
6 

an
d 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
 y

ea
rs

 
$2

00
,0

00
 

$1
00

,0
00

 

53



Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
Be

g 
Ba

la
nc

e
Re

ce
ip

ts
Sa

la
ry

 &
 B

en
ef

its
O

th
er

 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

s
En

di
ng

 B
al

an
ce

 F
Y2

02
5 

Re
qu

es
t 

 F
Y2

02
6 

Re
qu

es
t 

 V
ar

ia
nc

e 

M
an

om
et

 V
ill

ag
e 

Pa
rk

in
g:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

Ce
da

rv
ill

e 
Vi

lla
ge

 P
ar

ki
ng

:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

W
. P

ly
m

ou
th

 V
ill

ag
e 

Pa
rk

in
g:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

N
. P

ly
m

ou
th

 V
ill

ag
e 

Pa
rk

in
g:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

2,
96

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
96

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

2,
96

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Pl
ym

ou
th

 C
en

te
r V

ill
ag

e 
Pa

rk
in

g:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
11

5,
62

7.
75

$ 
   

   
5,

50
0.

00
$ 

   
   

   
12

1,
12

7.
75

$ 
   

   
  

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
12

1,
12

7.
75

$ 
   

   
80

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
12

1,
92

7.
75

$ 
   

   
  

$1
1

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

An
im

al
 A

do
pt

io
n:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

6,
67

6.
21

$ 
   

   
   

 
60

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
7,

27
6.

21
$ 

   
   

   
   

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
7,

27
6.

21
$ 

   
   

   
 

95
0.

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

8,
22

6.
21

$ 
   

   
   

   
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

St
at

e 
Bo

at
 R

am
p:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

46
,4

66
.4

8
$ 

   
   

  
67

,1
65

.0
3

$ 
   

   
 

70
,5

01
.1

5
$ 

   
   

  
4,

68
8.

45
$ 

   
   

   
 

38
,4

41
.9

1
$ 

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
38

,4
41

.9
1

$ 
   

   
  

37
,3

20
.6

5
$ 

   
   

 
42

,2
27

.2
5

$ 
   

   
  

4,
56

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

 
28

,9
75

.3
1

$ 
   

   
   

 
$9

5,
84

8.
00

97
,8

94
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
2,

04
6

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

Sh
el

lfi
sh

 U
pw

el
le

r
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

$1
0,

00
0

10
,0

00
.0

0
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

Re
cr

ea
tio

n:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
73

1,
57

8.
13

$ 
   

   
68

5,
75

2.
05

$ 
   

 
30

5,
28

2.
45

$ 
   

   
31

4,
28

9.
61

$ 
   

   
79

7,
75

8.
12

$ 
   

   
  

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
79

7,
75

8.
12

$ 
   

   
28

5,
02

1.
40

$ 
   

 
27

9,
01

1.
53

$ 
   

   
15

6,
87

2.
26

$ 
   

   
64

6,
89

5.
73

$ 
   

   
  

75
5,

72
4

$ 
   

   
   

  
80

8,
15

8
$ 

   
   

   
  

52
,4

34
$ 

   
   

   
   

 

Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
 R

ep
or

t

54



Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
Be

g 
Ba

la
nc

e
Re

ce
ip

ts
Sa

la
ry

 &
 B

en
ef

its
O

th
er

 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

s
En

di
ng

 B
al

an
ce

 F
Y2

02
5 

Re
qu

es
t 

 F
Y2

02
6 

Re
qu

es
t 

 V
ar

ia
nc

e 

Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
 R

ep
or

t

Vo
ca

tio
na

l/
Te

ch
ni

ca
l S

er
vi

ce
s:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

28
1,

82
3.

47
$ 

   
   

31
2,

93
9.

48
$ 

   
 

18
,7

30
.0

2
$ 

   
   

  
25

6,
68

0.
64

$ 
   

   
31

9,
35

2.
29

$ 
   

   
  

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
31

9,
35

2.
29

$ 
   

   
12

5,
64

3.
07

$ 
   

 
4,

62
3.

74
$ 

   
   

   
 

10
3,

18
9.

32
$ 

   
   

33
7,

18
2.

30
$ 

   
   

  
35

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

45
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
10

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

Pl
ym

ou
th

 B
ea

ch
:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

42
3,

75
5.

78
$ 

   
   

50
3,

87
6.

75
$ 

   
 

34
9,

32
6.

73
$ 

   
   

51
,5

24
.4

2
$ 

   
   

  
52

6,
78

1.
38

$ 
   

   
  

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
52

6,
78

1.
38

$ 
   

   
16

5,
29

3.
00

$ 
   

 
19

0,
77

1.
09

$ 
   

   
17

,6
74

.1
4

$ 
   

   
  

48
3,

62
9.

15
$ 

   
   

  
57

6,
48

1
$ 

   
   

   
  

59
2,

01
8

$ 
   

   
   

  
15

,5
37

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

Ce
m

et
er

y 
Re

pa
ir 

&
 B

ea
ut

ifi
ca

tio
n:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

44
,5

52
.1

8
$ 

   
   

  
19

,0
50

.0
0

$ 
   

   
 

17
,3

00
.0

0
$ 

   
   

  
46

,3
02

.1
8

$ 
   

   
   

 
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

46
,3

02
.1

8
$ 

   
   

  
10

,2
50

.0
0

$ 
   

   
 

10
,0

24
.0

8
$ 

   
   

  
46

,5
28

.1
0

$ 
   

   
   

 
20

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

20
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

Co
un

ci
l o

n 
Ag

in
g 

Pr
og

ra
m

s:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
5,

40
9.

97
$ 

   
   

   
 

84
,7

43
.0

2
$ 

   
   

 
83

,8
13

.1
3

$ 
   

   
  

6,
33

9.
86

$ 
   

   
   

   
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

6,
33

9.
86

$ 
   

   
   

 
45

,4
26

.5
5

$ 
   

   
 

38
,3

10
.2

2
$ 

   
   

  
13

,4
56

.1
9

$ 
   

   
   

 
10

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

12
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
20

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

CA
L C

af
é 

N
ut

rit
io

n 
an

d 
Co

un
ci

l O
n 

Ag
in

g 
M

ea
ls 

on
 W

he
el

s D
on

at
io

n 
Fu

nd
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
29

,7
84

.0
2

$ 
   

   
  

72
,4

85
.1

2
$ 

   
   

 
7,

50
8.

35
$ 

   
   

   
 

94
,7

60
.7

9
$ 

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
94

,7
60

.7
9

$ 
   

   
  

35
,1

90
.1

4
$ 

   
   

 
4,

17
9.

45
$ 

   
   

   
 

12
5,

77
1.

48
$ 

   
   

  
30

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
70

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

S
Li

br
ar

y 
Lo

st
 M

at
er

ia
ls

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

15
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
15

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
20

4.
62

$ 
   

   
   

1,
65

6.
62

$ 
   

   
   

 
1,

54
8.

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

Fi
re

 S
af

et
y 

&
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
35

4,
75

9.
04

$ 
   

   
26

6,
28

1.
06

$ 
   

 
94

,2
87

.8
3

$ 
   

   
  

57
,3

68
.6

7
$ 

   
   

  
46

9,
38

3.
60

$ 
   

   
  

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
46

9,
38

3.
60

$ 
   

   
83

,5
64

.4
9

$ 
   

   
 

16
6,

94
2.

00
$ 

   
   

73
,7

51
.4

7
$ 

   
   

  
31

2,
25

4.
62

$ 
   

   
  

15
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
15

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Fi
re

 A
la

rm
 S

er
vi

ce
s:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

59
,3

03
.0

0
$ 

   
   

  
12

6,
25

0.
00

$ 
   

 
51

,4
47

.7
4

$ 
   

   
  

15
,9

51
.3

9
$ 

   
   

  
11

8,
15

3.
87

$ 
   

   
  

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
11

8,
15

3.
87

$ 
   

   
67

,8
00

.0
0

$ 
   

   
 

30
,1

58
.8

9
$ 

   
   

  
16

,3
34

.1
5

$ 
   

   
  

13
9,

46
0.

83
$ 

   
   

  
95

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

95
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

Fi
re

 Lo
ca

l H
az

ar
do

us
 W

as
te

:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
0.

67
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

0.
67

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
0.

67
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

0.
67

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

60
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
60

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

55



Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
Be

g 
Ba

la
nc

e
Re

ce
ip

ts
Sa

la
ry

 &
 B

en
ef

its
O

th
er

 
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

s
En

di
ng

 B
al

an
ce

 F
Y2

02
5 

Re
qu

es
t 

 F
Y2

02
6 

Re
qu

es
t 

 V
ar

ia
nc

e 

Re
vo

lv
in

g 
Fu

nd
 R

ep
or

t

Fi
re

 C
ed

ar
vi

lle
 C

om
m

un
ity

 R
oo

m
:

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

5,
01

7.
94

$ 
   

   
   

 
24

5.
83

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

4,
77

2.
11

$ 
   

   
   

   
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

4,
77

2.
11

$ 
   

   
   

 
4,

77
2.

11
$ 

   
   

   
   

12
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
12

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

M
em

or
ia

l H
al

l:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
59

0,
13

8.
76

$ 
   

   
36

4,
52

7.
49

$ 
   

 
19

4,
09

1.
35

$ 
   

   
8,

29
6.

08
$ 

   
   

   
 

75
2,

27
8.

82
$ 

   
   

  
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

75
2,

27
8.

82
$ 

   
   

23
2,

82
4.

88
$ 

   
 

13
4,

76
2.

09
$ 

   
   

12
,3

31
.5

5
$ 

   
   

  
83

8,
01

0.
06

$ 
   

   
  

27
3,

38
8

$ 
   

   
   

  
33

1,
29

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

57
,9

02
$ 

   
   

   
   

 

Co
m

po
st

 B
in

s:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
19

,2
16

.9
5

$ 
   

   
  

1,
63

5.
00

$ 
   

   
   

20
,8

51
.9

5
$ 

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
20

,8
51

.9
5

$ 
   

   
  

60
0.

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

21
,4

51
.9

5
$ 

   
   

   
 

$0
5,

16
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

5,
16

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

   

He
dg

es
 P

on
d 

Re
cr

ea
tio

n:
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
24

9,
76

8.
03

$ 
   

   
73

,1
78

.9
1

$ 
   

   
 

34
,2

66
.5

8
$ 

   
   

  
2,

57
2.

84
$ 

   
   

   
 

28
6,

10
7.

52
$ 

   
   

  
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

28
6,

10
7.

52
$ 

   
   

9,
60

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

31
,1

46
.2

5
$ 

   
   

  
7,

12
3.

42
$ 

   
   

   
 

25
7,

43
7.

85
$ 

   
   

  
11

3,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

63
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
(5

0,
00

0)
$ 

   
   

   
   

CP
A 

Co
ns

er
va

tio
n 

La
nd

 R
ev

ol
vi

ng
 

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
$0

$0
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

18
20

 C
ou

rt
 H

ou
se

 
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Pl
ym

ou
th

 C
ou

nt
y 

O
ut

re
ac

h 
(P

CO
) 

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

13
,5

81
.4

0
$ 

   
   

  
10

,4
50

.0
0

$ 
   

   
 

6,
68

5.
29

$ 
   

   
   

 
17

,3
46

.1
1

$ 
   

   
   

 
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

17
,3

46
.1

1
$ 

   
   

  
25

,0
00

.0
0

$ 
   

   
 

1,
13

8.
94

$ 
   

   
   

 
41

,2
07

.1
7

$ 
   

   
   

 
40

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

40
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

Li
tt

le
 R

ed
 S

ch
oo

lh
ou

se
FY

20
24

:  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

7/
1/

23
-6

/3
0/

24
34

,3
39

.7
0

$ 
   

   
  

4,
07

0.
00

$ 
   

   
   

38
,4

09
.7

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

FY
20

25
 1

st
 H

al
f: 

   
  7

/1
/2

4-
12

/3
1/

24
38

,4
09

.7
0

$ 
   

   
  

3,
34

0.
50

$ 
   

   
   

41
,7

50
.2

0
$ 

   
   

   
 

30
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

 
30

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

FY
20

24
:  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
7/

1/
23

-6
/3

0/
24

15
,5

89
.6

5
$ 

   
   

 
11

,6
41

.2
4

$ 
   

   
  

3,
94

8.
41

$ 
   

   
   

   
FY

20
25

 1
st

 H
al

f: 
   

  7
/1

/2
4-

12
/3

1/
24

3,
94

8.
41

$ 
   

   
   

 
10

,5
29

.7
7

$ 
   

   
 

7,
49

1.
06

$ 
   

   
   

 
6,

98
7.

12
$ 

   
   

   
   

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
10

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

(1
00

,0
00

)
$ 

   
   

   
 

Au
th

or
iza

tio
ns

 R
eq

ue
st

ed
 

2,
93

1,
44

7.
00

$ 
  

3,
10

4,
52

6.
00

$ 
  

17
3,

07
9.

00
$ 

   
  

56



ARTICLE 3: 
 
 
ARTICLE 3: Continuation of Committees.  
To see what action the Town will take pursuant to Chapter 173 of the General By-Laws 
regarding the formation, reformation, organization, continuation or discharge of existing 
Committees created by vote of Town Meeting, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 3. Approval of   
this article will authorize the Cedarville Steering Committee and the Plymouth Center Steering 
Committee to continue to operate for the next three years, with a further review in three years at 
the 2028 Annual Town Meeting. 
 

57



58



TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

 
 
 TO: Select Board 
  Advisory and Finance Committee  
 
 FROM: Jeanette White 
  Budget Analyst 
 
 RE: Article 3 – Town Meeting Committees 
 
 DATE: January 6, 2025 
 
 
 
 
Attached please find data sheets corresponding to the Town Meeting Committees scheduled 
for review at the 2025 Annual Town Meeting - Article 3. 
 
Cedarville Steering Committee 
Continue for review in three years at the 2028 Annual Town Meeting with no changes.   
A report will be placed on file with the Town Clerk to be included in the Annual Town Report.   
Please see the attached data sheet. 
 
 Plymouth Center Steering Committee 
Continue for review in three years at the 2028 Annual Town Meeting with no changes.   
A report will be placed on file with the Town Clerk to be included in the Annual Town Report.  
Please see the attached data sheet. 
 
 
 

59



 TOWN MEETING COMMITTEES 
 
 
Committee: Cedarville Steering Committee 
 
Article/Year: Art. 30 - 1992 Annual 
 
Members: 7 
 
Appointing Authority: Planning Board – 6 
 Selectmen - 1 

 
 "Any Town Meeting members who live within the defined Cedarville 

Village Service Area who are not appointed to the committee shall be 
non-voting 'ex-officio' members". 

 
Purpose: ..."implementing the recommendations outlined in the Cedarville Village 

Master Plan.  The Committee to be advisory in nature and its primary 
function to assist in the implementation of the Cedarville Village Maser 
Plan and to advocate for the needs of the area." 

 
Temporary/Permanent: Permanent 
 
Review Dates: 1995 ATM  2010 ATM  2025 ATM 
 1998 ATM  2013 ATM 

     2001 ATM  2016 ATM 
      2004 ATM  2019 ATM 
      2007 ATM  2022 ATM 
 
Next Review Date: 2028 ATM 
 
Term: 3-year overlapping terms 
 
Report Required: Oral report at Town Meeting or a written report to be placed on file with 

the Town Clerk for inclusion in Annual Report of the town. 
 
2025 Recommendation: Review at 2028 Annual Town Meeting. 

60



 
 
 TOWN MEETING COMMITTEES 
 
 
Committee: Plymouth Center Steering Committee 
 
Article/Year: Article 38 / Annual Town Meeting April 3, 2004 
 
Members: 7 
 
Appointing Authority: Planning Board – 6 
 Selectmen - 1 

 
 "Any Town Meeting members who live within the defined Plymouth 

Downtown Village Service Area who are not appointed to the committee 
shall be non-voting 'ex-officio' members". 

 
Purpose:  ..."implementing the recommendations outlined in the Downtown Village 

Center / Waterfront Area Master Plan of 2004.The Committee to be 
advisory in nature to the Planning Board and its primary function to assist 
in the implementation of this Master Plan and to advocate for the 
implementation of the master plan." 

 
Temporary/Permanent: Permanent 
 
Review Dates: 2007 ATM  2019 ATM 
 2010 ATM  2022 ATM 
      2013 ATM  2025 ATM 
      2016 ATM 
 
Next Review Date: 2028 ATM 
 
Term: 3-year overlapping terms 
 
Report Required: Oral report at Town Meeting or a written report to be placed on file with 

the Town Clerk for inclusion in Annual Report of the town. 
 
2025 Recommendation: Review at 2028 Annual Town Meeting. 

61



62



ARTICLE 4: 
 
 
ARTICLE 4: Salaries of Elected Town Officials. 
To see what action the Town will take pursuant to G.L. c.41, §108 with regard to fixing the 
salaries of elected Town Officials, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $22,500 (Unanimous, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 4. Approval of 
this article will set the annual stipends for the Select Board and Town Moderator.  There are no 
changes to the stipend amounts this year. The Chair of the Select Board will receive a stipend of 
$4,500, the four remaining Select Board members will receive $4,000 each, and the Moderator 
will receive $2,000. The funding for these stipends are included in Article 5 – The General Fund 
Budget. 
 

63



64



 

January 6, 2025 

To: Select Board 
Advisory and Finance Committee Members 

From: Derek Brindisi, Town Manager 

 

Re: Annual Town Meeting, Article 4 – Fixing the Salaries of Elected Officials 

 

ARTICLE 4: To see what action the Town will take pursuant to G.L. c.41, §108 with regard to 
fixing the salaries of elected Town Officials, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 

In order to comply with MGL Chapter 41, Section 108, the Town of Plymouth must annually 
vote at town meeting the salary and compensation of all elected officers.    

There are no changes to the salaries of elected officials for FY26, therefore I am recommending 
the following: 

$4,500 – Chairman of the Select Board  

$4,000 – Select Board Member 

$2,000 – Moderator 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

65



66



ARTICLE 5: 
 
 
ARTICLE 5: General Fund Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to provide a reserve fund and to determine what sums of 
money the Town will raise and appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, 
toward defraying charges and expenses of the Town, including debt and interest, for the ensuing 
twelve month period beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
Sub-Committee Report A’s Section of the Budget 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $16,653,088 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee is recommending a decrease of $6,700 to the Town 
Elections budget due to the cost savings from the reduction in polling locations. The Advisory & 
Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $16,653,088 which 
differs from Sub-Committee Report A. 
  
Sub-Committee Report B’s Section of the Budget 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $88,146,820 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $88,146,820 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report B. 
 
Sub-Committee Report C’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $38,366,530 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $38,366,530 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report C. 
 
Sub-Committee Report D’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $14,259,765 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $14,259,765 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report D. 
 
Sub-Committee Report E’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $6,222,984 (11-2-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $6,222,984 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report E. 
 
Sub-Committee Report F’s Section of the Budget  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval  $127,647,811 (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $127,647,811 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report F.  

67



 

68



FY202  BUDGET SUB-COMMITTEE LISTING 
FIXED COSTS AA:     ADMINISTRATION     INSPECTIONAL SVS   

Gail Butler (Chair),  

   123 Town Manager 241 Building/Zoning
 

910 Member Benefits 
   152 Human Resources   945 All Town Insurance 
   161 Town Clerk 
   165 Elections & Town Meeting         

B:     FINANCE & IT DEPT FIXED COSTS DEBT 
 (Chair),  

129 Salary Reserve Fund 710 Long Term Debt 
   133 Finance & Accounting  132 FinCom Reserve Fund 750 Long Term Interest 
   138 Procurement  158 Tax Title Foreclosures 752 Short Term Interest  
   141 Assessing   911 Pension Contributions 753 Misc. Interest 
   146 Treasury & Collections  913 Unemployment Trust 755 Bond Issuance 
   155 Information Technology 914 Member Insurance  

915 OPEB Trust  
916 Compensated Absences 

C:    PUBLIC SAFETY ENERGY & ENVIRONMENT 
 (Chair), 

   210 Police  427 Energy & Environment 
   220 Fire   
   291 Emergency Management 
   295 Harbor Master 

D:     PUBLIC WORKS  
Joe Lalley (Chair), 

  411 Engineering   425 Fleet Maintenance  
    420 Highway  433 Solid Waste General Fund 
    421 Administration  490 Crematory  
    422 Building Maintenance 491 Cemetery  

 423 Snow & Ice   492 Parks & Forestry  
       

E:     PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT    
   Bruce Howard (Chair)  

   175 Community Planning  
   189 Redevelopment Authority 

292 Animal Control   610 Library 
510 Public Health   630 Recreation    
541 Center for Active Living

3 Veteran ervices  
549 Disabilities
  

F:    SCHOOLS   FIXED COSTS 
Brian Dunn Tim Lawlor

  300 Plymouth Schools 390 Medicaid Reimbursements 391 Out of District Transport   

G:    ENTERPRISE FUNDS        
Steve Nearman (Chair), Gail Butler  

  433 Solid Waste Enterprise  450 Water Enterprise 
123 Cable Public Access 440 Sewer Enterprise 482 Airport Enterprise 

69



Sub-

70



From: Budget Sub-Committee A –Administrative / Inspectional Services / Fixed Costs 
Chair, Gail Butler 
Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily Tompkins 

Date: Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A - FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

Budget Summary: Town Manager 

Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 
Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 
Budget $1,003,243 $461,960 - $ 1,465,193 
FY2025 
Revised 
Budget $1025,027 $445,100 - $ 1,470,127 
FY2024 
Actual $844,524 $518,419 - $ 1,362,943 

Department Synopsis 
Derek Brindisi is the Town Manager. He is the chief administrative officer of the Town of Plymouth. The Town Manager 
is responsible to the Select Board for the effective management of all town affairs required by the Charter, the Board’s 
strategic goals & direction, Town by-law, and vote of the representative Town Meeting. The Town Manager is 
responsible for the implementation of Town policies established by the Select Board. 

Budget Observations 
The transfer of the Administrative Assistant in charge of Licensing from the Town Manager’s Office to the Inspectional Services 
Dept. and expansion of the role and responsibility of the Public Records Access/Archivist Officer is the most recent 
improvement to further the Town Manager’s ongoing effort to make more efficient operations. The salary reduction of the 
Administrative Assistant were offset by Contractual Salary increases and Vacation Buybacks of $14,534 which resulted in a 
total decrease of  $21,784 in the Personnel Services line item. In Other Expenses supplies for the communications 
efforts and the new Quarterly “On The Move Magazine” added approximately $8,000. Additionally, added support for 
Town celebrations amounts to an increase of $10,000. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
The addition of the new Communications Coordinator, developing the new “Plymouth On The Move” magazine, and 
supporting Town Celebrations reflect the Select Board’s goals to support businesses and ensure we have a vibrant 
economy, to communicate and engage more actively with the public, and to encourage efficiency in government 
operations. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends that Town Meeting accept the Select Board recommended budget as requested. 

71



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:  Budget Sub-Committee A – Administrative / Inspectional Services / Fixed Costs 

  Gail Butler, Chair 
          Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily Tompkins 

Date:             Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A - FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

Budget Summary: 1749 Court House 

Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 
Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  $19,497  $6,250       -  $ 25,747               
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $18,447  $6,250       -  $ 24,697               

FY2024 Actual  $12,615  $4,716       -  $ 17,331               

Department Synopsis 
The 1749 Court House is a free museum filled with interesting items from Plymouth’s history. It is the oldest 
wooden Court House and the longest used municipal building in America. The 1749 Court House was originally 
built for the joint use of the county and the Town of Plymouth. The Town used it during those periods when the 
circuit court was not in session. 

Budget Observations 
  A wage increase is included in the 2026 Budget. Otherwise, flat spending year to year 

Recommendations 
 

72



T0:         Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee  A – Administrative / Inspectional 

Services / Fixed Costs 
  Chair, Gail Butler 
  Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily Tompkins 

Date:             Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A - FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

Budget Summary:  Human Resources 

Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 
Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  $457,885  $157,750  $615,635                
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $455,662  $139,050       -  $594,712                 

FY2024 Actual  $383,807  $77,505       -  $461,311                 

Department Synopsis 
Jackie Gurney is the Director of Human Resources. 
Human Resources is responsible for many critical functions within the Town including recruiting and 
retaining top talent, developing employee skills and capabilities, managing employee benefits and  
compensation, ensuring compliance with labor laws and regulations, employee relations and fostering a positive 
and inclusive workplace culture. 

Budget Observations 
Overall, the Human Resources Spending Plan is increasing by 4% year over year. The relatively small spending 
increases come in support of Technical Services (Docubee contract and professional support hours), 
an emphasis on professional development causing a hike in meetings, education and training, Medical Services 
including asbestos testing and random drug testing and a heightened attention to Employee Recognition. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
No new Initiatives are contemplated. 

Recommendations 
 

73



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:  Budget Sub-Committee A – Administrative / Inspectional 

  Services / Fixed Costs 
Date:             Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A - FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

       Chair, Gail Butler 
       Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily Tompkins 

Budget Summary:   Town Clerk 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  $454,631  $244,465  $23,356  $ 722,452                
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $437,494  $224,475  $23,364  $ 685,333                

FY2024 Actual  $392,667  $208,898  11,678  $ 613,242                

Department Synopsis 
Kelly A. McElreath is the Town Clerk. 
Among the many functions of her office are: 

- Manage all Town Elections. 
- Register residents as voters in the Town. 
- Post Board and Committee Meetings. 
- Documenting and filing of vital records. 
- Manage the Town census. 
- Process Dog licenses. 
- Manage and document State Ethics training. 
- Attend and certify all Town Meetings. 
- Performs marriages. 

Budget Observations 
  The total spending request is for an increase of $37,119. Of this amount $17,137 comes as a result of 

Personnel Services due to Step and COLA increases for union employees. The balance of the increase 
relates entirely to a planned hike in spending on postage to support Mail-In Voting and the like.  

Initiatives & Opportunities 
No new Initiatives are contemplated. 

Recommendations 
 

74



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:  Budget Sub-Committee A – Administrative / Inspectional 

  Services / Fixed Costs 
Date:             Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A - FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

      Chair, Gail Butler 
      Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily Tompkins 

Budget Summary: Elections and Town Meeting 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  $138,800  $178,190      -  $ 316,990                
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $291,616  $189,750  $5,532  $486,898                 

FY2024 Actual  $177,210  $135,104 $35,901  $348,214                 

Department Synopsis 
Manage and oversee all Elections in the Town. Includes nomination papers, ballot preparation, 
absentee balloting, early voting balloting, scheduling and training of election workers, preparing the voter 
list, certifying the results of the election, and campaign finance reports. 

Budget Observations 
The reduction in budgeted spend amounts to $169,908 and is a result of a reduction from 3 elections in  
FY2025 to 1 for FY2026. The major accounts affected are Personnel Services down $152,816, Purchased 
services down $24,700, Printer lease cost down $5,532. Electronic voting cost are up by $16,250 relating to 
the OTI contract in part. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
The Town Clerk will continue to request and receive compensatory funds from the State for unfunded 
mandates. 

Recommendations 
 

75



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:  Budget Sub-Committee A – Administrative / Inspectional 

  Services / Fixed Costs 
  Gail Butler, Chair 
  Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily 
  Tompkins 

Date:             Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A - FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

Budget Summary:  Inspectional Services 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  $1,219,362  $21,810        -  $1,241,172                 
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $1,088,548  $20,739       -  $1,109,287                 

FY2024 Actual  $1,053,949  $15,033       -  $ 1,068,982                

Department Synopsis 
Jason Silva is the Director of Inspectional Services. 
The function of Inspectional Services is to provide the front line of public safety by assisting the public to build, 
develop, and inspect real properties. The goal is that our services ensure uniform construction of safety compliance, 
and also ensure the public receives equitable and fair application of regulations. 

The Department employs 17 full and part-time people who will accomplish 10,000 permits and 16,000 
Inspections in the current year generating an expected $3.6 million in revenues. 

Budget Observations 
The increase in year to year spending relates primarily to an increase in Personnel Services of $130,814. 
A transfer of one employee who administers Licensing into the Department from the Town Manager’s Department 
accounts for much of this increase with the balance coming from salary and wage increases for the staff. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
A continued review of fee schedules and thoughtful enforcement of permits is expected to yield a revenue 
Increase on the order of 8-9%. 

OpenGov software and interdepartmental cooperation are the driving forces of the modernization plan. 
Recommendations 

 

76



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:  Budget Sub-Committee A – Administrative / Inspectional 

  Services / Fixed Costs 
  Gail Butler, Chair 
  Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily Tompkins 

Date:             Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A - FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

Budget Summary: Member Benefits 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  -     -   -  $ 9,613,575                
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  -    -    -  $8,826,725                 

FY2024 Actual         -   -   -  $7,550,928                 

Department Synopsis 
The Member Benefits section includes programs that provide benefits and coverage for Town employees. 
Programs include Workers Compensation, Deferred Compensation Match, Employer Medicare, 100B Claims, 111F 
Claims, the Town Wellness Program, Life Insurance, Managed Blue and Medicare Part B Premium and 
Penalty. 

Budget Observations 
    Workers Compensation - In FY 2025 a large audit adjustment was incurred to account for a shortfall inFY2023.          
    Similarly, in FY2026 another large adjustment is anticipated relating to FY2024. Workers Compensation works on 
    two year lookback basis. Additionally, a 10% budget increase is planned to account for a growing payroll.  
    Currently Plymouth is being charge an 11% adder to the normal premium due to our adverse experience in   
    claims. On top of that a 4% penalty is levied by the State again because of our loss record.  
   All of the above accounts for a $109,889 increase year to year. 

  Managed Blue – This is a premium based supplemental insurance product for retirees aged 65 plus. This plan 
   Is not self- insured but rather covered by Blue Cross which determines the premiums. In FY 2025 the Town  

 budgeted for an increase of 5%. Actuals came in at 6.4% and at a 25.2% increase  for the Blue Medicare RX   
    portion. 

 The upshot is a potential adjustment of $383,000 to be borne in FY 2026 along with a planned premium increase 
    of 12%. Accordingly, the Town is looking at a total increase of $627,000. 

    While there are changes year to year in the other elements of Member Benefits, the two areas mentioned 
    above account for nearly 90% of the total increase of $786,850. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
Workers Compensation would appear to offer opportunity in that Plymouth is sustaining penalties due to poor claim 
experience. 

Recommendation:  
 

77



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:  Budget Sub-Committee A – Administrative / Inspectional 

  Services / Fixed Costs 
Date:             Feb. 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee A FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 

       Gail Butler, Chair 
       Committee Members: Daniel Green, Steve Nearman, Emily Tomkins 

Budget Summary:   All Town Insurance 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total 

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  -  $2,659,024        -  $ 2,659,024                
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  -  $2,422,869        -  $2,422,869                 

FY2024 Actual  $2,085,791  $2,085,791                 

Department Synopsis 
This budget covers the Town’s Property and Liability coverage. 

Budget Observations 
An approximate escalator of 10% has been applied for FY 2026 amounting to a spending increase of 
$236,155. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
The Town takes advantage of the power of the Massachusetts Interlocal Insurance Association (MIIA), 
which many municipalities in Massachusetts utilize to negotiate for best pricing. Plymouth also receives other 
discounts via training sessions  participated in periodically. 

Recommendations 
 

78



Sub- B

79



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
Department Synopsis 

The Assessing Department works with the 5-member appointed Board of Assessors and is responsible for valuing 
all real and personal property. It is also responsible for annually submitting a tax rate recapitulation summary (recap 
sheet) for approval by the Massachusetts Department of Revenue, and recertify the value of the town by doing field 
and data reviews of the community every five years in an attempt to maintain equitable values. Additionally, the 
department is responsible for motor vehicle excise bills. 

Budget Observations 
The decrease in the FY26 proposed budget is $5,367, a 0.7% decrease from FY25. 
The decrease in salaries of $8,027 (1.2%) is due to the retirement of the prior director of assessing and hiring a 
replacement at lower relative compensation rates.   
The increase in other expenses of $2,660 (2.3%) is due higher costs for field supplies (uniforms for staff) in order 
to better identify staff members during visits to taxpayers 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 

141 - Assessing 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 638,262$                                119,122$              -$                            757,384$          
FY2025 Revised Budget 646,289$                                116,462$              -$                            762,751$          
FY2024 Actual 572,338$                                81,792$                 -$                            654,130$          

80



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
Department Synopsis 

The Finance and Accounting department is responsible for maintaining the town’s financial records and budget 
analysis. The town’s internal auditor reports to this division administratively. 

Budget Observations 
The increase in the FY26 proposed budget is $149,783, an 14.1% increase from FY25. 
The increase in salaries of $127,525 (13.6%) is primarily driven by a new initiative to hire a Deputy Finance 
Director, the intent is that this employee would be part of the succession plan for the existing Finance Director. 
The salary impact of this new initiative is $125,000. 
The increase in other expenses of $22,258 (17.8%) is driven by the bi-annual OPEB valuation which will be 
completed this year ($9,000), $7,000 for new grant writing software and incremental training and dues costs for 
the new employee referenced above. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 
 

133 - Finance & Accounting
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 1,063,002$                             147,400$              -$                            1,210,402$       
FY2025 Revised Budget 935,477$                                125,142$              1,060,619$       
FY2024 Actual 815,845$                                118,262$              934,107$          

81



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
Department Synopsis 

The Procurement Department is responsible for organizational purchasing services for the Town. Organizational 
purchasing is substantially different from consumer purchasing. Within the constraints of legal and statutory 
regulations organizational purchasing has the objective of ensuring effective operations, strategic planning, and 
competitiveness. The core principles of centralized purchasing are economies of scale, standardization of products, 
consolidations of supplies, purchasing policies, financial controls, and common information. 

Budget Observations 
The proposed FY26 Revised Advisory and Finance Recommended budget results in a decrease in total spending 
of $8,882 (-2.0%). 
The original FY26 Select Board budget resulted in an increase of in total spending of $6,118 (1.4%). 
Total Personnel Services costs decreased $6,538 (-2.9%) this is due to prior year support provided by a 
department employee to the Charter Review Committee which required substantial overtime and is not recurring 
Total Department expenses decrease slightly under the Revised Advisory and Finance Recommended budget. 
The original proposed increase of $12,656 (5.9%) is revised to a decrease of $2,344 ($-15,000) based on the 
changes discussed below.  

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Revised Advisory and Finance Recommended Budget 
This budget proposal makes the following changes which in total reduce the Select Board proposed budget by 
$15,000: 
 Reduce the R&M Equipment line item budget from the Select Board proposed value of $15,000 to $10,000, a 

decrease of $5,000. 
 This item records costs for repairing certain equipment used by the procurement office including 

typewriters.  
 FY24 actual spend on this line item was $8,700 and FY25 actual spend on this line item was $0 as of the 

time of budget review. We do not believe the full initial proposed budget for this line item is necessary 
based on historical spend and budgeting the original amount would result an unnecessary levy to the 
taxpayers.  

 Reduce the Advertising line item budget form the Select Board proposed value of $30,000 to $20,000, a 
decrease of $10,000. 
o This item records costs for advertising bid solicitations for Town projects. Based on our discussion with 

the Director of procurement the department does not expect to spend more than $15,000 for this line 
item this year vs the budgeted amount of $30,000. As such we believe the proposed revised budget of 
$20,000 is sufficient to fund the department’s needs. 

138 - Procurement 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 220,859$                                211,545$              432,404$          
FY2025 Revised Budget 227,397$                                213,889$              441,286$          
FY2024 Actual 208,488$                                164,552$              373,040$          

82



o FY24 actual spend on this line item was $15,095 and FY25 actual spend on this line item was $3,438 
as of the time of budget review. We do not believe the full initial proposed budget for this line item is 
necessary based on historical spend and budgeting the original amount would result an unnecessary 
levy to the taxpayers.  

 
 

83



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
Department Synopsis 

The Treasurer and Collector department is responsible for collecting property taxes, vehicle excise, beach and 
dump sticker fees, and most other taxes and fees the town collects. In addition, the department is responsible for 
the treasury functions of the town, including cash management, debt issuance, and investing town funds. 

Budget Observations 
The increase in the FY26 proposed budget is $15,773, a 1.6% increase from FY25. 
The increase in salaries of $6,165 (0.7%) is due to step increases for union employees. 
The increase in other expenses of $9,517 (9.4%) is due to higher fees for online payment services used by the 
town which have increased in scope and cost over time. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 

146 - Treasury & Collections 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 861,157$                                111,667$              972,824$          
FY2025 Revised Budget 855,001$                                102,050$              957,051$          
FY2024 Actual 806,872$                                49,440$                 856,312$          

84



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

The Information Technologies (IT) Department currently has a staff of 8. The goals of the IT Department are: to 
align technology strategies with other municipal departments to foster collaboration, incorporate emerging 
technologies to optimize efficiency, develop and implement IT policies that adhere to relevant regulations 
regarding public records, data privacy, cybersecurity and technology use. As well as develop and implement 
disaster recovery, incident response and business continuity plans.  

Budget Observations 
The increase in the FY26 proposed budget is $267,670, an 8.9% increase from FY25. 
The increase in salaries of $101,151 (12.1%) is primarily driven by a budget request for a business administrator 
to fill existing department needs. The business administrator will be responsible for asset management, budget 
support, and will supplement the needs of the IT help desk.  
The increase in other expenses of $112,019 (5.3%) is driven by increased repair and maintenance costs of 
$129,073 (9.9%) due to vendor pricing increases 
The increase in department equipment is due to the need to replace 90 employee devices at a cost of $1,300 per 
unit based on the scheduled replacement policies for these units.  

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 

155 - Information Technology 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 934,554$                                2,216,477$           117,000$              3,268,031$       
FY2025 Revised Budget 833,403$                                2,104,458$           62,500$                3,000,361$       
FY2024 Actual 712,924$                                1,552,177$           18,209$                2,283,310$       

85



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

This budget covers the costs of land court recordings and legal services. These costs, primarily associated with real 
estate tax liens and foreclosures, are usually recovered by the town when the taxes are ultimately paid. 

Budget Observations 
This budget is level funded and there are no significant changes in funding needs YoY. 
This budget contemplates incremental legal costs related to changes to the tax title/foreclosure process due to the 
Supreme Court ruling (Tyler v. Hennepin County) and subsequent state legislation 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 

158 - Tax Title Foreclosures
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 261,000$              261,000$          
FY2025 Revised Budget 261,000$              261,000$          
FY2024 Actual 115,676$              115,676$          

86



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

The Salary Reserve Fund is used for potential contract settlements, reclassifications, or other contractual issues 
that may come up in any particular year. 

Budget Observations 
The decrease in the FY26 proposed budget is $333,960, a 31.3% decrease from FY25. 
Proposed budget is an effort to reserve money in anticipation of contract negotiations for the OP supervisory 
contract, 90 individuals 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 

129 - Salary Reserve Fund
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 733,758$              733,758$          
FY2025 Revised Budget 1,067,718$           1,067,718$       
FY2024 Actual -$                            -$                        

87



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

The FinCom (Advisory & Finance Committee) Reserve Fund is used to fund unexpected emergency town expenses 
due to unforeseen circumstances. Examples include special elections, fuel, and utilities, etc. Requests for funds are 
made to the Advisory & Finance Committee, and if they are approved, the funds are transferred from this fund to the 
appropriate account.    

Budget Observations 
This budget is level funded and there are no significant changes in funding needs YoY. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 
 

132 - FinCom Reserve Fund 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 150,000$              150,000$          
FY2025 Revised Budget 150,000$              150,000$          
FY2024 Actual -$                            -$                        

88



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

This budget (comprised of both the town and non-educational-based School Department pension contributions) 
represents the town’s normal pension funding based on current employees and retirees using actuarial calculations, 
plus an amount needed to amortize the unfunded prior liability. 

Budget Observations 
The increase in the FY26 proposed budget is $1,638,418, an 8.2% increase from FY25. 
The expected pension contribution amount is based on actuarial analysis. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

Comments / Other 
This budget is expected to increase 8.2% each year until 2035 in order to reduce the unfunded pension liability to 
zero by the end of fiscal year 2035. 
In 2035 the expected pension contribution is $44,399,817 based on current actuarial assumptions. 
The unfunded pension liability as of 1/1/2024 is $186,803,764. 

 
 

911 - Pension Contributions 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 21,524,793$         21,524,793$     
FY2025 Revised Budget 19,886,375$         19,886,375$     
FY2024 Actual 18,418,703$         18,418,703$     

89



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

This budget represents a transfer to the Unemployment Compensation Trust. The Trust is used to cover 
unemployment compensation claims. 

Budget Observations 
This budget is level funded and there are no significant changes in funding needs YoY. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 
 

913 - Unemployment Trust
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 60,220$                 60,220$             
FY2025 Revised Budget 60,220$                 60,220$             
FY2024 Actual 20,000$                 20,000$             

90



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

This budget represents the taxpayer-funded employer contributions to the Healthcare Trust Funds (one for Medical 
and one for Dental). 

Budget Observations 
The decrease in the FY26 proposed budget is $941,300, a 2.3% decrease from FY25. 
The decreased YoY cost is due to changes in plan structure based on the prior year PEC agreement 
These decreases were partially offset by increased cost of Medicare Part D premiums as a result of changes due 
to the Inflation Reduction Act. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 

914 - Member Insurance 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 39,125,973$         39,125,973$     
FY2025 Revised Budget 40,067,273$         40,067,273$     
FY2024 Actual 38,569,229$         38,569,229$     

91



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

This budget puts aside funds for the Other Post-Employment Benefits obligations of the town to its employees. 
The primary component of that liability is retiree health insurance benefits. The budget is funded with a minimum 
of 1% of covered payroll. 

Budget Observations 
The increase in the FY26 proposed budget is $27,561, a 2.2% increase from FY25. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

Comments / Other 
The Town’s unfunded OPEB liability is $576,414,853 
According to the December 2021 Commonwealth OPEB Summary Report Plymouth has the fourth largest net 
OPEB liability of all towns in Massachusetts behind Boston, Springfield and Worcester. 

 
 

915 - OPEB Trust
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 1,290,740$           1,290,740$       
FY2025 Revised Budget 1,263,179$           1,263,179$       
FY2024 Actual 1,172,491$           1,172,491$       

92



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

This fund serves to pay out unused vacation and, if applicable, sick time to employees who exit their jobs. 
Budget Observations 

This budget is level funded and there are no significant changes in funding needs YoY. 
Recommendations 

The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

 
 

916 - Compensated Absences 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 150,000$              150,000$          
FY2025 Revised Budget 150,000$              150,000$          
FY2024 Actual 125,000$              125,000$          

93



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee B & Dan Green (Chair), Gail Butler, 

Bruce Howard, Christine Richards and Mark Snyder 
Date:        January 21st, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee B FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: 

 
 
Department Synopsis 

Principal and interest on the Town’s debt instruments  
Budget Observations 

Budget is level funded  
Budget reflects scheduled interest and principal payments on the Town’s debt portfolio 
Increase in temporary interest reflects certain projects that will eventually be included in a short term borrowing 
including: 

 Title V loan programs 
 Town Boat Ramp reconstruction  
 Ladder truck 
 Elementary school roof replacement 
 Bartlett Road Bridge 
 22 Mary B Lane project 
 Town Wharf  
 Route 80 Cemetery Construction 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
N/A 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of the FY26 Select Board Budget 

Comments / Other 
N/A 

 

710-755 - Debt & Interest
Personnel Services Other Expenses Equipment Total 

Proposed FY2026 Budget 18,209,291$         18,209,291$     
FY2025 Revised Budget 18,209,291$         18,209,291$     
FY2024 Actual 15,857,313$         15,857,313$     

2024 Actual 2025 Budget 2026 Proposed Change
Principal 9,502,538$                             11,280,724$         10,666,354$        (614,370)$         
Interest 5,554,223$                             6,725,527$           5,914,448$           (811,079)$         
Temporary Interest 792,958$                                173,040$              1,598,489$           1,425,449$       
Miscellaneous Interest 1,944$                                     5,000$                   5,000$                   -$                        
Bond Issuance 5,650$                                     25,000$                 25,000$                -$                        
Total Debt Service 15,857,313$                           18,209,291$         18,209,291$        -$                        

94



Sub-

95



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee C - Christine Richards (Chair), Brian Dunn, Bruce Howard, Joe Lalley, 

and, Lorenzo Pizarro  
 
Date: February 1, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee C FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: # 210 Police Department 
 

 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget  $     15,710,764   $          911,548   $          820,090   $     17,442,402  
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $     15,399,185   $          781,151   $          594,527   $     16,774,863  

FY2024 Actual  $     13,260,513   $       1,707,371   $          620,477   $     15,588,361  

Department Synopsis 
The Police Department is responsible for enforcing the law, preventing crime, solving problems, providing 
emergency response, providing support services, protecting victims, and convicting criminals. 
Though changes in culture, expectations, laws, and social media have placed additional demands and 
burdens on the department, the 145 sworn and non-sworn members of the police department work 
diligently each day to provide the best police services possible to the Town's 68,000 residents and its 
countless visitors. The sworn members and support staff of the Plymouth Police Department are dedicated to the 
service and protection of all who visit, work, and live in the town of Plymouth. We aim to safeguard the 
public trust bestowed upon us, protect life and property, and uphold the law. The Department is committed to 
accomplishing our mission with devotion, honesty, and equality to all. 

Budget Observations 
 

This budget reflects an increase of 4%. The police budget shows a salary increase related to the recently agreed-
upon contracts with department personnel. Proposed increases for the police department's "Other Expenses" 
reflect known and expected increases in subscriptions, memberships, and repair and maintenance, and other 
similar items. Recently upgraded policy management, internal affairs, and training management software are 
included in the increase. An increase in training and ammunition reflects the added training requirements due to 
POST and MPTC collaboration, changes in the current political and cultural environments, and to the expanded 
annual firearms training to biannual to enhance proficiency and reduce liability. A significant "other expenses" 
increase is associated with the addition of body-worn cameras to sworn personnel. 
Another proposed increase is related to "Department Equipment" due to the projected vehicle 
replacement cost that returns two vehicles removed from replacement in FY25 and is consistent 
with the FY25 cost increase over FY24. In addition, the Department is seeking to purchase a book scanner for the 
Records Division that was reallocated from capital requests. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
In response to the organizational study completed earlier this year, the Chief seeks to act upon some of the 
recommendations and reorganize his command and mid-level supervisory staff, including adding a Deputy Chief, 
already approved, and adding a Lieutenant and Sergeant to the staffing (not funded in this budget). The 
Lieutenant will handle all Professional Standards operations, including Internal Affairs (minor), Accreditation, and 
POST compliance. The Sergeant will manage oversight of the body-worn camera program, including redaction, 
compliance, court discovery, and public records requests. In addition, the Chief is seeking to add a third clerk to the 
Records Division to assist with the increase in public records requests due to changes in the Public Records laws 
and police reform (not funded in this budget). Other expenses do not include body cameras; 2nd year is being 
funded through ARPA funding.  

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approving the Police Department budget as recommended by the Select Board 
by a vote of 5-0 

96



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee C - Christine Richards (Chair), Brian Dunn, Bruce Howard, Joe Lalley, 

and, Lorenzo Pizarro  
 
Date: February 1, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee C FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: # 295 Harbor Master 
 

 
Personnel 
Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Fuel & Utilities Total  

Proposed 
FY2026 Budget  $          545,868   $             73,100   $             25,000   $             30,000   $          673,968  
FY2025 
Revised Budget  $          538,255   $             63,100   $             11,000   $             30,000   $          642,355  

FY2024 Actual  $          466,962   $             39,812   $                        -   $             15,797   $          522,571  
 
Department Synopsis 

Harbormaster is a division of the Police Department and is responsible for Harbor Operations, Search and 
Rescue, Maritime/ Environmental law enforcement, Cruise Ship Management, project oversight/development, and 
Shellfish/ Aquaculture for the Town. The Harbormaster Division is responsible for over 37 miles of coastline, 3 miles 
East into Cape Cod Bay, and over 365 ponds. The Harbormaster Division has 4 FTE, including the Harbormaster 
and 3 Assistant Harbormasters.  

Budget Observations 
This budget reflects an increase of 4.9% from FY2025.The Harbormaster Division budget increase for FY26 is 
$31,613. This increase includes a minimal increase ($7,613) in Wages due to OPEIU and SEIU contractual 
obligations, only one increase in operational expenses ($10,000) for mooring software as a new initiative to 
address two Select Board goals and an increase in Departmental Equipment ($14,000) to replace police radios 
that cannot be retrofitted to the new digital police frequency. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
This year, the first new initiative is a request for an additional 1 FTE Assistant Harbormaster - Wharfinger due to the 
increased workload associated with the ACL cruise contract. Part-time Harbormaster Admin and Seasonal 
Harbormaster Assistants (10-12) augment the full-time staff during the busy summer boating season (June-
September). The Division provides 24-hour response year-round to calls for service by maintaining duty hours and 
on-call response. The second request is funding for Mooring Software. This software will provide mooring holders 
and applicants with a more engaging and user-friendly approach with more online processes. We want to move to 
Ebilling with the new mooring software to eliminate paper invoices and the costs of mailing close to two thousand 
invoices. In addition, adding the mooring waiting list entirely online will allow people the ability to sign up and renew 
without having to fill out a paper copy at the Harbormaster office. With the rise in mooring permits outside of the 
harbor (ponds/coastal location), we will provide a user portal where people can apply and upload necessary 
documents for staff review.  
. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approving the Harbor Master Department budget as recommended by the Select 
Board by a vote of 5-0 

 

97



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee C - Christine Richards (Chair), Brian Dunn, Bruce Howard, Joe Lalley, 

and, Lorenzo Pizarro  
 
Date: February 1, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee C FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: # 220 Fire Department 
 

 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget  $      16,885,369   $           582,025   $           385,184   $      17,852,578  
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $      15,783,106   $           540,951   $           305,878   $      16,629,935  
FY2024 Actual  $      14,553,998   $           493,542   $           132,673   $      15,180,213  

 
Department Synopsis 

The Mission of the Plymouth Fire Department is to protect the general public's life and property most efficiently by 
reducing the effects of fire emergencies, medical emergencies, hazardous materials incidents, extraordinary rescue 
emergencies, and natural disasters. The Department will continue to train and provide proactive, highly trained 
professional emergency responders for the residents and guests of the Town of Plymouth. The personal service 
increase is due to contractual pay increases, including but not limited to educational incentives and other stipends. 
Along with these obligations is a request for an increase in the overtime line for backfilling on-duty positions to 
allow for uninterrupted departmental training. Traditionally, overtime has been used to maintain a minimum staffing 
level to ensure all seven village fire stations remain open. To accomplish this, only some absences are filled using 
overtime after first attempting to relocate personnel to fill open positions, a cost avoidance strategy saving roughly 
$1.5M per year. Firefighter training is essential for ensuring the safety and well-being of our community in the 
face of new and emerging threats. By investing in training, we can better prepare our firefighters to respond to 
emergencies and protect our community from harm. 

Budget Observations 
The 2026 budget represents an increase of 7.4%. The Fire Department has two revolving accounts, the Fire Alarm 
Revolving Account and the Fire Prevention Revolving Account. Both accounts fund percentages of salaries and 
benefits and offset the cost of Capital Expenses. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
The Department's new initiative fund request of $60,003 is to hire an Assistant to the Fire Alarm 
Superintendent. (This initiative was not funded in this budget) This division was staffed with two employees 
until budget cuts were made in 1992. The Town's growth has resulted in expansion of the municipal fire alarm 
system. Additionally, we have grown from one radio system to six radio systems. The repair and maintenance of 
radio equipment, fire alarm systems, cables, and the Short Arm Agent program have made this a necessary 
position to ensure we meet the succession planning goals of the Select Board. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approving the Fire Department budget as recommended by the Select Board by 
a vote of 5-0 

 

98



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee C - Christine Richards (Chair), Brian Dunn, Bruce Howard, Joe Lalley, 

and, Lorenzo Pizarro  
 
Date: February 1, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee C FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: # 291 Emergency Management 
 

 
Personnel 
Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget  $             67,045   $       1,391,020   $               7,000   $       1,465,065  
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $             58,676   $       1,347,968   $                        -   $       1,406,644  
FY2024 Actual  $             47,181   $             12,195   $                        -   $             59,376  

 
Department Synopsis 

 

The Mission of the Plymouth Office of Emergency Management is to coordinate efforts to prevent, 
mitigate, prepare, respond, and recover from local emergencies and disasters. This is accomplished by 
working with Town Departments and other partnerships to ensure plans, resources, and procedures are 
developed and maintained to safeguard the public against community vulnerabilities and the effects of 
these hazards. 

Budget Observations 
This budget reflects a 4.2% increase over FY 2025. Over the last few budgets, the salary of the Emergency 
Management Director has been increasing 
incrementally, moving from what was a 100% grant funded position. Currently, the salary of the EMD is 
split 60/40. The increase also includes the specialty stipend for the handling of the department's 
comfort dog wellness program. 3.35% of the increase is due to the responsibility of managing the 
annual cost of the combined Police, Fire and Emergency Medical dispatch services as agreed upon in the 
transition to the Plymouth Emergency Communication Center. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
The new initiatives are an 10% increase to the Directors salary. There is also a request for a specialty stipend of 
$3,600 for the handling of the department's comfort dog wellness program that was removed from the Select 
Board’s recommended budget and will be funded from another source.  

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approving the Emergency Management Department budget as recommended by 
the Select Board by a vote of 5-0 

 

99



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee C - Christine Richards (Chair), Brian Dunn, Bruce Howard, Joe Lalley, 

and, Lorenzo Pizarro  
 
Date: February 1, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee C FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: 
 
Budget Summary: # 427 Energy and Environment 
 

 
Personnel Services Other Expenses Departmental 

Equipment Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget  $           781,317   $           131,200   $             20,000   $           932,517  
FY2025 Revised 
Budget  $           757,065   $           131,200   $                       -   $           888,265  
FY2024 Actual  $           572,626   $             80,328   $             14,000   $           666,954  

 
Department Synopsis 

The Department of Energy and Environment's (DEE) mission is to protect, restore, and enhance the Town of 
Plymouth's environment and natural resources for current and future generations, using creative approaches and 
solutions based on science and collaboration. Furthermore, we aim to utilize restored natural systems, energy 
efficiency programs, alternative energy sources, and green infrastructure to mitigate the effects of climate change 
on our community and the world. The DEE's work is wide-ranging, from acquiring and managing open space to 
administrating the OHV and shorebird program at Plymouth Long Beach, restoration, and managing diadromous 
fish runs and coastal and freshwater wetlands. In addition, staff also perform all the groundwater, surface water, and 
coastal monitoring for our wastewater treatment facility, along with the administration of the Eel River Nutrient 
Management Plan, as required by the Town's groundwater discharge permit. Lastly, staff also manages the town-
wide lakes and ponds monitoring program. The Sustainability and Resiliency Division works on energy efficiency 
projects, electrifying the municipal vehicle fleet, expanding the EV charging network, and reducing the town's 
carbon footprint. 

Budget Observations 
This budget represents a 5% increase from FY2025. The budget provides for adequate staffing to meet multiple 
Select Board goals, including the development of a Community Wildfire Protection Plan, expansion of the EV 
charging network, work on the dredging of Jenney Pond, the Downtown Resiliency Project, and the Town Wharf 
Way Improvement Project. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
There is a proposal to change the classification of the Administrative Assistant from a C-5 within the SEIU 
bargaining unit to an A-5 within the OPEIU bargaining unit. The Department believes this change more accurately 
represents this position's work. The position provides service to two divisions (Natural Resources and 
Sustainability). This change was not approved by the Select Board. In addition, DEE currently has 10 open 
grants totaling over $12,000,000 and over a dozen active town meeting articles related to engineering, permitting, 
or construction projects. Lastly, from May through September, the Administrative Assistant processes payroll for 
approximately 25 individuals. The Department Head strongly believes that the proposed classification is more 
commensurate with the unique workload of a department that manages dozens of grants valued in tens of millions 
of dollars and helps administer dozens of projects. They propose that 3% of the proposed salary be derived from 
the Long Beach Revolving Fund since the position currently answers beach, sticker, and 4x4 questions, issues 
temporary passes, completes the payroll for seasonal employees, and completes all of the required invoicing 
associated with the management of the beach. As a result, there would be no additional general fund increases 
related to this proposed change. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approving the Energy and Environment Department budget as recommended by 
the Select Board by a vote of 5-0 

 

100



Sub-

101



 

February 19, 2025  Page 1 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:    Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 
 
Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works  
 

The FY24 Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works is comprised of the following members from 

the Advisory & Finance Committee: 

 Joe Lalley, Chair 
 Everett Malaguti 
 Lorenzo Pizzaro 
 Davd Trudell 

 
 

Chair Lalley called the meeting at the Great Hall to order at 10:00 AM on January 21, 2025. The 

was broadcast on PACTV and accessible via Zoom. A recording of the PACTV broadcast is 

available at this link: 

TBD 

The chair began the meeting by taking attendance.  

 Present: Mr. Lalley, Mr. Malaguti, Mr. Trudell 

 Absent: Mr. Pizzaro was unable to attend. 

 

An opportunity for public comment was provided. There were no members of the public in 

attendance. 

 

The pages below contain the budget reports for each department. 

 

An opportunity for public comment was provided. at the end of the presentations. There were no 

102



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 2 of 23 

members of the public in attendance. 

 

The committee asked Mr. Coyle to express our appreciation for the work the DPW staff do for the 

Town. 

 

Mr. Malaguti made a motion to adjourn. Mr. Trudell seconded the motion. The motion was 

approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. The Budget Sub-Committee D - Public 

Works meeting adjourned at 10:37 AM. 

  

103



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 3 of 23 

Department Summary 

 
 

Total Budget Fiscal Year

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select 

Board Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
411 D - Engineering $534,460 $732,541 $739,157 0.9%
420 D - Highway $2,078,605 $2,501,210 $2,468,214 -1.3%
421 D - Administration $689,410 $908,512 $951,286 4.7%
422 D - Building Maintenance $3,232,307 $3,505,167 $3,566,783 1.8%
425 D - Fleet Maintenance $1,489,044 $2,062,206 $2,040,615 -1.0%
433 D - Solid Waste Operations $328,303 $341,019 $397,925 16.7%
490 D - Crematory $226,800 $287,162 $285,584 -0.5%
491 D - Cemetery $701,085 $876,321 $864,551 -1.3%
492 D - Parks and Forestry $1,312,044 $1,570,672 $1,579,235 0.5%

Sub Total $10,592,058 $12,784,810 $12,893,350 0.8%

Total Snow and Ice Fiscal Year

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select 

Board Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
423 D - Snow and Ice $616,515 $1,366,415 $1,366,415 0.0%

Grand Total 11,208,573$ 14,151,225$  14,259,765$      0.8%

104



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 4 of 23 

Budget Summary 411 D - Engineering: 

 
Department Synopsis 

The Engineering Division is led by James Downey, Assistant DPW Director. The DPW 

Engineering Division's mission is to provide quality engineering services and technical support to 

the Town of Plymouth and its residents. The Engineering Division has been challenged by long-

term staff vacancies since the year 2020 with the onset of COVID.  

Total Budgets Amount Fiscal Year

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
411 D - Engineering $534,460 $732,541 $739,157 0.9%

1-Personnel $445,476 $648,679 $655,295 1.0%
2-Other Expenses $88,984 $83,862 $83,862 0.0%
3-Departmental Equipment $0 $0 $0 0.0%

Grand Total $534,460 $732,541 $739,157 0.9%

105



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 5 of 23 

The Engineering budget provides the funding needed for the Division to service the Town and its 

residents. This budget is primarily comprised of salaries to implement the Town's annual pavement 

management and pavement markings program, sidewalk and drainage improvement plans, MS4 

permit compliance, utility contractor and street opening permits, assessor map revisions, 

engineering survey and plan development, engineering review for new proposed private 

development, and the upkeep and revision of the Town’s Geographic Information system (GIS). 

The remaining budget provides monies for survey supplies, printing, and staff membership & 

training. Many of the Engineering Division's day-to-day functions and long-term projects 

complement the Select Board goals, particularly the goal to "Improve Town Infrastructure & Protect 

the Environment.” 

The Engineering Division is also directly involved with Capital Projects within other Department 

Divisions involving parks and forestry, wastewater treatment needs & upgrades, cemeteries 

(through surveys, easements, and deed research), water quality, future water supply source 

identification and easement acquisition.  

The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed budget versus FY25 Revised is an increase 

of 0.9% driven by modest increases in Personnel Expense. 

 

Budget Observations 

89% of the budget is Personnel Expense. Pavement marking is the largest component of the Other 

Expenses line. The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed budget versus FY25 Revised 

is an increase of 0.9%. 

 

Discussion 

None. 

 

Recommendation 

Mr. Malaguti made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Trudell 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

106



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 6 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – 420 D – Highway 

 

Budget Summary 420 D – Highway: 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $1,850,835 $2,195,736 $2,192,964 -0.1%
2-Other Expenses $195,781 $264,070 $239,070 -9.5%
3-Departmental Equipment $10,718 $5,224 $0 -100.0%
4-Fuel and Utilities $21,271 $36,180 $36,180 0.0%
Grand Total $2,078,605 $2,501,210 $2,468,214 -1.3%

107



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 7 of 23 

William Coyle, DPW Director introduced the newly appointed Highway Manager, Tony Lopes. Mr 

Coyle presented the budget for the Highway Division. The mission of the Highway Division is to 

maintain and preserve the Town’s Public Way infrastructure, which includes gravel roads, paved 

roads, sidewalks, street signs, traffic signals, and storm drainage systems and to restore and improve 

services to the general public. The Division also maintains access for emergency vehicles on private 

roads. The Highway Division is responsible for 400 miles of road spread across 103 square miles. 

 

Budget Observations 

89% of the budget is Personnel Expense. The reduction in Other Expenses for FY26 includes a 

$25K amount for every other year crusher expenses to process Construction and Demolition C&D 

waste generated by Town work. The recycled material is used for road base in the town.  

The proposed budget reflects a decrease in Departmental Equipment of $5,224. 

The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed budget versus FY25 Revised is a decrease 

of 1.3%. 

 

Discussion 

The department currently has eight (8) vacant positions or a 25% vacancy rate. The reduction in 

Personnel Expenses is driven by a decision to fund only 85% of the vacant positions since it is 

unlikely all will be filled for the entirety of FY26. The reduction in Other Expense is a result of 

FY26 being the “off year” for the biannual Crushing Service expense. The is no request for 

Departmental Equipment in FY26. 

 

Recommendations 

Mr. Trudell made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Malaguti 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

 

  

108



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 8 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – 421 D – Administration 

 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

William Coyle, DPW Director, presented the budget for Public Works Administration. The 

Department of Public Works Administrative Division consists of four employees including Director 

William Coyle, Assistant Director James Downey, Business Manager Jodie Volta and Michelle 

Newell, OSHA Officer.  

 

Budget Observations 

96% of the budget is Personnel Expense. The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $653,684 $867,380 $910,154 4.9%
2-Other Expenses $35,726 $41,132 $41,132 0.0%
Grand Total $689,410 $908,512 $951,286 4.7%

109



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 9 of 23 

budget versus FY25 Revised is an increase of 4.7% driven by contractual increases. 

 

Recommendations 

Mr Trudell made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Malaguti 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

  

110



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 10 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – 422 D - Building Maintenance: 

 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

Karl Anderson, Facilities Manager, presented the budget. The Division maintains various Town 

buildings including the seven Fire Stations, the Police Station, Town Hall, Memorial Hall, two 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $937,205 $1,145,560 $1,108,426 -3.2%
2-Other Expenses $940,477 $1,011,107 $1,011,107 0.0%
4-Fuel and Utilities $1,354,625 $1,348,500 $1,447,250 7.3%
Grand Total $3,232,307 $3,505,167 $3,566,783 1.8%

111



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 11 of 23 

libraries, the DPW Facility and Annex and Maritime Facility.  

The Facilities Maintenance Division maintains 30+ municipal properties and is responsible for 

responding daily to myriad problems and concerns throughout Plymouth. Our mission is to deliver 

effective and efficient support through safe work practices in a manner that provides a safe and 

comfortable environment for all town employees and residents. Responsibilities of the Facilities 

Maintenance Division include custodial and craftsperson services, preventative maintenance, 

equipment repairs, and other interior/exterior maintenance responsibilities to preserve town assets. 

Staff are also responsible for the daily work order requests of other departments and for 

coordinating repairs required by outsourcing certain specialized activities including electrical, 

plumbing, and roofing services. 

The division has initiated a feasibility study in support of a Select Board goal to address deferred 

maintenance needs at Memorial Hall. The study is funded with ARPA funds outside of the 

operational budget. 

 

Budget Observations 

The proposed FY26 budget is comprised of 31% for Personnel Expense, 28% for Other Expenses, 

and 41% for Fuel and Utilities. The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed budget 

versus FY25 Revised is an increase of 1.8% driven by anticipated increase in Fuel and Utilities. 

 

Discussion 

Mr. Malaguti asked what was driving the increase to Fuel and Utilities. Mr. Anderson responded 

that the increase is driven by rising costs for electricity and changes to some of the individual 

electric accounts to match actuals costs. 

 

Recommendations 

Mr. Malaguti made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Trudell 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

112



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 12 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – 423 D – Snow & Ice: 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

William Coyle, DPW Director, presented the budget for DPW Snow and Ice. This budget is a Fixed 

Cost item. This budget is used for the removal of Snow and Ice from Plymouth roads and Town 

public facilities. DPW contracts with numerous independent contractors to use their private vehicles 

for ice and snow management. 

 

Budget Observations 

The proposed FY26 budget is comprised of 21% for Personnel Expense. This is a cost allocation of 

town employees when on snow removal duties. The remaining 79% is for Other Expenses mostly 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $196,119 $281,264 $281,264 0.0%
2-Other Expenses $420,396 $1,085,151 $1,085,151 0.0%
Grand Total $616,515 $1,366,415 $1,366,415 0.0%

113



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 13 of 23 

associated with contracted snow and ice management services. The overall change in the FY24 

Select Board proposed budget versus FY25 Revised is no increase. 

 

Recommendations 

Mr Malaguti made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Trudell 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

  

114



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 14 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – Budget Summary 425 D - Fleet Maintenance: 

 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

William Coyle, DPW Director, presented the budget for the Fleet Maintenance Division. The Fleet 

Maintenance Division repairs, maintains, and inspects 310 pieces of equipment, consisting of heavy 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $338,564 $453,213 $447,595 -1.2%
2-Other Expenses $434,081 $483,320 $483,320 0.0%
3-Departmental Equipment $14,087 $15,973 $0 -100.0%
4-Fuel and Utilities $702,312 $1,109,700 $1,109,700 0.0%
Grand Total $1,489,044 $2,062,206 $2,040,615 -1.0%

115



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 15 of 23 

front-end loaders, backhoes, graders, large dump trucks, trash packers, sanders, snow blowers, 

compressors, police cruisers and cars. The division does not maintain Fire or School Department 

equipment. The Fleet Maintenance Division plays a critical role during snow & ice operations and 

will triage the equipment continuously during a storm event and will perform necessary repairs to 

return the vehicle back in service under significant demands and time constraints. 

The Fleet Maintenance Division, when fully staffed, consists of five master mechanics, and one 

service technician. Currently the Division is operating with only three master mechanics and one 

service technician. In an effort to keep up with the demands, the staff has been working extra hours 

to perform the necessary equipment repairs to meet the Town’s operational needs. 

 

Discussion 

Mr. Malaguti asked if the Town was realizing any reduction in maintenance costs for the new 

electric vehicles (EV) added to the fleet. Mr. Coyle responded that it was too early to tell since the 

vehicles are relatively new. Mr Coyle also noted that the mechanics on staff are not trained to do 

anything other than basic maintenance on the EVs. 

 

Budget Observations 

The proposed FY26 budget is comprised of 22% for Personnel Expense, 24% for Other Expenses, 

54% for Fuel and Utilities. The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed budget versus 

FY25 Revised is a decrease of 1.0%. 

 

Recommendations 

Mr. Malaguti made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Trudell 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

  

116



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 16 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D –433 D - Solid Waste Operations 

 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

William Coyle, DPW Director, presented the budget for Solid Waste Operations. The budget covers 

expenses for the disposal of solid waste generated by Plymouth Schools and public buildings. It 

includes operations, landfill monitoring, and contracts with SEMASS to convert Plymouth’s solid 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $150,385 $130,299 $177,425 36.2%
2-Other Expenses $177,918 $210,720 $220,500 4.6%
3-Departmental Equipment $0 $0 $0 0.0%
Grand Total $328,303 $341,019 $397,925 16.7%

117



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 17 of 23 

waste into energy. This budget does not include the enterprise operation at the Manomet Transfer 

Station 

 

Budget Observations 

The proposed FY26 budget is comprised of 45% for Personnel Expense and 55% for Other 

Expenses. The increase in Personnel Expense is driven increasing budgeted overtime costs to reflect 

year-to-year actuals and contractual obligations. Other Expenses include an increase to landfill 

monitoring expenses. The change in the FY26 Select Board proposed budget versus FY25 Revised 

is an increase of 16.7%.  

 

Discussion 

None 

 

Recommendations 

Mr. Trudell made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Malaguti 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

  

118



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 18 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – Budget Summary 490 D – Crematory 

 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

Diane Maguire, Cemetery & Crematory Superintendent, presented the Town Crematory Division 

overview and budget. 

 

Budget Observations 

Personnel accounts for 82% of the budget. The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed 

budget versus FY25 Revised is a decrease of 1.3%. The decrease is driven by the recent 

appointment of the permanent superintendent at a lower step than the previous superintendent. 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $190,690 $237,062 $234,084 -1.3%
2-Other Expenses $36,110 $50,100 $51,500 2.8%
Grand Total $226,800 $287,162 $285,584 -0.5%

119



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 19 of 23 

Recommendations 

Mr. Trudell made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Malaguti 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

 

  

120



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 20 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – Budget Summary 491 D - Cemetery 

 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

Diane Maguire, Cemetery & Crematory Superintendent, presented the Town Cemetery Division 

overview and budget. The Cemetery Division maintains twenty-two (22) town-owned cemeteries, 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $651,132 $810,785 $790,720 -2.5%
2-Other Expenses $35,434 $57,536 $57,831 0.5%
3-Departmental Equipment $14,519 $8,000 $16,000 100.0%
Grand Total $701,085 $876,321 $864,551 -1.3%

121



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 21 of 23 

seven (7) of which are active. The Division provides interment and maintenance services. It works 

closely with the public, grieving families, and funeral homes. 

Ms. Maguire noted that Superintendent and Administrative Assistant positions are split between the 

Cemetery and Crematory Divisions. 

 

Budget Observations 

Personnel accounts for 91% of the budget. The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed 

budget versus FY25 Revised is a decrease of 1.3%. The decrease is driven by the recent appointment 

of the permanent superintendent at a lower step than the previous superintendent. Overtime is 

driven by the demand for weekend services. There is a revenue stream associated with the account. 

 

Discussion 

None. 

 

Recommendations 

Mr. Trudell made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Malaguti 

seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions.

122



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 22 of 23 

To:  Advisory & Finance Committee 

From:   Budget Sub-Committee D - Public Works 

Date:   February 19, 2025 

Subject: Report for Sub-Committee D – Budget Summary 492 D - Parks and Forestry: 

 

 

 
Department Synopsis 

Nick Faiella, Parks & Forestry Superintendent, presented the budget for the Forestry and Parks 

Division. The Division is responsible for the maintenance of 35 areas including parks, beaches, and 

Department FY24 Actual FY25 Revised
FY26 Select Board 

Proposed

% Increase 
(Decrease) from 

FY25
1-Personnel $1,064,510 $1,299,340 $1,304,679 0.4%
2-Other Expenses $242,725 $271,332 $274,556 1.2%
3-Departmental Equipment $4,809 $0 $0 0.0%
Grand Total $1,312,044 $1,570,672 $1,579,235 0.5%

123



Report for Sub-Committee D – Public Works 

February 19, 2025  Page 23 of 23 

sports complexes.  

 

Budget Observations 

The proposed FY26 budget is comprised of 83% for Personnel Expense and 17% for Other 

Expenses. The overall change in the FY26 Select Board proposed budget versus FY25 Revised is 

an increase of 0.5%. 

 

Discussion 

None. 

 

Recommendations 

Mr. Malaguti made a motion to approve the FY26 Select Board Budget as presented. Mr. Trudell 
seconded that motion. The motion was approved by a vote of 3 Yes, 0 No and no abstentions. 

124



Sub-

125



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Community Planning 
 
Budget Summary: Community Planning 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 839,967 $ 205,827 $ 0 $ 1,045,794 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 799,262 $ 188,191 $ 0 $ 987,453 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 732,557 $ 199,483 $ 0 $ 932,041 

 

Department Synopsis 
The mission of the Department of Community Planning is to coordinate the most, community and economic development 
activities of all Town government agencies.  
This department provides a comprehensive vision of the Town’s long-range goals and endeavors to administer local 
development controls in a fair and equitable manner. The Department is led by Lee Hartmann. Lauren Lind is the Deputy 
Director of Planning and Development. 
Staff provide support to a number of boards and committees including the Planning Board, Zoning Board of Appeals, 
Conservation Commission, Affordable Housing Trust, and Open Space Committee. Often this support is provided 
outside of normal operating hours, requiring overtime compensation. 

Budget Observations 
Personnel Services have increased by $40,705 or 5.16%. This is due to contractual obligations: step increases and 
COLA; $4,000 increase in OPEIU and SEIU overtime. 
 
Other Expenses have increased by 9.4%.  This increase is primarily due to: 
 A $5,000 increase in consulting services ($25,000 to 30,000).  These funds are used to hire outside professional 

consultants to assist the Planning Board, Zoning Board, Conservation Commission, Historic District Commission 
and Affordable Housing Trust. 

 A $4,500 increase to Technical Services for the Open Space Committee to create promotional and educational 
material. 

 A $4,000 increase to provide expanded staff education and training. 
 

The Planning and Development Department has five revolving accounts: Plymouth Center Village Parking, North 
Plymouth Village Parking, West Plymouth Village Parking, Cedarville Village Parking, and Manomet Village Parking. 
There are no expenditures requested at this time for each of the Revolving Accounts, so a one ($1.00) dollar 
authorization is to be set for each fund. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
The Planning Board in conjunction with the Development is wrapping up the public outreach portion of the Town’s Master 
Planning initiative.  During FY 2026, the Master Plan process will focus on drafting recommendations and actions. 
 
With the assistance of the Plymouth Regional Economic Development Foundation and in cooperation with Holtec 
International, the department is leading an 18-month public engagement process to develop a Master Plan for the 1600-
acre Pilgrim Power Plant property. 

Comments / Other 
The Town’s Open Space and Recreation plan was updated in-house and approved by the Commonwealth. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $1,045,794 by 
the vote of 6-0.  

126



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 

From: Budget Sub-Committee E 

 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 

Date: February 4, 2025 

Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Redevelopment Authority 
 

Budget Summary: Redevelopment Authority 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 0 $ 24,848 $ 0 $ 24,848 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 0 $ 24,357 $ 0 $ 24,357 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 0 $ 23,880 $ 0 $ 23,880 

 

Department Synopsis 
The Plymouth Redevelopment Authority (PRA) is independent of the town and the budget provides partial funding for the 
PRA’s staff and activities. In addition, the town supports the operation of the PRA through the provision of office space and 
use of Town equipment such as computers, printers, faxes, and copiers. The budget is managed by the Director of 
Community Development, Paul Nocivelli. 

Services provided by the PRA include counseling programs for residents on subjects such as HUD, reverse mortgages, 
first-time homebuyer, and foreclosure. The Authority also participates in active programs such as the Massachusetts 
Housing Rehabilitation Agency’s Get the Lead Out program and the Plymouth Community Housing Inc.’s affordable 
housing projects. Staff participate in the Affordable Housing Trust. In addition to the Town’s budget appropriations, the 
Plymouth Redevelopment Authority receives funds from a variety of State and Federal programs, including a HUD grant, 
and from consulting fees. The town’s contribution represents a 25% match for these grants. 

Budget Observations 
2% increases are requested. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
. 

Comments / Other 
. 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $24,848 by the 
vote of 6-0. 
  

127



 
To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Animal Control 
 
Budget Summary: Animal Control 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 210,024 $ 6,800 $ 0 $ 216,824 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 199,171 $ 6,800 $ 0 $ 205,971 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 200,742 $ 3,941 $ 0 $ 204,683 

 
Department Synopsis 
The Animal Control Division employs three Animal Control Officers (ACOs) and runs the Town's animal shelter, enforces 
the Town's animal by-laws, and provides support for resident encounters with wildlife. This Division is part of the newly 
formed Health and Human Services Department.  
 
Budget Observations 
The budget is increasing due to salary increases and a substantial increase in budgeted overtime pay. In FY24, $16,263 
in funds were used to pay for ACO overtime. $3456 had been budgeted. In FY24, the Animal Control Division was part of 
the Energy and Environment Department, and they were able to move money within the department to subsidize the 
overtime. The overtime was paid for the time spent responding to police calls, after-hours calls and for work performed 
on holidays. Public Health does not have an excess budget or flexibility within additional Divisions to fund overtime. 
While steps have been taken to minimize the need for after-hours calls, overtime has been historically underfunded. 
 
The Animal Control division has one revolving account: Animal Shelter Adoption Fund. The current $5,000 authorization 
will be used for the care, health and welfare of the animals. 
 
Initiatives & Opportunities 
Donations are used to pay for medical care and support for shelter animals outside of normal day-to-day operations. In 
2023, donations of the amount of $6903 were collected; from 2024 to date, $9820 in donations were collected. 

 
Comments / Other 
This Division’s work includes, but is not limited, to: loose and abandoned animals, dog bites and rabies protocols, 
representing the Town at internal/external hearings (e.g., nuisance and dangerous dog issues/hearings), wildlife calls, 
kennel inspections and the operations of the Plymouth Animal Shelter including intake/adoptions (62 dogs; 33 cats). 
ACOs are also required to complete eight continuing education credits per year to maintain their certification. In 2023, 
ACOs responded to a variety of calls and questions from our residents and visitors: 

1. Sick, injured or deceased wildlife  712 
2. Missing/found domestic animals  528 
3. Wellbeing checks    48 
4. General     430 
5. Animal bites     60 
6. Wounds of unknown origin   33 
7. Barking dog complaints   54 
8. Tethering     18 
9. Leash law     111 
10. Deceased domestics    12 

 

128



Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $216,824 by the 
vote of 6-0. 

129



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Public Health 

 
Budget Summary: Public Health 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 347,672 $ 92,400 $ 0 $ 440,072 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 336,301 $ 83,400 $ 0 $ 419,701 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 325,658 $ 77,963 $ 0 $ 403,621 

 
Department Synopsis 
The Public Health Division provides medical and inspection services, including Title V inspections, PERC tests and food 
safety inspections. The Division supports the health and overall wellbeing of Plymouth's residents and visitors and 
assures the public that their health and welfare are at or above an optimal standard. Together, with the five-member 
Board of Health, the Division establishes rules, regulations, and policy to prevent disease and injury, promote healthy 
living and prevent disease and injury to ensure a healthy Plymouth. The Division is led by Karen Keane with oversight by 
Michelle Bratti. In addition to the Director, the Public Health Division also includes a Health Agent, Health Technician, 
and Administrative Assistant. This Division is part of the newly formed Health and Human Services Department. 
 
Budget Observations 
The budget increase represents step increases in employee salaries and an increase in lab services for beach/pond 
water quality testing. Also, Public Health is not losing a service as it still maintains a contracted vendor as a part-time 
food inspector. This differential represents a full-time Inspector position that was originally proposed by the Division, but 
not included in the Select Board budget. 
 
Initiatives & Opportunities 
Revenue increases represent the new Short Term Registration Fee and general increases in the number of other permits 
issued. Revenue decreases represent lower fees generated by septic systems. This number fluctuates with new 
developments. For example, revenue in the amount of $580,031 was collected in 2023; revenue in the amount of 
$571,994 was collected in 2024. 
 
The Town of Plymouth receives $515,000 from the Public Health Excellence Grant. Grant funds are shared between six 
towns in the Southern Plymouth County Collaborative. Plymouth serves as the host community for up to six budgeted 
grant employees (currently at four), including a Public Health Nurse who maintains a presence at Councils on Aging and 
an Epidemiologist who monitors health in each of the six communities. Plymouth also administers the grant budget. 
 
The Public Health Director and the Administrative Assistant earn stipends payable through the Public Health Excellence 
Grant. They are paid through the Administrative Fee that is paid to Plymouth for serving as the host community. These 
stipends are paid through grant funds and do not impact the taxpayers. The Public Health Director has a two-year history 
of receiving the stipends. For this third year, a 100% allocation of the allowed stipend Is requested. The responsibilities in 
managing the grant and its employees continue to grow annually. Increasing the stipend from 75% to 100% places no 
burden to the Town's budget while recognizing a consistent increase in responsibilities and time committed to the grant. 
 
Comments / Other 
In FY25, the Public Health Division expanded to include Animal Control and its three additional employees.  
 
A new initiative is a reclass of the Public Health Agent to the Assistant Director of Public Health. While this change 
creates salary differential, the differential will be paid through the Administrative Fee collected from the Public Health 
Excellence Grant. This new reclass is expected to be implemented upon settlement of OPEIU contracts. 
 
 

130



In addition to the services described above, the Public Health Division: 
 Provides front line crisis response across a range of domains, including EEE/WNV, manufactured homes, 

housing, and public health supplies for the unhomed. 
 Serves migrant families with vaccinations, eye exams, dental exams, fire safety, and food/nutrition. 
 Coordinates the new Sharps Disposal Program, which is accessible to all residents and available during Town 

Hall hours.  
 Collaborate with the five-member Plymouth Board of Health to establish rules, regulations and policies to 

prevent disease and injury, promote healthy living and protect the health and well-being of residents and visitors 
 Builds/maintain relationships and services at key community sites including Algonquin Heights, where it 

provides nutrition planning, healthy eating, and food pantry services.  
 Builds and maintains relationships with local businesses and has worked to streamline the Division to provide 

timely food inspection and Fats/Oils/Grease Guidelines, as well as Open Gov and See, Click, Fix services.    
 Implements and evaluates public health strategies through assessment, development and assurance.  
 Follows the State Sanitary Code Chapter X and permits all restaurants, food retailers, residential kitchens, 

caterers, mobile food vendors, and farmers markets. 
 Enforces Massachusetts General Law Chapter 111: Public Health including the Health Code for 

infectious/communicable disease surveillance, Housing Code for healthy and safe housing, State Sanitary Code 
for camps and swimming pools, and Title 5 for septic systems and private wells.  

 Conducts inspections for tanning salons, body art facilities and body art practitioners.  
 Monitors tobacco establishments for compliance with both local and state law. 
 Monitors trash haulers for compliance with recycling requirements. 

 
The Public Health Division adopted Fats, Oils and Grease regulations. The purpose of the regulations is to protect 
residents, businesses and the public from blockage of the Town's sanitary sewer system caused by fats, oils and grease 
discharge from restaurants and food service establishments in Plymouth. Working together with the Sewer Department, 
letters were issued to all food service establishments reminding them that they must have an automatic internal grease 
trap or a minimum of a 2,000-gallon external grease trap. The Division continues to work with businesses to bring all into 
compliance. 

 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $440,072 by the 
vote of 6-0. 

  

131



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Center for Active Living 

 
Budget Summary: Center for Active Living 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 818,134 $ 78,650 $ 0 $ 896,784 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 772,437 $ 103,950 $ 0 $ 876,387 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 522,881 $ 149,292 $ 0 $ 672,173 

 
Department Synopsis 
The Center for Active Living (CAL) offers a variety of services to Plymouth's older residents to “provide our community 
with a safe, trusted, physical and virtual environment where information and access to programs and services foster a 
healthy and vital lifestyle throughout the aging process.”  Forty-two percent of Plymouth residents are 55+. This Division 
is currently overseen by Health and Human Services Commissioner Michelle Bratti, who has also served as Acting CAL 
Director since October 2023. Day-to-day operations are led by Assistant Director Caitlyn Correa. This Division is part of 
the newly formed Health and Human Services Department. 
 
Budget Observations 
There is a 6% increase to the Personnel Services budget in FY26. The main cause of that increase is due to typical 
salary increases along with the addition of filling the vacant Director of Elder Affairs position. This position has 
historically been fully funded by the Town. The current vacancy will be funded at 40% by the CAL Formula Grant and 
60% by the Town budget. There was a decrease in Personnel Services costs due to staff ineligibility for Earned 
Time/Vacation (54% decrease) and Sick Time (LTIA) Buy Back (100% decrease). The major decrease to the general 
budget is from the CAL Café Nutrition budget, the Town will be saving $25,000 due to this decrease. Going forward 
CAL will fund the CAL Café through our Revolving Fund as previously promised.  
In the end, the total budget increase for FY26 is 2%. 
 
The Center for Active Living has two revolving accounts: Council on Aging Programs and CAL Café Nutrition & Meals on 
Wheels. The Council on Aging Programs Fund receives receipts from programs and activities, then payments are made 
to each instructor. The fund is authorized for $120,000. The CAL Café Nutrition & Meals on Wheels Fund receives 
donations payments to Old Colony Elder Services and collections from the CAL Café. The fund covers expenses for the 
CAL Café, supplies, salaries, staffing and payments to Old Colony Elder Services for Meals on Wheels meal donations. 
The fund is authorized for $100,000. 
 
Initiatives & Opportunities 
Filling the vacant Director of Elder Affairs position directly supports the Select Board's goal of strengthening the Town's 
workforce. Michelle Bratti was the previous Director of Elder Affairs/CAL Director prior to receiving her appointment as 
Commissioner of Health and Human Services in October 2023 and has continued serving as Acting Director since that 
time. As CAL has rapidly expanded over the past five years, the increasing number of seniors retiring in Plymouth 
requires both a Director and an Assistant Director to effectively manage responsibilities. Did you know? Statistically, 
one CAL staff member currently serves 1,000 seniors per day in a year. Filling this position will significantly enhance 
the Town's workforce, enabling CAL to continue its important work and support our growing senior community. 
 
Comments / Other 
In FY26, the State increased our formula budget funding. The "rate per senior" has risen from $14 to $15, effective in 
FY25 and continuing into FY26. Last year, CAL received $270,270, and the final figure for FY25 was released at 
$289,575. With this increase, CAL can propose funding 40% of the Director position through the Formula Grant, with 
the remaining 60% covered by the Town. In the past, since the Director position was created it has been fully funded by 
the Town but due to budget concerns, CAL has offered this compromise in order to fill this crucial vacant position. At 
this time CAL Grants fully fund three positions and partially fund two positions, which is 70% of the total grant funding 
received.  
 

132



Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $896,784 by the 
vote of 6-0. 

  

133



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Veteran’s Services 

 
Budget Summary: Veteran’s Services 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 159,694 $ 463,788 $ 0 $ 623,482 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 158,270 $ 463,088 $ 0 $ 621,358 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 153,132 $ 370,506 $ 0 $ 523,639 

 
Department Synopsis 
The Veterans Services Division advises and assists resident veterans and their dependents about Federal and/or State 
benefits they are eligible for and disburses and administers the State benefits they are eligible for (including financial and 
medical benefits). The two-person Veterans Services Division is run by Director Roxanne Whitbeck, the Director of 
Veterans' Services in Plymouth, who is also Plymouth's Veterans' Agent, with oversight by Michelle Bratti. This Division 
also includes an Administrative Assistant. Veterans Services is part of the newly formed Health and Human Services 
Department. 
 
Veterans Services are provided in Massachusetts communities in accordance with MGL Chapter 115, which specifies a 
program of services to its resident, eligible, veteran population. Massachusetts is the only state in the country that 
provides additional Veteran support services in this manner. Large communities, such as Plymouth, have a Veterans 
Agent that coordinates and operates the programming. Roxanne Whitbeck, the Director of Veterans' Services in 
Plymouth, is also Plymouth's Veterans' Agent. 
 
Budget Observations 
The total recommended FY26 proposed budget for the Veteran Service’s Office is $623,482, which is a slight increase of 
$2,124 (SEIU contract settlement and $700 for headstones and markers and holiday remembrances) from the FY25. 
These increases are due to the recently ratified SEIU contract (note: OPEIU contract has not been settled). 
 

 The annual renewal for one Vetraspec subscription in FY25 came in at $449 without any warning of an increase. 
The Division has funds for any small overages but wants to ensure we have each line item accurately depicted. 
Both Veterans staff use the subscription and there can only be one user in the system at a time, so we chose to 
remain with one subscription to save the town an additional $449. 

 We would like to increase our headstone and markers line item, as many of the flag holder medallions get ruined 
by weather, and lawn mowers, not to mention the increase in individual cost per piece.  We are asking for an 
increase of $500.  

 We are also requesting our veteran’s remembrance line item to be increased by $200, as the cost has been 
$7,650 for actual expenses which includes increased costs for both the flags and the wreaths. 

 
The Hero Act (signed into law in August of 2024) provides critical new benefits to veterans and aims in part to bring tax 
relief to veteran residents, which will impact many in Plymouth. The tax relief provision of the Hero Act will be presented 
as Article 26 for approval at the Spring Town Meeting. 
 
Initiatives & Opportunities 
The following items do not necessarily increase revenue but are Town budget saving items. 

 The Executive Office of Veteran Services (EOVS) reimburses the Town 75% of what we pay out of the Veterans 
Benefits line item, if we administer the 108 CMR appropriately and request all monies from the state and get our 
requests approved. Note: we consistently receive our 75% back every quarter. 

 
 The Division also maintains a gift account established in 2010 with our first donation from Serve Pro of 

Plymouth/Wareham in the amount of $1700. This account is used to help veterans that are above our guidelines 

134



for MGL chapter 115 but still are low income/low assets. We have been able to provide fuel assistance, car 
payments, mortgage/rent assistance, medical copays, gift cards, and durable medical equipment just to name a 
few categories. Based on the balance of that account, we are now providing one-time assistance up to $700 per 
ask. We qualify these individuals by requesting their DD214 to look at character of discharge and bank 
statements to verify the need.  This account is replenished by generous donations from local organizations and 
private individuals. Often this office will be listed in an obituary as a suggested organization to donate to. This 
often comes from families that this office has known for years and has helped over those years. 

 
Comments / Other 
In addition to the services described above, the Division of Veterans Services and the Veterans Services Officer (VSO): 

 Supervises administration of MGL chapter 115, a public assistance program for veterans and their families that 
are currently living 200% below the federal poverty level.   

 Provides financial assistance, medical reimbursement and fuel assistance.  
 Processes benefits for dental, eyeglasses, hearing aids and durable medical equipment. 
 During emergencies, a homeless veteran can shelter a local hotel for up to three days.  
 Help clients make informed decisions regarding their medical coverage between the VA, Medicare, and private 

insurances.  
 Recertify clients twice a year (once in January and once in July) by collecting various documentation and 

determining their continued eligibility for the program. 
 Files compensation claims with the VA for local veterans and surviving spouses daily. (VSO is required to take 

national certification in order to file these claims).   
 Attends annual training sessions in accordance with State and Federal requirements.  
 Provides follow-up to check on the status of claims. 
 Orders VA correspondence. 
 Assist clients with aging care, transportation, and burial for indigent veterans or family members that have 

passed in Plymouth.  
 Provides clients with assistance in applying for various Mass Health programs, ordering military records through 

the National Archives or through the database of Mass Military Records. 
 Coordinates two ceremonies each year for both Memorial Day and Veterans Day.   
 Replace 5,000 flags for our veterans during the Memorial Day weekend. 
 Serves on the Thanksgiving Day Planning Committee. 
 Attends many ceremonies and provides public outreach as requested multiple times a year. 

 
The VSO has been awarded both VSO of the Year and District VSO of the Year for the work done in Plympton, Kingston 
and Carver as well.  The Administrative Assistant has also been awarded Administrative Assistant of the Year. We have 
been working together for over 15 years, the VSO even longer as she was the Administrative Assistant before being 
asked by her community to apply for the VSO position. We take great pride in the reputation and accomplishments that 
this office has been able to achieve and will continue to provide these exemplary services.  

 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $623,482 by the 
vote of 6-0. 

  

135



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Library 

 
Budget Summary: Library 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 1,745,750 $ 609,798 $ 10,844 $ 2,366,392 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 1,646,258 $ 581,060 $ 29,200 $ 2,256,518 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 1,520,492 $ 515,557 $ 0 $ 2,036,048 

 
Department Synopsis 
The Library Division is responsible for the operation and maintenance of the Main Library and the Manomet Branch. The 
division is staffed with Librarians, Associate Librarians, Technicians, Pages, a Literacy Coordinator, part-time adult 
education teachers, and custodians. The Division is led by Maureen Coleman, Acting Library Director, in conjunction with 
the Assistant Library Director and financial input by the Accounts Manager with oversight by Michelle Bratti, 
Commissioner of Health and Human Services. This Division is part of the newly formed Health and Human Services 
Department. The Library Director position is currently an active posting and is expected to be filled in the near future. 
 
The Plymouth Public Library (PPL) engages and enriches the community through lifelong learning, access to materials 
and resources through collection development, relevant and current programming, and community outreach. PPL and its 
resources and materials are available to all members of the public and is focused on removing unnecessary barriers to 
access through our own resources and through valuable community partnerships. PPL remains committed to diversity, 
equity, and inclusion in all areas, including the materials we purchase, the programming we provide, and outreach efforts 
to the community. Highlights for PPL include: 
 

 Little Free Pantry 
 Community Garden 
 Recovery Corner (recognized as national model) 
 Literacy & ESL Programs 
 Community Partnerships 
 Free programming for all ages 

 
Budget Observations 
The Library’s FY26 proposed budget is $2,402,555 an increase of $145,992 or a 6.47% over the FY25 amount of 
$2,256,563.  

 
Increase in Personnel Expenses: 
 Ratification of contracts for COBRA-Library & COBRA-DPW. 

 
Other Expenses 
 Increases: 

 Books and periodicals:  
 Increased usage of electronic collections (pay per use model). 

 Library supplies 
 Materials to maintain our community garden.   

 Produce is used to stock our Little Free Pantry. 
 Increase sustainability programming and volunteer opportunities. 

 Dues and memberships:  
 Price set by the Old Colony Library Network (OCLN).  

 
 Decreases: 

136



 Equipment repair and maintenance 
  Moved maintenance contracts for two copiers to IT and two AEDs to DPW. 

 Postage 
 Transitioning from physical mailings to email blasts. 

 Technical Service Supplies 
 Incorporating vendor book processing. 

 Public supplies 
 Moved two public printers to IT and deleted copier supplies/toner. 

 
Departmental Equipment 
 Due to a level service budget, we are aware of the need for fiscal responsibility in the purchase of one-time 

departmental equipment for FY26 while still maintaining the library’s high standards.  
 
 
Initiatives & Opportunities 
The Library budget request included the restoration of one of three, page positions.  The Technical Services Page 
position is a 10-hour a week non-union, minimum wage position. Duties for the Technical Services page include 
processing incoming materials, assisting with maintenance/mending processes, and assisting with discarding materials. 
The regular maintenance/mending of the materials helps to prolong the life of materials and decrease the need for 
duplicate purchases of popular items. Assisting with the weeding out/discarding of older materials allows the library to 
keep room on the shelves for more recent materials that meet the changing needs of the patrons and keep our collection 
current. With an understanding of fiscal responsibilities and climate, the Library proposed a cost-sharing approach 
between the Town and Library’s State Aid funds to restore this position. 
 
The Library has one revolving account: Library Lost Materials. This fund is used to replace books that have been lost or 
damaged. The fund is authorized for $15,000. (Note: spending from this fund may not exceed receipts.) 
 
Comments / Other 
The Library understands the value of finding and using alternative sources of funds for its initiatives, materials, and 
programs. In addition to the Town’s Operating Budget, the Library utilizes State Aid funds, donations made to the 
Plymouth Public Library Foundation for specific book purchases, programming and staff incentives, and pursues grant 
opportunities including the DESE grant for which we receive over $375K per year to fund our Literacy Program. The 
Library established a revolving fund with the Town of Plymouth for lost materials whereby funds received from patrons 
for lost materials are then used to purchase replacement materials. The Library is also strengthening existing and 
creating new community partnerships to be able to increase our services and programming with limited cost while also 
supporting our partners. 
 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $2,366,392 by 
the vote of 6-0. 

  

137



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Recreation 
 
Budget Summary: Recreation 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 578,828 $ 29,610 $ 0 $ 608,438 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 582,562 $ 28,110 $ 2,065 $ 612,737 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 539,982 $ 20,953 $ 2,241 $ 563,175 

 
Department Synopsis 
The Recreation Division provides recreational opportunities for the residents of Plymouth, as well as scheduling 28 
recreational fields, supervising staff at five town beaches, managing Memorial Hall, and overseeing the operation of the 
Manomet Youth Center and the Hedges Pond Recreation area. The Division is led by Anne Slusser-Huff with oversight 
by Michelle Bratti. This Division is part of the newly formed Health and Human Services Department. 
 
Budget Observations 
Temporary and seasonal wages continue to represent the largest expense in the Recreation operating budget, 
accounting for $424,804.50 —nearly 70% of the total budget. These funds are allocated exclusively to staffing the 
Town's five beaches: Plymouth Beach, Morton Park, Fresh Pond, Whitehorse Beach, and Hedges Pond. Note: To help 
reduce costs, the Recreation Division is seeking to eliminate lifeguard coverage at Whitehorse Beach in its entirety. To 
gain a better understanding of Town-wide beach operation costs, the Town is collaborating with Bridgewater State 
University in the coming months to conduct a comprehensive cost analysis study. 
 
The Recreation Division has three revolving funds: the Recreation Revolving Fund, the Memorial Hall Revolving Fund, 
and the Hedges Pond Revolving Fund. The Recreation Revolving Fund is managed like a business. Spending is based 
on registrations, events and revenue collected. A spending cap will not be reached if the revenue is not generated to 
cover the expenses. It is important to note that the Recreation Division currently funds 65% of all full-time staff salaries 
and benefits out of the Revolving funds. The Recreation Revolving Fund is authorized for $808,158. The Memorial Hall 
Revolving Fund is authorized for $331,290. The Hedges Pond Revolving Fund is authorized for $63,000. 
 
Initiatives & Opportunities 
The Select Board-recommended budget for the Recreation Division in the amount of $608,438 is a decrease of $33,625 
from the Recreation Division’s original proposed budget request. As part of that reduction, a $23,759 decrease is due to 
the Town’s decision to find an alternative funding source for the Division’s departmental equipment request. The Town 
selected to award ARPA funds for the Kubota UTV request from the Recreation Division. The Town also awarded 
funding to the Recreation Division for installing metal detection equipment at Memorial Hall, and for soccer goal 
equipment. The remaining decrease in the proposed budget resulted from the Town’s decision not to restore the 
previously unfunded part-time SEIU position. The Town Manager and Department of Health and Human Services fully 
support that this position be funded by the Recreation Revolving Fund as an alternative to the Town budget. 
 
Comments / Other 
. 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $608,438 by the 
vote of 6-0. 

  

138



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee E 
 Bruce Howard (Chair), Molly O’Connor, Lorenzo Pizarro, Mark Snyder, 

Emily Tompkins, David Trudell 
Date: February 4, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee E FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Disabilities 

 
Budget Summary: Disabilities 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Departmental 
Equipment 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 
Budget 

$ 0 $ 350 $ 0 $ 350 

FY2025 Revised 
Budget 

$ 0 $ 350 $ 0 $ 350 

FY2024 Actual 
 

$ 0 $ 79 $ 0 $ 79 

 
 

Department Synopsis 
The Plymouth Commission on Disabilities (PCOD) serves as a resource to the Plymouth community to address 
accessibility, equal rights, and other issues of concern to people with disabilities. The Massachusetts Disability 
Commissions law (MGL Chapter 40, Section 8J) grants municipalities authority to establish Commissions on Disability 
(COD). The PCOD is a five-person volunteer board staffed by a municipal liaison (currently Emily Wilson, Assistant 
Commissioner of HHS). Members are appointed by the Select Board. The PCOD is part of the newly formed Health and 
Human Services Department and is chaired by PCOD appointed member Paul McGee.  

 

Budget Observations 
The Plymouth Commission on Disabilities (PCOD) is a Town Board/Committee and does not have a typical department 
budget of revenue/expenditures and disburses funds received through grants/ scholarships. Funding in the amount of 
$350 was allocated in FY 25 for training/meetings and office supplies. There is no increase requested for FY 26. In 
accordance with the Administration of Handicapped Parking Program (MGL Chapter 40, Section 22G), CODs may 
choose to allocate all funds from fines for accessible parking violations in the city/town. Funds must be kept in a 
separate account and may be used by the COD only for the benefit of people with disabilities. The PCOD receives 
funds from accessible parking fines and allocates grants/scholarships to Plymouth residents with disabilities. In 2024, 
the PCOD awarded three college scholarships to Plymouth high school graduates. The PCOD also awarded two grants 
for Town projects, which include partial funding for front desk renovation/accessibility improvements at the Center for 
Active Living, and partial funding for a Wheelchair Swing at the new Nelson Park. 

 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
The PCOD continuously works with Town departments and community partners to identify funding opportunities that will 
benefit residents of Plymouth with disabilities. The PCOD provided input and a letter of support for the Town of 
Plymouth’s application for an Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Municipal Grant for FY25, which is administered by 
the Massachusetts Office on Disability (MOD). Plymouth was awarded this grant by MOD for FY25. 

 

Comments / Other 
 

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends approval of the Town Manager/Select Board recommended budget of $350 by the 
vote of 6-0. 

139



Sub-

140



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: Budget Sub-Committee F 
 Brian Dunn (Co-Chair), Timothy Lawlor (Co-Chair), 

Emily Tompkins, Mark Snyder, Christine Richards, 
Molly O’Connor, Everett Malaguti, Joseph Lalley 

Date:       2/6/25 
Subject: Sub-Committee F; FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Plymouth Public Schools 

 
 

 
Budget Summary: Plymouth Public Schools 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 Budget $ 97,794,501 $ 29,434,773 $ 127,229,274 
FY2025 Revised Budget $ 91,979,055 $ 29,386,244 $ 121,365,299 

FY2024 Actual $ 86,127,179 $ 27,397,506 $ 113,524,685 
 

 

Department Synopsis 
The Plymouth Public School Budget is developed to meet student learning needs and goals using information 
about staff, students and facilities. The Superintendent of the Plymouth Public Schools is Chris Campbell.     
  

Enrollment in Plymouth Public Schools is 7,116 as of 1/24/25.  While enrollment has declined, the percentage of 
students identified as High Needs by the Department of Education has grown. In FY15, High Needs students 
accounted for 39% of the population at Plymouth Public Schools. In FY25, that number has increased to 64.75%. 
High Needs students include special education students, students who are economically disadvantaged, and 
multilingual learners.  

 
Budget Observations 
The proposed FY26, as recommended by the School Committee and Select Board, represents an increase of 
$5,863,975 from the FY25 Budget.  
 
Salary Expenses for FY26 represent an increase of $5,815,446.  
 
Non-Salary Expenses for FY26 represent an increase of $48,529. 
 
Chapter 70 Aid increased by $789,464 for FY25 and another minor increase of $553,575 is projected for FY26.   

 
Challenges 
From our budget discussion with Dr. Campbell and Dr. Blaisdell, the Subcommittee identified the following 
challenges for the Plymouth Public Schools.    
 
-Increased, long term behavioral and mental health remediation and support of students.  

141



-The high cost of transportation  
-Increase in the number of High Needs students 
-Utility costs 
-Declining State and Federal Grants   
-Unfunded mandates 
 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
No recommendation by a vote of 4-4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

142



 
Budget Summary: Medicaid Reimbursement 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 Budget $ 280,942 $ 55,550 $ 336,492 
FY2025 Revised Budget $ 274,696 $ 54,738 $ 329,434 

FY2024 Actual $ 264,689 $ 35,188 $ 299,877 
 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of Proposed Medicaid Reimbursement Budget by a vote of 8-0. 
 
 
Budget Summary: Out-of-District Transportation 
 

 Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

 
Total  

Proposed FY2026 Budget $ 82,045 $ 0 $ 82,045 
FY2025 Revised Budget $ 80,040 $ 0 $ 80,040 

FY2024 Actual $ 59,681 $ 0 $ 59,681 
 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
Approval of Proposed Out-of-District Transportation Budget by a vote of 8-0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

143



Notes 
-Total spending to operate the Plymouth Public Schools: 
 

Education Spending - All Funds Estimated 

General Fund 
Operating 
Budget: 

    2026 Projections 

Debt     8,623,826 

Fringe     37,044,123 

School Salary 
Budget 

     97,794,501 

School 
Expense 
Budget 

    29,434,773 

Medicaid 
Program 

    336,492 

Out of District 
Transportation 

    82,045 

All Town 
Insurance 

    1,086,000 

Charter 
School, 
School Choice 
& Special 
Educ 

    9,607,869 

  Total General Fund 
Operating Budget 

  184,009,629 

Other 
Education 
Spending at 
Town Meeting: 

      

School Capital 
Budget - ATM 
& STM 

    7,675,063 

  Total Town Meeting 
Spending 

  191,684,692 

 
Yellow & Orange represent the budget areas that fall under the subcommittee.  
 
 

 

144



ARTICLE 6: 
 
 
ARTICLE 6: Water Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and 
appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses 
of the Town for the water enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month period 
beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $6,346,287 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $6,346,287 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Water Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the 
Indirect Cost for the Water Enterprise in the amount of $1,776,968. 
 
 

145



146



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee G - ENTERPRISE FUNDS – Steve Nearman (Chair), Gail 
Butler, Everett Malaguti, David Trudell 
 
Date:         February 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee G FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: WATER 
 
Budget Summary: 
 

 

Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Dept 
Equip Debt Service 

 
OPEB Budget 

Appropriation Indirect Costs Total Fund 
Expense 

Proposed 
FY2026 
Budget 

 
$1,748,895   $1,500,423  

 $             
-   $3,082,886  

 
 
$14,083  $6,346,287   $1,776,968   $8,122,255  

FY2025 
Revised 
Budget 

 
$1,710,721  $ 1,500,423 

 $             
-   $3,259,992 

 
 
$14,192  $6,485,328   $1,703,260  $8,188,588  

FY2024 
Actual 

 
$1,474,681  $1,107,121 

 $             
-   $2,237,626 

  
$13,321  $4,832,749   $1,621,014  $6,453,763  

            
 
Department Synopsis 
The Water Division of the DPW is responsible for the operation and maintenance of Plymouth’s water treatment, transmission and 
distribution systems, including 12 wells, 10 pump houses and 4 booster stations. The head of the 
Division is Peter Gordon, Water Superintendent. 
Budget Observations 
The primary source of revenue for this Enterprise Fund is from the rate payers who get their water from the Town. This revenue stream 
is strong and continues to grow. Costs are higher across the board, especially electricity, heat, propane and increased mandated water 
testing which is affected by continued increasing costs of chemicals. 
Mr. Gordon presented a level-funded budget for FY2026 for the total water enterprise fund, actually down 2.1% or $139,041. He stated 
that this includes a 2.4% rise in salaries and wages due to contractual increases, a 5.8% increase in longevity pay and a substantial 
11.34% increase in vacation earned time buyback.  
Initiatives & Opportunities 
The Department continues to work on development of Plymouth’s water supply and water delivery network, with the Select Board goal 
of identifying the location of a viable drinking water source in West Plymouth and South Plymouth. As the 
Town grows, so does the demand for water. As demand grows, new supplies must be secured. Sustainable  maintenance and growth 
of the system is a constant driving force of the Division. 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
     • Approval of the Select Board’s recommended budget for the Water Enterprise Fund. The Sub-committee voted 4-0 (Nearman, 
Butler, Malaguti, Trudell) to recommend to town meeting to approve Water budget. 
Comments / Other 
Actual expenses of the Enterprise Fund are higher than the annual budget appropriation because they include indirect costs that are 
budgeted to the General Fund and then charged back to the Enterprise Fund. Indirect costs 
include various costs and benefits associated with the employees of the Enterprise Fund. 
The Sub-Committee’s budget includes the indirect costs and the Total Fund Expense in the table above. 

147



148



ARTICLE 7: 
 
 
ARTICLE 7: Sewer Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and 
appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses 
of the Town for the sewer enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month period 
beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $8,977,272 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $8,977,272 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Sewer Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the 
Indirect Cost for the Sewer Enterprise in the amount of $511,173. 
 
 

149



150



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee G - ENTERPRISE FUNDS – Steve 
Nearman (Chair), Gail Butler, Everett Malaguti, David Trudell 
 
Date:         February 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee G FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: SEWER 
 
Budget Summary: 
 
          

 

Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Dept 
Equipment 

Debt 
Service OPEB Budget 

Appropriation 
Indirect 

Costs 
Total Fund 

Expense 

Proposed 
FY2026 
Budget  $409,647  

 
$5,674,866  $0 

 
$2,890,127  $2,632  $8,977,272  

 
$511,173 

 
$9,488,445   

FY2025 
Revised 
Budget  $402,657 

 
$5,613,976  $10,122 $2,565,591   $2,446   $8,594,792  

 
$520,500 

 
$9,115,292   

FY2024 
Actual  $356,320 

 
$4,805,990   

 
$2,582,188   $2,117  $7,746,615  

 
$454,438  

 
$8,201,053   

          
 
Department Synopsis 
The Sewer Division of the DPW is responsible for the operation and maintenance of the town’s sanitary sewer 
collection and treatment systems. The Division is headed by Waste Water Superintendent Doug Pinard. 

Budget Observations 
The primary source of revenue for the Enterprise Fund is the rates paid by the sewer system users. Fees paid by 
septage haulers are another significant source of revenue. Mr Pinard stated that the current state of the 
economy has made it a challenge to manage and keep pace with a level service budget while addressing 
the repairs, maintenance and processes required by the system. Some of the challenges stem from the 
age of the Plymouth sewer system.  
 
Budget shows increases due to increasing cost-of-living adjustments and increased costs for the waste 
water treatment plant due to increased costs of disposal. Mr Pinard proposed a 4.5% increase in the 
overall budget of the Sewer Enterprise fund. Personnel services rose 1.7%, other expenses rose 1.1% 
including a 2.5% rise in Repair and Maintenance. But the 12.6% increase ($374,600) in debt service 
short-term interest accounted for much of the overall rise. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
Mr. Pinard laid out six areas of focus – enhance, improve financial forecasting; develop a Comprehensive 
Wastewater Management Plan; implement a Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition System;; place security 
cameras to prevent continued destruction of property; working on a Corrective Action Plan to develop a schedule for 
identifying and addressing deficiencies in the sewer collection system, all 60 miles worth; and developing sewer 
regulations and rules.  
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
     • Approval of the Select Board’s recommended budget for the Sewer Enterprise Fund. The subcommittee voted 4-0 

151



(Nearman, Butler, Mlalaguti, Trudell) to recommend approval of this Sewer Enterprise Fund budget. 
Comments / Other 
Actual expenses of the Enterprise Fund are higher than the annual budget appropriation because they include 
indirect costs of $511,173 estimated for FY2026 that are budgeted to the General Fund and then charged back to the 
individual Enterprise Funds. Indirect costs include various costs and benefits associated with the employees of the 
Enterprise Fund. 
The Sub-Committee’s budget includes the indirect costs and the Total Fund Expense in the table above. 
 
 

152



ARTICLE 8: 
 
 
ARTICLE 8: Solid Waste Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and 
appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses 
of the Town for the solid waste enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month 
period beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
  
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $958,417 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $958,417 as detailed in Sub-Committee 
Report G – Solid Waste Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the Indirect 
Cost for the Solid Waste Enterprise in the amount of $430,722. 
 
 

153



154



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:  Budget Sub-Committee G - ENTERPRISE FUNDS – Steve 
Nearman (Chair), Gail Butler, Everett Malaguti and David Trudell 

Date:         February 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee G FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: SOLID WASTE OPERATIONS 

Budget Summary: 

Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Dept 
Equipment 

Debt 
Service OPEB Budget 

Appropriation 
Indirect 

Costs 
Total Fund 

Expense 

Proposed 
FY2026 
Budget  $343,132  $612,258  $               - 

 $         
-  $3,027        $958,417 $430,722 $1,389,139 

FY2025 
Revised 
Budget  $332,575  $597,342  $               - 

 $         
-  $2,495  $932,412 $361,756  $1,294,168 

FY2024 
Actual  $289,337  $493,124  $               - 

 $         
-  $2,675  $785,136 $328,923 $1,114,059 

Department Synopsis 
The Solid Waste Division of the Department of Public Works is responsible for the management, operation and 
maintenance of the Manomet Transfer Station with recycling, materials transport, administration of sticker sales, and 
violation processing. It has been headed by Bill Coyle, DPW Director. 
Budget Observations 
The $25,473 variance (2.7%) was due in part to an increase in wages of $10,557, according to Mr Coyle. Other 
expenses rose 2.5% or $15k, entirely due to the increase in Tipping fees for cash. This Sub-Committee believes this 
Enterprise Fund is well run. 
Use of the Manomet transfer station remains fairly consistent. However, challenges in the greater waste disposal and 
recycling industries continue to present themselves as well as rising expenses. Mr. Coyle stated that he has a focus 
on taking items out of the solid waste stream early in the process. 

Initiatives & Opportunities 
Neither the Department nor the Sub-Committee has identified any new initiatives. 
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 

• Approval of the Select Board’s recommended budget for the Solid Waste Operations Enterprise Fund. Sub-
committee voted of 4-0 (Nearman, Butler, Malaguti, Trudell) to recommend. 
Comments / Other 
Actual expenses of the Enterprise Fund are higher than the annual budget appropriation because they include 
indirect costs that are budgeted to the General Fund and then charged back to the Enterprise Fund. Indirect costs 
include various costs and benefits associated with the employees of the Enterprise Fund. 
The Sub-Committee’s budget includes the indirect costs and the Total Fund Expense in the table above. 

155



156



ARTICLE 9: 
 
 
ARTICLE 9: Airport Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will raise and 
appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying charges and expenses 
of the Town for the airport enterprise and debt and interest, for the ensuing twelve month period 
beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $3,802,724 (10-3-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $3,802,724 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Airport Enterprise. The Committee also recommends approval of the 
Indirect Cost for the Airport Enterprise in the amount of $433,477. 
 
 

157



158



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee G - ENTERPRISE FUNDS – Steve  Nearman (Chair), Gail 
Butler, Everett Malaguti, David Trudell 
 
Date:         February 10, 2025 
Subject: Sub-Committee G FY2026 Budget Review & Recommendations: Airport 
 
Budget Summary: 
 

 

Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Dept 
Equip. Debt Service OPEB Budget 

Appropriation 
Indirect 

Costs 
Total Fund 

Expense 

Proposed 
FY2026 
Budget  $   732,065 

 
$3,024,350  

 $           
-   $       40,650  $       5,659  $  3,802,724   $  433,477 

 
$4,236,201 

FY2025 
Revised 
Budget  $   724,074 

 
$2,974,850 

 $           
-   $       42,150  $       6,284  $  3,747,358  $  446,834  

 
$4,194,192 

FY2024 
Actual  $   665,668 

 
$1,936,180 

 $           
-   $       38,400  $       5,608  $  2,645,856  $  340,000 

 
$2,985,856 

         
  

 

Department Synopsis 
The Plymouth Municipal Airport, home to more than 30 businesses that collectively employ more than 250 people, 
has been in operation since 1934. Many of these businesses operate from privately constructed buildings located 
on Airport property, adding considerably to Plymouth’s tax base. The types of businesses range from flight schools 
and maintenance facilities to law enforcement and medical air ambulance services. 
Airport Manager Matt Cardillo met with Advisory & Finance Subcommittee G. 
The Airport Enterprise Fund provides for development, operation and maintenance of the Plymouth Municipal Airport in a safe, efficient 
and fiscally responsible manner that promotes general aviation. The airport helps stimulate the local economy and supports the 
community. Airport management is responsible for adhering to all federal, state and local regulations. Revenue for the operation of the 
airport is primarily generated through sale of aviation fuel to aircraft owners (approximately 80% of total revenue), landing and tie-down 
fees, and land leases. 
Budget Observations 
Mr Cardillo is proposing a very modest 1.5% increase in FY26 over the previous year, with personnel services costs up just 1.1%. 
Proposed wages increase $7,991, due to step increases and cost of living increases per the OPEIU and COBRA contracts. 
 
Revenue is based primarily on two streams of income – fuel sales and land leases. The airport has eight full-time and one part-time 
employees.  
 
Mr Cardillo said that expenses will rise 1.5% due to sewer maintenance, a new line item added due to the airport when it upgraded its 
wastewater treatment plant. That line item grew from $50,000 to $100,000. Heat and electric utility cost also will be increased to 
accommodate for higher utility rates.  
 

Initiatives & Opportunities 

None were identified.  
Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 

159



• Approval of the Select Board’s recommended budget for the Airport Enterprise Fund by a vote of 4-0 (Nearman, Butler, Malaguti,
Trudell) 
Comments / Other 
Actual expenses of the Enterprise Fund are higher than the annual budget appropriation because they include 
indirect costs that are budgeted to the General Fund and then charged back to the Enterprise Fund. Indirect costs 
include various costs and benefits associated with the employees of the Enterprise Fund. 
The Sub-Committee’s budget includes the indirect costs and the Total Fund Expense in the table above. 

160



ARTICLE 10: 
 
 
ARTICLE 10: Cable Public Access Enterprise Operating Budget 
To see what action the Town will take to determine what sums of money the Town will 
raise and appropriate, including appropriations from available funds, toward defraying 
charges and expenses of the Town for the cable public access enterprise and debt and 
interest, for the ensuing twelve month period beginning July 1, 2025, or take any other 
action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,545,000 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends approval of this section of the Budget and 
recommends Town Meeting approve an appropriation of $1,545,000 as detailed in Sub-
Committee Report G – Cable Public Access Enterprise. 
 
 

161



162



To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
From:   Budget Sub-Committee G - ENTERPRISE FUNDS – Steve  
Nearman (Chair), Gail Butler, Joe Lalley (not present) 
 
Date:         February 12, 2024 
Subject: Sub-Committee G FY2025 Budget Review & Recommendations: Cable Access 
 
Budget Summary: 
 

 

Personnel 
Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Dept 
Equipment 

Debt 
Service OPEB Budget 

Appropriation 
Total Fund 

Expense 

Proposed 
FY2025 
Budget 

 $                  
-   $ 1,540,000   $      5,000  

 $                  
-  

 $                  
-   $  1,545,000   $1,545,000  

FY2024 
Revised 
Budget 

 $                  
-   $ 1,556,000   $      5,000  

 $                  
-  

 $                  
-   $  1,561,000   $1,561,000  

FY2023 
Actual 

 $                  
-   $ 1,486,150  

   
$2,362  

 $                  
-  

 $                  
-   $  1,488,512  $1,488,512  

 
Department Synopsis 
This Fund acts principally as a financial pass-through fund for receipts received from Verizon and Comcast. The 
monies are derived from fees received from their customers for cable usage. Those receipts are disbursed to 
PACTV and the Plymouth Public Schools for costs associated with governmental and educational programming 
produced by those organizations. The Fund also receives approximately $10,000 annually in franchise fees that are 
retained by the Town. Some $5,000 is budgeted for legal fees for negotiating contracts with Verizon and Comcast. 

Budget Observations 
The bulk of the funds received by the Fund are transmitted to PACTV and the Plymouth Public Schools to support 
public access television production. Revenue is generated from Verizon and Comcast and continues to steadily 
decline due to the increasing popularity of streaming services over versus services. 
 
Initiatives & Opportunities 

None were identified.  

Recommendations 
The Sub-Committee recommends: 
     • Approval of the Select Board’s recommended budget for the Cable Access Enterprise Fund by 2-0 vote (Nearman 
and Butler). 

163



Comments / Other 

The Sub-Committee’s budget DOES NOT include indirect 
costs as this Enterprise Fund is not apportioned such 
costs. 
 
 
 

164



CA
BL

E 
EN

TE
RP

RI
SE

 F
UN

D

Ve
nd

or
De

sc
rip

tio
n

Fi
sc

al
 2

01
8

Fi
sc

al
 2

01
9

Fi
sc

al
 2

02
0

Fi
sc

al
 2

02
1

Fi
sc

al
 2

02
2

Fi
sc

al
 2

02
3

Fi
sc

al
 2

02
4

Fi
sc

al
 2

02
5 

YT
D

Co
m

ca
st

An
nu

al
 (u

su
al

ly
 F

eb
ru

ar
y)

5,
81

6.
00

   
   

   
 

5,
93

7.
00

   
   

   
 

6,
05

1.
00

   
   

   
5,

97
5.

00
   

   
   

 
5,

76
1.

50
   

   
   

 
5,

38
6.

50
   

   
   

 
4,

97
7.

00
   

   
   

 
Co

m
ca

st
Ap

ril
, M

ay
, J

un
e

18
0,

08
5.

26
   

   
18

9,
53

0.
10

   
  

19
2,

86
7.

14
   

  
19

4,
60

3.
40

   
   

20
0,

40
8.

35
   

   
21

7,
58

1.
00

   
   

21
7,

34
4.

84
   

   
20

4,
03

1.
87

   
   

Co
m

ca
st

Ju
ly

, A
ug

us
t, 

Se
pt

20
0,

02
4.

28
   

   
19

3,
93

4.
23

   
  

19
6,

08
0.

83
   

  
20

2,
34

7.
91

   
   

20
9,

64
8.

75
   

   
21

9,
21

7.
75

   
   

21
3,

32
0.

83
   

   
19

5,
75

6.
90

   
   

Co
m

ca
st

O
ct

, N
ov

, D
ec

20
2,

59
5.

83
   

   
19

1,
99

9.
95

   
  

19
3,

11
4.

86
   

  
19

9,
31

5.
88

   
   

20
9,

05
8.

14
   

   
21

4,
46

2.
67

   
   

20
7,

90
9.

16
   

   
Co

m
ca

st
Ja

n,
 F

eb
, M

ar
ch

19
3,

09
2.

64
   

   
18

4,
72

0.
43

   
  

19
2,

44
1.

55
   

  
19

9,
90

2.
65

   
   

21
2,

13
5.

30
   

   
21

1,
92

9.
85

   
   

20
1,

47
3.

41
   

   
Ve

riz
on

An
nu

al
 (U

su
al

ly
 M

ar
ch

)
5,

33
5.

50
   

   
   

 
5,

16
3.

00
   

   
   

 
4,

97
6.

50
   

   
   

4,
71

5.
50

   
   

   
 

4,
47

5.
00

   
   

   
 

4,
16

2.
00

   
   

   
 

3,
94

4.
50

   
   

   
 

Ve
riz

on
Ap

ril
, M

ay
, J

un
e

16
1,

35
8.

26
   

   
17

6,
24

4.
95

   
  

18
0,

67
5.

63
   

  
16

6,
81

2.
77

   
   

16
0,

34
4.

91
   

   
15

9,
69

1.
66

   
   

15
6,

73
9.

28
   

   
15

6,
22

4.
99

   
   

Ve
riz

on
Ju

ly
, A

ug
us

t, 
Se

pt
18

2,
43

8.
97

   
   

17
7,

22
7.

01
   

  
17

8,
39

5.
13

   
  

16
5,

64
8.

25
   

   
16

7,
85

1.
23

   
   

14
6,

47
9.

60
   

   
15

9,
17

6.
59

   
   

15
6,

45
6.

01
   

   
Ve

riz
on

O
ct

, N
ov

, D
ec

18
4,

11
7.

85
   

   
17

7,
03

2.
71

   
  

17
5,

40
6.

20
   

  
16

4,
76

7.
79

   
   

16
7,

93
6.

11
   

   
15

7,
90

3.
52

   
   

15
6,

51
9.

99
   

   
Ve

riz
on

Ja
n,

 F
eb

, M
ar

ch
17

7,
56

7.
98

   
   

15
7,

24
2.

07
   

  
15

4,
43

0.
76

   
  

14
8,

89
4.

32
   

   
15

1,
19

0.
96

   
   

14
1,

36
7.

66
   

   
14

2,
01

1.
17

   
   

O
th

er
30

0.
00

   
   

   
   

  
To

ta
l R

ev
en

ue
s

1,
49

2,
43

2.
57

  
1,

45
9,

03
1.

45
  

1,
47

4,
43

9.
60

 
1,

45
3,

28
3.

47
  

1,
48

8,
81

0.
25

  
1,

47
8,

18
2.

21
  

1,
46

3,
41

6.
77

  
71

2,
46

9.
77

   
   

%
 Y

ea
r o

ve
r Y

ea
r

-2
.2

4%
1.

06
%

-1
.4

3%
2.

44
%

-0
.7

1%
-1

.0
0%

-5
1.

31
%

PA
CT

V
Co

nt
ra

ct
ed

 S
er

vi
ce

s 3
.3

%
97

7,
64

5.
50

   
   

95
5,

63
4.

78
   

  
96

5,
85

1.
96

   
  

95
1,

91
3.

28
   

   
97

5,
85

8.
83

   
   

96
9,

29
8.

18
   

   
95

9,
96

6.
84

   
   

47
0,

23
0.

05
   

   
Sc

ho
ol

s (
Fu

nd
 2

44
6)

Co
nt

ra
ct

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s  

1.
7%

50
3,

63
5.

57
   

   
49

2,
29

6.
67

   
  

49
7,

56
0.

34
   

  
49

0,
37

9.
69

   
   

50
2,

71
5.

18
   

   
49

9,
33

5.
53

   
   

49
4,

52
8.

43
   

   
24

2,
23

9.
71

   
   

KP
 La

w
Le

ga
l S

er
vi

ce
s

1,
64

0.
00

   
   

   
 

17
,5

15
.8

0
   

   
  

Se
an

 M
ul

lin
Su

rv
ey

 E
xp

en
se

s
37

1.
37

   
   

   
   

  
PA

CT
V

Ca
pi

ta
l E

qu
ip

m
en

t -
 C

ou
rt

 R
oo

m
10

0,
00

0.
00

   
   

25
9.

80
   

   
   

   
 

2,
36

2.
48

   
   

   
 

To
ta

l E
xp

en
di

tu
re

s
1,

58
1,

28
1.

07
  

1,
44

8,
19

1.
25

  
1,

46
3,

41
2.

30
 

1,
44

2,
29

2.
97

  
1,

48
0,

58
5.

38
  

1,
48

8,
51

1.
99

  
1,

45
4,

49
5.

27
  

71
2,

46
9.

76
   

   

Fu
nd

 B
al

an
ce

 6
80

1
Be

gi
nn

in
g 

of
 Y

ea
r

13
0,

85
5.

06
   

   
42

,0
06

.5
6

   
   

 
52

,8
46

.7
6

   
   

 
63

,8
74

.0
6

   
   

  
74

,8
64

.5
6

   
   

  
83

,0
89

.4
3

   
   

  
72

,7
59

.6
5

   
   

  
Fu

nd
 B

al
an

ce
 6

80
1

En
d 

of
 Y

ea
r

42
,0

06
.5

6
   

   
  

52
,8

46
.7

6
   

   
 

63
,8

74
.0

6
   

   
 

74
,8

64
.5

6
   

   
  

83
,0

89
.4

3
   

   
  

72
,7

59
.6

5
   

   
  

81
,6

81
.1

5
   

   
  

0.
01

   
   

   
   

   
   

G 
Fu

nd
 B

al
an

ce
 o

n 
ha

nd
 a

t P
AC

TV
 / 

Lo
ca

l S
ee

n
38

,0
66

.8
8

   
   

  
40

,7
66

.9
0

   
   

  
35

,2
12

.0
6

Up
da

te
d 

1/
21

/2
02

5

165



166



ARTICLE 11: 
 
 
ARTICLE 11: Facility Capital Stabilization Fund  
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds a sum of 
money to the Facility Capital Maintenance Stabilization Fund, as authorized by the provisions of 
G.L. c. 40, §5B as amended, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $500,000 (Unanimous, 11-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 11. Approval 
of this article will authorize the Town to raise and appropriate from the levy to the Facility 
Capital Maintenance Stabilization Fund for future use as it relates to capital maintenance of 
Town owned buildings.  
 
 

167



168



TO:   ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS 

FROM:  DEREK BRINDISI  
  TOWN MANAGER  

SUBJECT: FACILITY CAPITAL MAINTENANCE STABILIZATION FUND 

DATE:  DECEMBER 18, 2024 

The following Article is being proposed for the Spring Annual Town Meeting: 

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds a 
sum of money to the Facility Capital Maintenance Stabilization, as authorized by the 
provisions of G.L. c. 40, §5B as amended, or take any other action relative thereto. 

The budget proposal for fiscal 2026 addresses many of the Fiscal 2025 Select 
Board Goals, in addition to the budget, we specifically recommend setting aside 
$500,000 of General Fund revenues for the Facility Capital Maintenance Fund. 

The current balance in the fund is $6.7 million, this fund would be used as another 
funding source for facility capital infrastructure requests in addition to free cash 
and borrowing. 

Thank you for your consideration of this matter. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10104 

 

169



170



ARTICLE 12: 
 
 
ARTICLE 12: Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund  
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds a sum of 
money to the Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund, as authorized by the provisions of G.L. c. 40, 
§5B as amended, or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Not Recommended (4-8-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting does not approve Article 12 
Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund. For the second year in a row, many of the Committee 
members felt that the fund wasn’t being used for it’s intended purpose, tax relief, and therefore 
doesn’t recommend putting additional funds into the Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund when 
there is a current balance over $9.7 million.  
 
 

171



172



TO:   ADVISORY & FINANCE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS 

FROM:  DEREK BRINDISI  
  TOWN MANAGER  

SUBJECT: NUCLEAR MITIGATION STABILIZATION FUND  

DATE:  DECEMBER 18, 2024 

The following Article is being proposed for the Spring Annual Town Meeting: 

To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate or transfer from available funds a 
sum of money to the Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund, as authorized by the 
provisions of G.L. c. 40, §5B as amended, or take any other action relative thereto. 

The budget proposal for fiscal 2026 addresses many of the Fiscal 2025 Select 
Board Goals, in addition to the budget, we specifically recommend setting aside 
$500,000 of General Fund revenues to the Nuclear Mitigation Stabilization Fund.  

The current balance is this fund is $9.9 million and additional revenues will put the 
town in a healthier position when the Holtec properties become available. 

Thank you for your consideration of this matter. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10104 

 

173



174



ARTICLE 13: 
 
 
ARTICLE 13: Capital Improvements 
To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate, transfer from available funds or borrow a 
sum of money for the construction and/or repair and/or purchase and/or lease and/or replacement 
of departmental buildings and/or equipment and/or capital facilities for various departments of the 
Town and/or for feasibility and other types of studies, including the payment of costs incidental or 
related thereto, and to authorize contracts or lease/purchase agreements for such purposes for terms 
of three or more years, as follows,  
 

ITEM DEPARTMENT PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
A1 123 - Town Manager 1749 Courthouse 
A2 155 - Information Technology Fiber Over Lash Phase 3 
A3 155 - Information Technology Strategic Plan Refresh 
A4 155 - Information Technology Document Digitization Phase 3 
A5 210 - Police Property/Evidence Climate Control 
A6 210 - Police Feasibility Study for Police HQ 
A7 210 - Police Armored Vehicle Replacement 
A8 220 - Fire Replace and Equip Command Vehicles 
A9 295 - Harbormaster Town Wharf Extension 
A10 295 - Harbormaster 34' Calvin Beal - Refit 
A11 300 - School  PCIS Fire Alarm System Upgrade 
A12 300 - School  PNHS Main Entry Drain Install 
A13 300 - School  Purchase 7D Van 
A14 300 - School  Purchase School Bus 
A15 300 - School  SES Replacement of Remaining RTUs and Controls 
A16 300 - School  PCIS Parking Lot Pave/Stripe 
A17 300 - School  MES Replace Rubber Roof (Added Scope) 
A18 300 - School  District-Wide HVAC Repairs 
A19 300 - School  District-Wide Roofing Assessments and Repairs 
A20 300 - School  Admin Building Generator Replacement 
A21 300 - School  SES Final Asphalt Coat of Side Parking Lot 
A22 300 - School  PNHS Soccer Turf Replacement 
A23 300 - School  WES Ball Courts / Sidewalk Repave & Stripe 
A24 300 - School  NMES Stairwell Renovations 
A25 300 - School  PSHS Maintenance Garage 
A26 300 - School  Admin Building Exterior Repairs & Cupola 
A27 300 - School  FFES Multi-Use Tractor 
A28 411 - DPW Engineering Roadway Improvement Program & Preservation 
A29 420 - DPW Highway Replace 2008 F550 Bucket Truck 
A30 420 - DPW Highway New Roadside Mower 
A31 420 - DPW Highway Replace F350 Utility Body 

175



A32 420 - DPW Highway Replace 2014 John Deere Skid Steer 
A33 422 - DPW Facility Maintenance FS1 HQ Brick Repointing 
A34 422 - DPW Facility Maintenance PD HQ Locker Room / Restroom Renovation 
A35 491 - DPW Cemetery White Horse Cemetery Easement Construction 
A36 492 - DPW Parks & Forestry Reconstructing Tennis Courts - Briggs & Elmer Raymond 
A37 492 - DPW Parks & Forestry Replace Utility Pickup Truck #23 
A38 541 - Center For Active Living Moving Wall Replacement 
A39 630 - Recreation Forges Field Pickleball Court Drainage/Pathway 
A40 440 - DPW Sewer Sewer System Improvements 
A41 440 - DPW Sewer Truck Replacement #S55 
A42 450 - DPW Water Distribution System Improvements 
A43 450 - DPW Water Water System Improvements 
B1 220 - Fire Replace and Equip 2006 Aerial Platform 
B2 220 - Fire Replace and Equip 2007 Pumping Engine 
B3 440 - DPW Sewer CMOM Program 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $21,738,444 (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 13. The Town 
Manager recommended funding $21,738,444 worth of capital items requested for FY26. The 
Advisory & Finance Committee agrees with this recommendation. (See pages 24-27 for the CIC 
spreadsheet). The recommended capital items fall within the following two overarching categories: 

• General Fund items totaling $19,228,444 to be funded with $12,746,886 from Free 
Cash, $3,469,761 from borrowing, $2,650,000 from General Fund Revenues, $59,330 
from Transportation Network Fee Fund, $100,000 from Fire Prevention Revolving Fund, 
and $202,467 from a Police Department Grant that does not require Town Meeting 
appropriation, 

• Enterprise Fund items totaling $2,510,000 to be funded with $360,000 from Sewer 
Enterprise Fund Retained Earnings, $850,000 from Water Enterprise Fund Retained 
Earnings, and $1,300,000 from borrowing. 

 

176



 

 
TO:   SELECT BOARD  
  ADVISORY & FINANCE COMMITTEE 
  TOWN MEETING MEMBERS  
 
FROM:  LYNNE A. BARRETT 
  DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE 
 
SUBJECT: ATM ARTICLE 13 – CAPITAL REQUESTS &     
  RECOMMENDED PROJECTS 
 
DATE:  JANUARY 21, 2025  
 

 
The Capital Improvements Committee reviewed and ranked projects from all funds at their 
meeting of January 13, 2025. The attached spreadsheet includes the CIC ranking and the Town 
Managers’ recommendations with the appropriate funding sources of all the Department 
Requests. One of the lists is sorted by rank and the other list is sorted by ATM Article 13 and the 
STM. The department requests and backup can be accessed using the following link on the 
Town’s website:  
 
https://plymouth-ma.gov/1374/2025-SPRING-ANNUAL-TOWN-MEETING-FY26-SAT 
 
 
The following is being recommended as the funding sources for Article 13 of the Annual Town 
Meeting: 
  
Free Cash       $   12,746,886 
Borrowing       $     4,769,761 
General Fund Revenues     $     2,650,000 
Transportation Network Fee Fund    $          59,330 
Fire Prevention Revolving Fund    $        100,000 
Police Department Grant     $        202,467 
Sewer Retained Earnings     $        360,000        
Water Retained Earnings     $        850,000    
Grand Total – Article 13     $   21,738,444 
 
 
Thank you for your support of Annual Article 13 capital requests. There will be separate 
communication regarding the Special Town Meeting Articles. 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
ACCOUNTING & FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

26 COURT STREET, PLYMOUTH, MA  02360 
PHONE (508) 747-1620 EXTENSION 10177 

 
 

177



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
an

ag
er

 R
ev

 - 
AT

M
 1

3 
&

 S
TM

Ar
tic

le
 #

 a
t 

AT
M

De
pa

rt
m

en
t

Fu
nd

De
pt

 
Pr

io
rit

y
Pr

oj
ec

t T
itl

e
CI

C 
Ra

nk
To

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 

Co
st

TM
 

Re
co

m
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

 S
ou

rc
e 

13
12

3 
- T

ow
n 

M
an

ag
er

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
17

49
 C

ou
rt

ho
us

e
24

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

13
15

5 
- I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Fi
be

r O
ve

r L
as

h 
Ph

as
e 

3
6

$2
50

,0
00

$2
50

,0
00

$2
50

,0
00

13
15

5 
- I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

St
ra

te
gi

c P
la

n 
Re

fre
sh

22
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
13

15
5 

- I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Do

cu
m

en
t D

ig
iti

za
tio

n 
Ph

as
e 

3
23

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ic

e
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Pr
op

er
ty

/E
vi

de
nc

e 
Cl

im
at

e 
Co

nt
ro

l
5

$6
7,

85
0

$6
7,

85
0

$6
7,

85
0

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ic

e
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

Fe
as

ib
ili

ty
 S

tu
dy

 fo
r P

ol
ice

 H
Q

8
$1

50
,0

00
$1

50
,0

00
$1

50
,0

00
13

21
0 

- P
ol

ic
e

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Ar

m
or

ed
 V

eh
icl

e 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t
35

$4
04

,9
34

$4
04

,9
34

$2
02

,4
67

$2
02

,4
67

 S
RH

SC
 G

ra
nt

 

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

06
 A

er
ia

l 
Pl

at
fo

rm
3

$2
,2

83
,4

67
$2

,2
83

,4
67

$2
,2

83
,4

67

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

07
 P

um
pi

ng
 

En
gi

ne
10

$1
,1

86
,2

94
$1

,1
86

,2
94

$1
,1

86
,2

94

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
Co

m
m

an
d 

Ve
hi

cle
s

32
$1

66
,2

38
$1

66
,2

38
$6

6,
23

8
$1

00
,0

00
 F

ire
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
Re

vo
lv

in
g 

13
29

5 
- H

ar
bo

rm
as

te
r

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
To

w
n 

W
ha

rf 
Ex

te
ns

io
n

16
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
13

29
5 

- H
ar

bo
rm

as
te

r
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

34
' C

al
vi

n 
Be

al
 - 

Re
fit

17
$1

20
,0

00
$1

20
,0

00
$1

20
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

4
PC

IS
 F

ire
 A

la
rm

 S
ys

te
m

 U
pg

ra
de

2
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

12
PN

HS
 M

ai
n 

En
tr

y 
Dr

ai
n 

In
st

al
l

9
$3

3,
65

3
$3

3,
65

3
$3

3,
65

3
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

10
Pu

rc
ha

se
 7

D 
Va

n
12

$8
8,

76
5

$8
8,

76
5

$8
8,

76
5

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
9

Pu
rc

ha
se

 S
ch

oo
l B

us
13

$1
47

,3
02

$1
47

,3
02

$1
47

,3
02

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
18

SE
S 

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f R
em

ai
ni

ng
 R

TU
s 

an
d 

Co
nt

ro
ls

18
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
7

PC
IS

 P
ar

ki
ng

 Lo
t P

av
e/

St
rip

e
19

$1
,1

96
,0

00
$1

,1
96

,0
00

$1
,1

96
,0

00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

M
ES

 R
ep

la
ce

 R
ub

be
r R

oo
f (

Ad
de

d 
Sc

op
e)

20
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Di

st
ric

t-W
id

e 
HV

AC
 R

ep
ai

rs
21

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
8

Di
st

ric
t-W

id
e 

Ro
of

in
g 

As
se

ss
m

en
ts

 
an

d 
Re

pa
irs

25
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
17

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ge
ne

ra
to

r 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t
27

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
15

SE
S 

Fi
na

l A
sp

ha
lt 

Co
at

 o
f S

id
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t

28
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

6
PN

HS
 S

oc
ce

r T
ur

f R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
30

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
14

W
ES

 B
al

l C
ou

rt
s /

 S
id

ew
al

k 
Re

pa
ve

 &
 

St
rip

e
36

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
16

NM
ES

 S
ta

irw
el

l R
en

ov
at

io
ns

40
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

5
PS

HS
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 G

ar
ag

e
42

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
13

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ex
te

rio
r R

ep
ai

rs
 &

 
Cu

po
la

43
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

11
FF

ES
 M

ul
ti-

Us
e 

Tr
ac

to
r

45
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1

13
41

1 
- D

PW
 E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Ro
ad

w
ay

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
gr

am
 &

 
Pr

es
er

va
tio

n
11

$5
,0

00
,0

00
$5

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,2

90
,6

70

$2
,7

09
,3

30

 R
ai

se
 &

 
Ap

pr
op

ria
te

 G
F 

Re
ve

nu
es

 &
 

TN
C 

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Re
pl

ac
e 

20
08

 F
55

0 
Bu

ck
et

 T
ru

ck
14

$2
67

,6
23

$2
67

,6
23

$2
67

,6
23

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Ne
w

 R
oa

ds
id

e 
M

ow
er

31
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21
13

42
0 

- D
PW

 H
ig

hw
ay

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

pl
ac

e 
F3

50
 U

til
ity

 B
od

y
46

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
e 

20
14

 Jo
hn

 D
ee

re
 S

ki
d 

St
ee

r
47

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

178



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
an

ag
er

 R
ev

 - 
AT

M
 1

3 
&

 S
TM

Ar
tic

le
 #

 a
t 

AT
M

De
pa

rt
m

en
t

Fu
nd

De
pt

 
Pr

io
rit

y
Pr

oj
ec

t T
itl

e
CI

C 
Ra

nk
To

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 

Co
st

TM
 

Re
co

m
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

 S
ou

rc
e 

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

FS
1 

HQ
 B

ric
k 

Re
po

in
tin

g
29

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

PD
 H

Q
 Lo

ck
er

 R
oo

m
 / 

Re
st

ro
om

 
Re

no
va

tio
n

41
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90

13
49

1 
- D

PW
 C

em
et

er
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
W

hi
te

 H
or

se
 C

em
et

er
y 

Ea
se

m
en

t 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n
39

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

co
ns

tr
uc

tin
g 

Te
nn

is 
Co

ur
ts

 - 
Br

ig
gs

 
&

 E
lm

er
 R

ay
m

on
d

15
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
13

49
2 

- D
PW

 P
ar

ks
 &

 F
or

es
tr

y
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Re
pl

ac
e 

Ut
ili

ty
 P

ick
up

 T
ru

ck
 #

23
38

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

13
54

1 
- C

en
te

r F
or

 A
ct

iv
e 

Li
vi

ng
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

M
ov

in
g 

W
al

l R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
37

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

13
63

0 
- R

ec
re

at
io

n
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Fo
rg

es
 F

ie
ld

 P
ick

le
ba

ll 
Co

ur
t 

Dr
ai

na
ge

/P
at

hw
ay

34
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
1

CM
O

M
 P

ro
gr

am
1

$1
,3

00
,0

00
$1

,3
00

,0
00

$1
,3

00
,0

00
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
2

Se
w

er
 S

ys
te

m
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
2

$2
00

,0
00

$2
00

,0
00

$2
00

,0
00

13
44

0 
- D

PW
 S

ew
er

Se
w

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

3
Tr

uc
k 

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t #

S5
5

3
$1

60
,0

00
$1

60
,0

00
$1

60
,0

00

13
45

0 
- D

PW
 W

at
er

W
at

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

1
Di

st
rib

ut
io

n 
Sy

st
em

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

1
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
13

45
0 

- D
PW

 W
at

er
W

at
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
2

W
at

er
 S

ys
te

m
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
2

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

13
 T

ot
al

$2
1,

73
8,

44
4

$2
1,

73
8,

44
4

$1
2,

74
6,

88
6

$4
,7

69
,7

61
$1

,2
10

,0
00

$3
,0

11
,7

97
ST

M
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Co
ld

 S
pr

in
g 

/ H
ES

 S
tu

dy
1

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Je
nn

ey
 P

on
d 

Da
m

 R
ep

ai
rs

/B
yp

as
s 

Ch
an

ne
l

4
$6

,7
38

,5
00

$6
,7

38
,5

00
$6

,7
38

,5
00

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

M
or

to
n 

Pa
rk

 C
ul

ve
rt

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
7

$5
,3

83
,5

00
$5

,3
83

,5
00

$5
,3

83
,5

00

 F
ed

er
al

 
Hi

gh
w

ay
 A

dm
in

 
$2

 m
ill

io
n 

po
te

nt
ia

l g
ra

nt
 

to
 re

du
ce

 
bo

rr
ow

in
g 

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f V
eh

icl
e

33
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

Af
fa

irs
 F

un
d 

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

En
gi

ne
er

in
g 

fo
r B

la
ck

 C
at

 B
og

 
Re

st
or

at
io

n
44

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
Af

fa
irs

 F
un

d 
ST

M
 T

ot
al

$1
4,

27
3,

04
8

$1
4,

27
3,

04
8

$0
$1

4,
12

2,
00

0
$0

$1
51

,0
48

Gr
an

d 
To

ta
l

$3
6,

01
1,

49
2

$3
6,

01
1,

49
2

$1
2,

74
6,

88
6

$1
8,

89
1,

76
1

$1
,2

10
,0

00
$3

,1
62

,8
45

179



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
ng

r R
ev

ie
w

 - 
by

 C
IC

 R
an

k

Ar
tic

le
 

# 
at

 
AT

M
De

pa
rt

m
en

t
Fu

nd
De

pt
 

Pr
io

rit
y

Pr
oj

ec
t T

itl
e

CI
C 

Ra
nk

To
ta

l P
ro

je
ct

 
Co

st
TM

 R
ec

om
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

So
ur

ce
ST

M
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Co
ld

 S
pr

in
g 

/ H
ES

 S
tu

dy
1

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

4
PC

IS
 F

ire
 A

la
rm

 S
ys

te
m

 U
pg

ra
de

2
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51
$1

04
,2

51

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

06
 A

er
ia

l 
Pl

at
fo

rm
3

$2
,2

83
,4

67
$2

,2
83

,4
67

$2
,2

83
,4

67

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Je
nn

ey
 P

on
d 

Da
m

 R
ep

ai
rs

/B
yp

as
s 

Ch
an

ne
l

4
$6

,7
38

,5
00

$6
,7

38
,5

00
$6

,7
38

,5
00

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ice

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Pr

op
er

ty
/E

vi
de

nc
e 

Cl
im

at
e 

Co
nt

ro
l

5
$6

7,
85

0
$6

7,
85

0
$6

7,
85

0
13

15
5 

- I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Fi

be
r O

ve
r L

as
h 

Ph
as

e 
3

6
$2

50
,0

00
$2

50
,0

00
$2

50
,0

00

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

M
or

to
n 

Pa
rk

 C
ul

ve
rt

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
7

$5
,3

83
,5

00
$5

,3
83

,5
00

$5
,3

83
,5

00

 F
ed

er
al

 
Hi

gh
w

ay
 A

dm
in

 
$2

 m
ill

io
n 

po
te

nt
ia

l g
ra

nt
 

to
 re

du
ce

 
bo

rr
ow

in
g 

13
21

0 
- P

ol
ice

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Fe

as
ib

ili
ty

 S
tu

dy
 fo

r P
ol

ice
 H

Q
8

$1
50

,0
00

$1
50

,0
00

$1
50

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
12

PN
HS

 M
ai

n 
En

tr
y 

Dr
ai

n 
In

st
al

l
9

$3
3,

65
3

$3
3,

65
3

$3
3,

65
3

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
20

07
 P

um
pi

ng
 

En
gi

ne
10

$1
,1

86
,2

94
$1

,1
86

,2
94

$1
,1

86
,2

94

$2
,6

50
,0

00

 R
ai

se
 &

 
Ap

pr
op

ria
te

 G
F 

Re
ve

nu
es

 

$5
9,

33
0

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

Ne
tw

or
k 

Fe
e 

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
10

Pu
rc

ha
se

 7
D 

Va
n

12
$8

8,
76

5
$8

8,
76

5
$8

8,
76

5
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

9
Pu

rc
ha

se
 S

ch
oo

l B
us

13
$1

47
,3

02
$1

47
,3

02
$1

47
,3

02
13

42
0 

- D
PW

 H
ig

hw
ay

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Re

pl
ac

e 
20

08
 F

55
0 

Bu
ck

et
 T

ru
ck

14
$2

67
,6

23
$2

67
,6

23
$2

67
,6

23

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

co
ns

tr
uc

tin
g 

Te
nn

is 
Co

ur
ts

 - 
Br

ig
gs

 
&

 E
lm

er
 R

ay
m

on
d

15
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
$8

01
,0

60
13

29
5 

- H
ar

bo
rm

as
te

r
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

To
w

n 
W

ha
rf 

Ex
te

ns
io

n
16

$7
50

,0
00

$7
50

,0
00

$7
50

,0
00

13
29

5 
- H

ar
bo

rm
as

te
r

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
34

' C
al

vi
n 

Be
al

 - 
Re

fit
17

$1
20

,0
00

$1
20

,0
00

$1
20

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
18

SE
S 

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f R
em

ai
ni

ng
 R

TU
s 

an
d 

Co
nt

ro
ls

18
$2

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,0

00
,0

00
$2

,0
00

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
7

PC
IS

 P
ar

ki
ng

 Lo
t P

av
e/

St
rip

e
19

$1
,1

96
,0

00
$1

,1
96

,0
00

$1
,1

96
,0

00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

M
ES

 R
ep

la
ce

 R
ub

be
r R

oo
f (

Ad
de

d 
Sc

op
e)

20
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
$2

40
,0

00
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Di

st
ric

t-W
id

e 
HV

AC
 R

ep
ai

rs
21

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

13
15

5 
- I

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

St
ra

te
gi

c P
la

n 
Re

fre
sh

22
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
$5

0,
00

0
13

15
5 

- I
nf

or
m

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Do

cu
m

en
t D

ig
iti

za
tio

n 
Ph

as
e 

3
23

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

$3
98

,5
00

13
12

3 
- T

ow
n 

M
an

ag
er

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
17

49
 C

ou
rt

ho
us

e
24

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

$3
9,

43
4

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
8

Di
st

ric
t-W

id
e 

Ro
of

in
g 

As
se

ss
m

en
ts

 
an

d 
Re

pa
irs

25
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0
$5

1,
95

0

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
Tr

ai
ni

ng
 G

re
en

 A
DA

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 &
 

Up
gr

ad
es

26
$7

44
,0

00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
17

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ge
ne

ra
to

r 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t
27

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

$1
10

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
15

SE
S 

Fi
na

l A
sp

ha
lt 

Co
at

 o
f S

id
e 

Pa
rk

in
g 

Lo
t

28
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5
$5

1,
97

5

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

FS
1 

HQ
 B

ric
k 

Re
po

in
tin

g
29

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

$1
61

,7
10

Pr
oj

ec
t R

ec
om

m
en

de
d 

fo
r C

PC
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
th

is 
sp

rin
g 

fo
r t

he
 fa

ll 
to

w
n 

m
ee

tin
g 

bu
t r

an
ke

d 
at

 th
is 

tim
e.

13
41

1 
- D

PW
 E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Ro
ad

w
ay

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
gr

am
 &

 
Pr

es
er

va
tio

n
11

$5
,0

00
,0

00
$5

,0
00

,0
00

$2
,2

90
,6

70

180



To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
To

w
n 

M
ng

r R
ev

ie
w

 - 
by

 C
IC

 R
an

k

Ar
tic

le
 

# 
at

 
AT

M
De

pa
rt

m
en

t
Fu

nd
De

pt
 

Pr
io

rit
y

Pr
oj

ec
t T

itl
e

CI
C 

Ra
nk

To
ta

l P
ro

je
ct

 
Co

st
TM

 R
ec

om
m

en
ds

Fr
ee

 C
as

h
Bo

rr
ow

in
g

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Re

ta
in

ed
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g

So
ur

ce
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

6
PN

HS
 S

oc
ce

r T
ur

f R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
30

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

$7
63

,1
58

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Ne
w

 R
oa

ds
id

e 
M

ow
er

31
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21
$2

45
,4

21

13
22

0 
- F

ire
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Re
pl

ac
e 

an
d 

Eq
ui

p 
Co

m
m

an
d 

Ve
hi

cle
s

32
$1

66
,2

38
$1

66
,2

38
$6

6,
23

8
$1

00
,0

00
 F

ire
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
Re

vo
lv

in
g 

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f V
eh

icl
e

33
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
$5

2,
80

5
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l 

Af
fa

irs
 F

un
d 

13
63

0 
- R

ec
re

at
io

n
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

Fo
rg

es
 F

ie
ld

 P
ick

le
ba

ll 
Co

ur
t 

Dr
ai

na
ge

/P
at

hw
ay

34
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
$9

7,
00

0
13

21
0 

- P
ol

ice
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

Ar
m

or
ed

 V
eh

icl
e 

Re
pl

ac
em

en
t

35
$4

04
,9

34
$4

04
,9

34
$2

02
,4

67
$2

02
,4

67
SR

HS
C 

Gr
an

t

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
14

W
ES

 B
al

l C
ou

rt
s /

 S
id

ew
al

k 
Re

pa
ve

 &
 

St
rip

e
36

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

$1
04

,1
60

13
54

1 
- C

en
te

r F
or

 A
ct

iv
e 

Li
vi

ng
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
1

M
ov

in
g 

W
al

l R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
37

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

$1
25

,0
00

13
49

2 
- D

PW
 P

ar
ks

 &
 F

or
es

tr
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

3
Re

pl
ac

e 
Ut

ili
ty

 P
ick

up
 T

ru
ck

 #
23

38
$1

12
,8

30
$1

12
,8

30
$1

12
,8

30

13
49

1 
- D

PW
 C

em
et

er
y

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

1
W

hi
te

 H
or

se
 C

em
et

er
y 

Ea
se

m
en

t 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n
39

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

$1
92

,0
00

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
16

NM
ES

 S
ta

irw
el

l R
en

ov
at

io
ns

40
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50
$1

10
,2

50

13
42

2 
- D

PW
 F

ac
ili

ty
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
2

PD
 H

Q
 Lo

ck
er

 R
oo

m
 / 

Re
st

ro
om

 
Re

no
va

tio
n

41
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90
$4

58
,3

90
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

5
PS

HS
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 G

ar
ag

e
42

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

$6
9,

39
0

13
30

0 
- S

ch
oo

l 
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
13

Ad
m

in
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

Ex
te

rio
r R

ep
ai

rs
 &

 
Cu

po
la

43
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8
$4

6,
98

8

ST
M

42
7 

- E
ne

rg
y 

&
 E

nv
iro

nm
en

t
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
3

En
gi

ne
er

in
g 

fo
r B

la
ck

 C
at

 B
og

 
Re

st
or

at
io

n
44

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

$9
8,

24
3

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l 
Af

fa
irs

 F
un

d 
13

30
0 

- S
ch

oo
l 

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

11
FF

ES
 M

ul
ti-

Us
e 

Tr
ac

to
r

45
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1
$5

7,
22

1
13

42
0 

- D
PW

 H
ig

hw
ay

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d

2
Re

pl
ac

e 
F3

50
 U

til
ity

 B
od

y
46

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

$1
12

,8
30

13
42

0 
- D

PW
 H

ig
hw

ay
Ge

ne
ra

l F
un

d
4

Re
pl

ac
e 

20
14

 Jo
hn

 D
ee

re
 S

ki
d 

St
ee

r
47

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

$1
12

,8
00

Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d 

To
ta

l
$3

4,
24

5,
49

2
$3

3,
50

1,
49

2
$1

2,
74

6,
88

6
$1

7,
59

1,
76

1
$0

$3
,1

62
,8

45
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
1

CM
OM

 P
ro

gr
am

1
$1

,3
00

,0
00

$1
,3

00
,0

00
$1

,3
00

,0
00

13
44

0 
- D

PW
 S

ew
er

Se
w

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

2
Se

w
er

 S
ys

te
m

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

2
$2

00
,0

00
$2

00
,0

00
$2

00
,0

00
13

44
0 

- D
PW

 S
ew

er
Se

w
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
3

Tr
uc

k 
Re

pl
ac

em
en

t #
S5

5
3

$1
60

,0
00

$1
60

,0
00

$1
60

,0
00

Se
w

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

 T
ot

al
$1

,6
60

,0
00

$1
,6

60
,0

00
$0

$1
,3

00
,0

00
$3

60
,0

00
$0

13
45

0 
- D

PW
 W

at
er

W
at

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

1
Di

st
rib

ut
io

n 
Sy

st
em

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

1
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
$7

50
,0

00
13

45
0 

- D
PW

 W
at

er
W

at
er

 E
nt

er
pr

ise
2

W
at

er
 S

ys
te

m
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
2

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

$1
00

,0
00

W
at

er
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

 T
ot

al
$8

50
,0

00
$8

50
,0

00
$0

$0
$8

50
,0

00
$0

Gr
an

d 
To

ta
l

$3
6,

75
5,

49
2

$3
6,

01
1,

49
2

$1
2,

74
6,

88
6

$1
8,

89
1,

76
1

$1
,2

10
,0

00
$3

,1
62

,8
45

181



182



ARTICLE 14: 
 
 
ARTICLE 14: Chapter 90 Roads  
To see if the Town will vote to accept and expend such sum or sums of money allotted or to be 
allotted to the Town from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts under the provisions of M.G.L. 
Chapter 90 or under any other state roadway reimbursement programs for FY26, and to authorize 
the Select Board to enter into a contract or contracts with the Massachusetts Department of 
Transportation Highway Division for such purposes; and further, to authorize the Treasurer with 
the approval of the Select Board, to borrow in anticipation of 100% reimbursement of said 
amounts, or to take any other action relative thereto. 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS—ENGINEERING DIVISION  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 14. Approval 
of this article will enable the Town to accept State Highway (Chapter 90) Funds for repairs and 
reconstruction of public roads. While the estimated amount of Chapter 90 funds for FY2026 was 
not known at the time this report was prepared, Plymouth did receive more than $1.59 million for 
FY2025. The Town expects a similar amount in FY2026 unless there is change in policy and/or 
the state’s financial health. 
 

183



184



 
 
MEMO 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
Department of Public Works 

Engineering Division            
26 Court Street         

Plymouth, Massachusetts 02360 

 

To: Advisory & Finance Committee 
 

From: James Downey, Assistant Director of Public Works  JD 
 

Through: William A. Coyle, P.E., Director of Public Works 

CC: Derek Brindisi, Town Manager 

Date: January 6, 2025 
 
Subject: 2025 Spring Annual Town Meeting 

Article 14 - Accepting Chapter 90 Funds 
 

 

 
Please be advised that this Annual Article authorizes the Town to accept funding provided by 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts under G.L., Chapter 90 for the maintenance of public 
roads.    In  the  previous  round  of  Fiscal  Year  2025  appropriations,  the  Town  received 
$1,591,041.04.  
 
The estimated amount for Fiscal Year 2026 is currently unknown. However, the Town can 
expect a similar amount to last year, unless there is a change in policy and/or the 
Commonwealth’s financial health. 

 
There is no need for funding for Article 14. 

 
The DPW recommends that the Advisory & Finance Committee members vote to support 
Article 14 as presented. 

185



186



ARTICLE 15: 
 
 
ARTICLE 15: Town Promotion Fund  
To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from the Town Promotion Fund created pursuant to 
Chapter 4 of the Acts of 1993, a sum of money for programs and projects that enhance the 
beautification, recreational resources, public safety, promotional and marketing activities, events, 
services and public improvements, or take any other action relative thereto.  
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $1,355,872 (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 15. Approval 
of this article will allow expenditures from the Town’s Promotion Fund.  The Promotion Fund, 
created by special legislation, is funded with 45% of the receipts from the Hotel/Motel Tax.  The 
Visitor Services Board oversees expenditures from this fund.  Expenditures include funding 
special events and celebrations.  The Town Promotion Fund is also used to pay a marketing and 
promotions contract with See Plymouth/Destination Plymouth, which provides the Town with 
television and print advertising around the country (and abroad), maintains a waterfront 
information booth, and provides for the operation of the See Plymouth website. 
 

187



188



Memo 
To: Board of Selectmen 

 Advisory and Finance Committee 
 
From: Lee Hartmann, Director of Planning and Development 
 
Re:  FY26 Town Promotion Fund – 2025 ATM Article 15 
 
Date: January 4, 2025 
 
The receipts collected through the 6% Hotel/Motel Tax increased by 1.72% from last year 
($3,013,048.54 compared to FY 25 which was $2,961,296).  The Town, by a special act, places 
45% of the total Hotel/Motel Tax into its Promotion Fund. The total FY26 funding to be approved 
for the Town Promotions budget is $1,355,872 which is a $23,289 increase from last year’s 
appropriation.   

 
The Visitor Services Board oversees expenditures from the Promotion Fund.   
This year’s fixed costs are $601,552 and include: 

 The Town Promotions and Water Street Visitors Information Center operation contract with 
Destination Plymouth is $465,365 

 Public Improvements at $135,587 which is 10% of the budget as required by the Home Rule 
Petition. 

 Salaries/Equipment ($600) 
 

Other costs include ($754,320) 
 Event Funding and Additional Marketing ($744,320) 
 Distinguished Visitors ($10,000) 

 

The FY26 budget is as follows:  
Salaries and Wages (Admin. Support) .................................................................... $600 
Contractual Services (Promotions and Info Center) ........................................ $465,365* 
Public Improvements ....................................................................................... $135,587* 
Distinguished Visitors ......................................................................................... $10,000 
Event Funding & Additional Marketing ............................................................. 744,320 
Total .............................................................................................................  $1,355,872 
*Fixed costs 
 

Department of Planning 
& Development 

189



The following is a list of Celebrations (special events and exhibit grants) funding from FY25: 

Bark in the Park $5,000 
America's Hometown Laureate $5,000 
First Friday $5,000.00  
Halloween on Main $5,000.00  
Herring Run Festival $6,353.00  
July 4th Parade & Fireworks $30,000.00  
Philharmonic Independence Day Concert $40,000.00  
L. Knife & Son Concert Series $2,000.00  
Pilgrim Progress $1,500.00  
Polar Plunge  $500.00  
PorchFest $4,000.00  
Project Arts Concert Series  $15,000.00  
Local Eats Week $4,000.00  
America's Hometown Thanksgiving Waterfront Activities $20,000.00  
America's Hometown Thanksgiving Parade $20,000.00  
America's Hometown Thanksgiving Concert  $20,000.00  
Philharmonic Thanksgiving Concert  $25,000.00  
Philharmonic Orchestra 23/24 Season $15,000.00  
Plymouth Public Library Arts Festival $12,500.00  
The Thirsty Pilgrim $995.00  
Waterfront Festival $20,000.00  
Wilde Irish Women/Emily Dickinson Concert $5,000.00  
Plymouth Harbor Seals $5,000.00  
Bruins FanFest $6,530.18  

Miscellaneous  
Festival of Trees - Chamber of Commerce $2,500.00  
Event Boards - Plymouth Bay Cultural District  $2,900.00  
America's Hometown Thanksgiving Security $47,000.00  
America's Hometown Thanksgiving Parking & Shuttle $22,000.00  
Indigenous Voices - Plimoth Patuxet $20,000.00  
Plymouth Senior Conference - Chamber of Commerce $2,500.00  
Funding for Board members to attend conferences/Events $1,000.00  
Ride Circuit - See Plymouth $60,000.00  
Ride Circuit - Advertising - See Plymouth $15,000.00  
Town Hall Restrooms $10,000.00  
Artificial Tree - Parks  $50,000.00  
Town Hall Tree Lighting overtime $2,000.00  
Projection Lighting & Equipment & Rentals- Parks  $40,000.00  
Transient Mooring maintenance- Harbormaster $5,000.00  
Viewfinder binoculars for visitors - Harbormaster $19,516.00  
Maritime Facility Bathrooms - Harbormaster $3,000.00  
Map and Walking Guide $20,000.00  
Repainting of market street mural $3,000.00  
Flower Baskets - Parks Dept $8,598.00  
Celebration Light Pole Strings - Parks Dept $1,500.00  
Holiday Linden Tree Lights - Parks Dept $1,500.00  
Holiday Wreaths for downtown - Parks Dept $3,612.00  
Labor to maintain celebration lights - Parks Dept $10,000.00  
Flowers for Parklets- Downtown Waterfront Association $20,500.00  
Light the Night - Downtown Waterfront Association $30,000.00  
Plymouth Center for the Arts Landscaping $25,000.00  
The Jenney Interpretive Centre Sign  $5,944.00  
Tidmarsh Crosswalk - Marine & Environmental $7,322.00  
Town Brook Interactive Signs - Marine & Environmental $3,000.00  
Downtown Resiliency -  Dept of Energy and Environment $50,000.00  
Dark Orchard Trail - Dept of Energy and Environment $49,700.00  
 

190



ARTICLE 16: 
 
 
ARTICLE 16: CPC - Reduce Borrowing – Plymouth Area Coalition for the Homeless 
(PACH) 
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under 
Article 16A, 2024 Spring Town Meeting for the purpose of constructing 26 family shelter units 
and education center deed restricted for affordable housing purposes located at 54 industrial Park 
Road Plymouth Massachusetts, by reducing the amount to be borrowed by a sum of money and 
appropriating a sum of money from Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation Act revenues or 
transfer from Community Preservation available funds or reserves for such purposes, and take any 
other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval $398,814 (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 16. Approval of 
this Article will authorize the Town to use available Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation 
Act revenues to reduce the borrowing commitment for the Plymouth Area Coalition for the 
Homeless (PACH). 
 

191



192



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Wednesday, December 18, 2024 
Re: Spring Town Meeting 2025:  

CPA Article 16 Plymouth Area Coalition for the Homeless  
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  
ARTICLE 16 : Reduce Borrowing – Plymouth Area Coalition for the Homeless (PACH) 
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under Article 
16A, 2024 Spring Town Meeting for the purpose of constructing 26 family shelter units and education 
center deed restricted for affordable housing purposes located at 54 industrial Park Road Plymouth 
Massachusetts, by reducing the amount to be borrowed by a sum of money and appropriating a sum of 
money from Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation Act revenues or transfer from Community 
Preservation available funds or reserves for such purposes, and take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously Article 16 at its meeting held Thursday, 
November 14, 2024  
  
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee is recommending article 16 for the Spring Town Meeting 2025.  
This will allow the Finance Department to use available CPA funds (10% amount to be confirmed by the 
Finance Director). Reducing the original Town Meeting borrowing authorization and will control the cost 
of interest. 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

193



194



ARTICLE 17: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 17: CPC – Reduce Borrowing – Stephens Field  
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under 
Article 16F, 2024 Spring Town Meeting for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field, 
for Open Space and Recreation purposes, as previously amended, by reducing the amount to be 
borrowed by a sum of money and appropriating a sum of money from Fiscal Year 2026 
Community Preservation Act revenues or transfer from Community Preservation available funds 
or reserves for such purposes, and take any other action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 17. Approval of 
this Article will authorize the Town to use available Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation 
Act revenues, in an amount to be determined by the Finance Director, to reduce the borrowing 
commitment for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field project. 
 

195



196



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Wednesday, December 18, 2024 
Re: Spring Town Meeting 2025: CPA Article 17 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
ARTICLE  17 : Reduce Borrowing – Stephens Field  
To see if the Town will vote to revise the funding sources and thereby amend the vote taken under Article 
16F, 2024 Spring Town Meeting for the restoration and rehabilitation of Stephens Field, for Open Space 
and Recreation purposes, as previously amended, by reducing the amount to be borrowed by a sum of 
money and appropriating a sum of money from Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation Act revenues or 
transfer from Community Preservation available funds or reserves for such purposes, and take any other 
action relative thereto. 
 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously Article 17 at its meeting held Thursday, 
November 14, 2024  
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee is recommending Article 17.  This will allow the Finance 
Department to use available CPA funds (amount to be confirmed by the Finance Director). Reducing the 
original Town Meeting borrowing authorization will complete the project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

197



198



ARTICLE 18: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 18: CPC - CPA Fund Budget/Account Set-Aside 
To see if the Town will vote to hear and act on the report of the Community Preservation 
Committee on the Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation Budget including debt service and 
to appropriate from the Community Preservation Fund Fiscal Year 2026 estimated annual revenues 
a sum of money to meet the administrative expenses and all other necessary and proper expenses 
of the Community Preservation Committee for Fiscal Year 2026, and to set aside sums for future 
appropriation for the following purposes as recommended by the Community Preservation 
Committee: a sum of money for the acquisition, creation, and preservation of land for open space, 
including restoration and rehabilitation of land for recreational use; a sum of money for acquisition, 
preservation, restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources; and a sum of money for the 
acquisition, creation, preservation and support of community housing, or take any other action 
relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 18. Approval 
of this Article will allow the Community Preservation Committee to allocate 10% of the 
estimated annual revenues of the Community Preservation Fund (CPA) for future spending in 
community housing. Additionally, 4% of the estimated annual revenues of the CPA will be set 
aside for funding administrative and operational expenses and an amount will be set aside for 
interest expense on debt.  
 

199



200



 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO: Town Meeting, Board of Selectmen, and the Advisory & Finance Committee 
From: The Community Preservation Committee 
Date:    Wednesday, December 18, 2024 
Re: Spring Town Meeting 2025:  

CPA Article 18 CPA Fund Budget/Account Set-Aside  
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ARTICLE 18 SPRING TOWN MEETING 2025: CPA FUND BUDGET/ACCOUNT SET-ASIDE  
To see if the Town will vote to hear and act on the report of the Community Preservation Committee on the 
Fiscal Year 2026 Community Preservation Budget including debt service and to appropriate from the 
Community Preservation Fund Fiscal Year 2026 estimated annual revenues a sum of money to meet the 
administrative expenses and all other necessary and proper expenses of the Community Preservation 
Committee for Fiscal Year 2026, and to set aside sums for future appropriation for the following purposes 
as recommended by the Community Preservation Committee: a sum of money for the acquisition, creation, 
and preservation of land for open space, including restoration and rehabilitation of land for recreational use; 
a sum of money for acquisition, preservation, restoration and rehabilitation of historic resources; and a sum 
of money for the acquisition, creation, preservation and support of community housing, or take any other 
action relative thereto. 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION COMMITTEE 
 
CPC RECOMMENDATION: Approval (unanimous) 
The Community Preservation Committee voted unanimously in favor of Article 18 at its meeting held 
Thursday November 14, 2024. 
 
SUMMARY & INTENT:  
The Community Preservation Committee recommends that 10% of the Fiscal Year 2026 estimated annual 
Community Preservation Fund revenues be set aside for historic resources and further, that up to 4% of the 
annual revenues in the Community Preservation Act Fund be appropriated for the purpose of funding the 
administrative, operating expenses and professional services of the Community Preservation Committee in 
Fiscal Year 2026. Also, that said sum be set aside for debt service and to set aside said sum for the future 
appropriation for allowable CPA uses. It should be noted that any unused portion of funds appropriated for 
the administrative purposes of the Committee reverts to the CPA unallocated balance at the end of each 
fiscal year. The 10% requirement for Open Space/Recreation and Affordable Housing will be addressed in 
the Committees other submissions.   
 
  
 

TOWN OF PLYMOUTH 
COMMUNITY PRESERVATION 
COMMITTEE 

201



SOURCES:

Estimated 2026 CPA Revenues:

232,004,969$  
CPA Surcharge Rate 1.50%
Estimated Surcharge for 2026 (Less 3-Year Avg in Abatements) 3,464,396$      
Investment Earnings 25,000$           

3,324,980 498,747$         

3,988,143$      

Open Space / 
Recreation 10% 398,814$         
Historic Resources 10% 398,814$         
Community Housing 10% 398,814$         

Total required to be spent or set aside 1,196,443$      

Amount available for CPA Administrative costs:
CPA Operating Budget 4.00% 159,526$         
Interest Expense on Debt (to be determined) -$                     

159,526$         

Article Spending from Estimated Receipts (to be determined) -$                     

2,632,174$      

Total Budget

Amended amount to be set aside in budgeted reserve / Spending 
Recommendation

USES:
To meet the required Percentages (%) from 2025 Estimated CPA Revenues:

State Trust Fund Distribution estimated at 15%

Community Preservation Fund
FISCAL 2026 SOURCES & USES OF FUNDS

Report for Community Preservation Committee
(Based on Select Board Budget - Subject to Change)

Estimated Tax Revenue

Lynne A. Barrett
Finance Director
1/14/2025 BUDGET  ESTIMATE

202



ARTICLE 20: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 20: Eversource Easement – Nook Road 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to grant and convey to NStar Electric 
Company, d/b/a Eversource Energy, access and utility easements for the installation of a pad 
mount transformer and equipment, underground wires, underground transmission lines, 
underground cable and conduit together with lines for control, relay and communication purposes 
over, across, upon and under a portion of Town owned property located at 41 Obery Street in the 
Town of Plymouth, Massachusetts as shown on a plan dated September 25, 2024, on file with the 
Town Clerk; or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
No Motion No Action 
 

203



204



                        273 Summer Street, Plymouth, Ma 02360 
 
 
 
December 2, 2024 
 
 
Town of Plymouth  
26 Court Street 
Plymouth, Ma 02360 
 
 
Re: Install Pad Mount Transformer at Plymouth North High School along Nook Road for 
reliability. 
 
Dear Town Clerk,  
 
Enclosed is an information form that needs to be completed in order to install or acquire 
ownership of the equipment on the property mentioned above. PPlease return the completed 
form and attach a copy of the current recorded Deed to the property, this will expedite the 
rights process. Once you have completed the form you can email the form to me at 
Julie.Longa@Eversource.com or alternatively, mail via US postal mail to my attention: 273 
Summer Street at: EVERSOURCE Energy, Plymouth, MA 02360. 
 
Once the License and Easement paperwork is completed it will be emailed/mailed to you.   
Once received please sign the License and send it back to me via US postal mail or email.  
 
We ask the Easement we send to you be added to the next Town Meeting agenda for a vote 
and once approved at Town Meeting the original returned to me via US postal mail after 
signing and notarizing so that I may record it at the Registry.     
 
The Registry of Deeds requires original signatures, and the document must be notarized in 
order for the Registry to accept the document for recording.   
 
If the property is under an LLC and the land is registered in Land Court, please supply an 
original with Gold Embossed Stamp “CCertificate of Good Standing” that is dated back no 
more than 30 days.  
 
If you have any questions regarding the easement, please do not hesitate to contact me I 
have included my contact information below.  
 
Regards, 
 
Julie Longa 
Right of Way Agent  
Eversource Energy 
273 Summer Street  
Plymouth, Ma 0236 
508-732-4239 
Julie.Longa@Eversource.com  

                             EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
                   EASEMENT and LICENSE INFORMATION FORM 
                                    Julie.Longa@Eversource.com 

 

205



Obery Street/Nook Rd, PLYMOUTH                     W.O.# 18008700 
 
Customer Name: __________________ 
 
PHONE # _____________________ EMAIL #_____________________________ _ 
 
ADDRESS OF PROPERTY (HOUSE/LOT #) __________________ 
 
MAILING ADDRESS   __________________________________________________ 
 
NAME ON THE DEED**_____________________________________________ 
 
BOOK # **____________   PAGE # **___________ PLAN BOOK #**___________ 
 
Mortgagee (Lender if there is a Mortgage on the property) _____________________ 
 
__________________________________Book ______________ Page_______________  
                                          Only if recorded in Land Court (REGISTERED LAND) 
LAND COURT CERT# *________________ DOCUMENT # *__________________ 
 
PREVIOUS OWNER **__________________________________________________ 
 
YEAR OF PURCHASE **_________________________ 
 
CONTACT NAME (IF NOT OWNER) **_________________________________ 
Person responsible for signing the License & Easement and their title if not owner-
President/Manager etc. 
******PLEASE INCLUDE A COPY OF THE DEED TO THE PROPERTY***** 
 
                                          _FOR OFFICE USE_ 
 
ECSD _______________________________ 
 
POLE OR UG NUMBERS – Pad mount transformer 10517/010 
 
REASON FOR EASEMENT:  access to equipment on private property 
 
INFO FORM SENT TO CUSTOMER – 12/2/2024 
 
RECEIVED INFO FORM FROM 
CUSTOMER__________________________________________ 
 
MAILED/EMAILED EASEMENT / LICENSE FORM TO CUSTOMER__________               
 
RECEIVED LICENSE FROM CUSTOMER ______________________________ 
 
RECEIVED EASEMENT FROM CUSTOMER____________________________ 
RECORDED _______________BOOK# _____________ PAGE# ________________ 
 
COPY TO PLANNER _____ COPY TO TELCO ______ PASSPORT W ____F ____ 
 
ACCESS ________ SCANNED _______ 
 

206



W
O

 #
18

00
87

00
C

on
du

it 
La

yo
ut

C
ir

cu
its

 3
-1

3-
94

3,
 3

-1
2-

28
J3

22
.8

/1
3.

2k
V

 to
 4

.1
6/

2.
4k

V
 S

D
 a

re
a

no
ok

rd
pl

y_
co

nd
ui

t_
N

ew
S

D
pa

d_
S

oP
ly

_N
ew

fie
ld

_1
80

08
70

0.
pp

tx

N

N
oo

k 
Rd

, P
ly

m
ou

th
 M

A
C.

 J.
 K

en
ne

dy
 E

le
ct

ric
al

 E
ng

’r 
09

/2
5/

24

Pa
ge

 1
 o

f 1
M

ap
 S

ou
rc

e:
 To

w
n 

of
 P

ly
m

ou
th

 M
a 

GI
S 

M
ap

Sk
et

ch
 is

 n
ot

 to
 sc

al
e

10
51

7 
Ev

er
so

ur
ce

P7
53

/9
N

ew
 H

i V
ol

ta
ge

 ri
se

r

N
ew

 2
-6

” p
ip

es
In

 co
nc

re
te

60
’+

/-

N
ew

 2
-6

” p
ip

es
In

 co
nc

re
te

38
0’

+/
-

N
ew

 1
05

17
/0

10
3p

h 
co

nc
re

te
xf

m
r p

ad
 (l

ar
ge

)
Fo

r n
ew

 S
D 

xf
m

r

N
ot

e:
 E

xi
st

in
g 

un
de

rg
ro

un
d

ut
ili

tie
s w

ith
in

 N
oo

k 
Rd

w
er

e 
no

t p
ro

vi
de

d
at

 ti
m

e 
of

  E
ng

in
ee

rin
g.

P7
53

/7
N

ew
 Lo

 V
ol

ta
ge

 R
ise

r

N
ot

e:
 S

ee
 se

pa
ra

te
 w

or
k 

or
de

rs
 fo

r
ne

w
 O

H 
&

 U
G 

ca
bl

e 
in

st
al

la
tio

ns
.

Ev
er

so
ur

ce
 to

 in
st

al
l, 

ow
n,

 &
 m

ai
nt

ai
n:

-2
-6

” p
ip

es
 p

ip
es

 in
 co

nc
re

te
 w

ith
co

un
te

rp
oi

se
 fr

om
 P

75
3/

7 
&

 P
75

3/
9,

 N
oo

k 
Rd

to
 &

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
la

rg
e 

co
nc

re
te

 x
fm

r p
ad

 o
n

To
w

n 
of

 P
ly

m
ou

th
 N

or
th

 H
ig

h 
Sc

ho
ol

 p
ro

pe
rt

y
as

 sh
ow

n.
  D

ist
an

ce
s s

ho
w

n 
ar

e 
ap

pr
ox

im
at

e.

P7
53

/8
Lo

 V
ol

t P
ri

3p
h 

La
te

ra
l

P7
53

/8
-A

3-
25

T 
&

 3
ph

Ri
se

r t
o 

PV
T 

10
29

1

OH
 E

xt
en

d 
22

.8
/1

3.
2k

V
3-

13
-9

43
 a

s n
ew

 S
D 

so
ur

ce

Co
nn

ec
t t

o 
OH

 4
.1

6/
2.

4k
V

3-
12

-2
8J

3 
&

 tr
an

sf
er

 e
nt

ire
 fr

om
Ne

w
fie

ld
 LV

 S
ta

 7
36

 to
 n

ew
 S

D

207



208



ARTICLE 21: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 21: Proposed Bylaw – School Facilities Maintenance 
To see if the Town will vote to amend General bylaws, Chapter 177, to add Article III, Facilities 
Maintenance, Management, and Oversight, consistent with the proposed language; with 
underlined text to be inserted and strikethrough text to be deleted, as follows: 
Section 177-3 Facilities Maintenance, Management, and Oversight:   
 

A. Definitions: 
 

(1) School Facilities - For the purposes of this section, school facilities shall 
include:  

a. non-academic school buildings; school sports fields and any press 
boxes, halftime facilities, and/or lighting fixtures or structures 
associated with them; wells and wastewater treatment infrastructure 
located on school properties; and maintenance garages.  
 

B. Control and responsibility for public facilities shall be appropriated as follows: 
(1) The School Committee shall have general charge and superintendence of all school 
buildings, facilities, and grounds and shall furnish all school buildings with proper fixtures, 
furniture, and equipment;        
 
(2) The Town and its various Departments and Divisions shall have general charge and 
superintendence of all municipal buildings and grounds, excluding school buildings and 
grounds, and shall furnish all of these buildings, facilities, and grounds with proper fixtures, 
furniture, and equipment.  

 
or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 21. Approval 
of this article will codify the current status quo of Town and School operations into the General 
Bylaws and will prevent any future proposed consolidation efforts from occurring without Town 
Meeting approval, but Town Meeting can change a General Bylaw at any Town Meeting to 
reflect a desirable potential future consolidation agreement.  
 
 

209



210



 

To: Advisory & Finance Committee 

From: Select Board 

Date: January 27, 2025 

Re: Spring Annual Town Meeting Article 21 

 

Members of the Plymouth Select Board and the Plymouth School Committee, as well as 
Administrators on both sides, have been meeting regularly for the past six months or so to 
discuss ways the Town and Schools can best collaborate going forward. Part of that conversation 
has involved examining the potential for ways to consolidate certain services that both the Town 
and the Schools currently provide. 

There are no immediate plans for consolidation of specific services at this time, but the two sides 
have agreed to study the issue. Prior studies on the topic of consolidation have happened many 
years ago, as part of attempted consolidation efforts that never came to fruition, but given today’s 
ever-changing world we believe there may be new benefits to the Town, Schools, students, and 
residents if consolidation were to be explored today. 

Any future consolidation efforts would involve collaborative planning between the Select Board, 
the School Committee, and Town and School Administration.  Any bargaining units that would 
be impacted by any proposed consolidation would also be involved in these negotiations, and it 
is not the intent of anyone that any employees would lose their jobs. Lastly, Town Meeting 
would have to approve any proposed consolidation. 

That brings us to Article 21. Article 21 seeks to codify the current status quo of Town and School 
operations, with no changes, in the Town’s General Bylaws rather than in the Town Charter. 
Codifying the current status quo into the General Bylaws will prevent any future proposed 
consolidation efforts from occurring without Town Meeting approval, but Town Meeting can 
change a General Bylaw at any Town Meeting to reflect a desirable potential future consolidation 
agreement. 

It should be highlighted that this Article is being presented to Town Meeting at the same time as 
Article 22. Article 22 would remove a specific clause in the Town Charter to allow for 
consolidation discussions to continue.  Specifically, it would remove Section 4-3-2(d), which 
currently gives the Schools sole superintendence over all school buildings and grounds. It is 

211



important to remove this clause now because, if approved at this or any future Town Meeting, it 
will take approximately eighteen months to two years after Town Meeting action on this item for 
the Massachusetts Legislature to actually approve the removal of this clause. The Town and the 
Schools are in agreement that it is better to remove this clause now, whilst maintaining the status 
quo with the bylaw language presented in Article 21, while discussions continue so that any 
potential future agreement on consolidation does not have to wait a full eighteen months to two 
years to take effect. 

If Article 21 and 22 are passed by Town Meeting it is possible that no future agreement on 
consolidation is reached. If that is the case, the current status quo will be forever maintained in 
the Town’s General Bylaws. Further, if a future consolidation agreement is reached between the 
Town and the Schools but Town Meeting is not in favor of the agreement, then Town Meeting 
can refuse to alter the General Bylaws to reflect such an agreement, and the status quo will be 
maintained.  

Passage of Article 21 and 22 will give Town Meeting the final say on the potential for future 
consolidation of Town and School services, rather than leaving that decision up to the 
Massachusetts Legislature.  

Lastly, the Town worked with the School Committee and School Administration to agree upon 
the text of this proposed General Bylaw. 

212



ARTICLE 22: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 22: Charter Amendment – School Facilities Maintenance  
To see if the Town will vote to amend Chapter 4 Section 3 of the Plymouth Town Charter to delete 
Section 4-3-2(d) to remove the requirement that the Schools have superintendence of their 
buildings and grounds from the Town Charter with underlined text to be inserted and strikethrough 
text to be deleted, as follows: 

4-3-2 The powers and duties of the School Committee shall include the following: 

(a) To appoint a superintendent of the schools who shall manage the school system in a fashion  
consistent with law and the policy determinations of the School Committee and, upon the 
recommendation of the Superintendent, the School Committee may also establish and appoint 
positions of assistant or associate superintendents as provided by law. 

(b) To establish educational goals and policies for the schools in the Town consistent with the 
requirements of law and statewide goals and standards established by the State Board of 
Education. 

(c) To propose and to oversee the administration of an annual operating budget for the School 
Department, subject to appropriation by the Town Meeting. 

(d) To have general charge and superintendence of all school buildings and grounds and furnish 
all school buildings with proper fixtures, furniture and equipment. 

or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 22. Approval of 
this article will delete Section 4-3-2(d) to remove the requirement that the Schools have 
superintendence of their buildings and grounds from the Town Charter. 
 

213



214



 

To: Advisory & Finance Committee 

From: Select Board 

Date: January 27, 2025 

Re: Spring Annual Town Meeting Article 22 

 

Members of the Plymouth Select Board and the Plymouth School Committee, as well as 
Administrators on both sides, have been meeting regularly for the past six months or so to 
discuss ways the Town and Schools can best collaborate going forward. Part of that conversation 
has involved examining the potential for ways to consolidate certain services that both the Town 
and the Schools currently provide. 

There are no immediate plans for consolidation of specific services at this time, but the two sides 
have agreed to study the issue. Prior studies on the topic of consolidation have happened many 
years ago, as part of attempted consolidation efforts that never came to fruition, but given today’s 
ever-changing world we believe there may be new benefits to the Town, Schools, students, and 
residents if consolidation were to be explored today. 

Any future consolidation efforts would involve collaborative planning between the Select Board, 
the School Committee, and Town and School Administration.  Any bargaining units that would 
be impacted by any proposed consolidation would also be involved in these negotiations, and it 
is not the intent of anyone that any employees would lose their jobs. Lastly, Town Meeting 
would have to approve any proposed consolidation. 

However, before we can get to this potential future, a specific clause in the Town Charter needs 
to be removed to allow for consolidation discussions to continue.  Specifically, Section 4-3-2(d), 
which currently gives the Schools sole superintendence over all school buildings and grounds. It 
is important to remove this clause now because, if approved at this or any future Town Meeting, 
it will take approximately eighteen months to two years after Town Meeting action on this item 
for the Massachusetts Legislature to actually approve the removal of this clause. The Town and 
the Schools are in agreement that it is better to remove this clause now while discussions 
continue so that any potential future agreement on consolidation does not have to wait a full 
eighteen months to two years to take effect. 

215



A similar proposal was presented as part of the series of articles proposed by the Charter Review 
Committee at the October Town Meeting, but it was presented as part of a bundle of proposed 
revisions. That particular bundle of revisions did not get approved by Town Meeting, so this 
section of the Charter was not changed by any of the actions that took place at the October Town 
Meeting. The Select Board believes this proposal, presented individually rather than as part of a 
bundle, deserves further consideration by Town Meeting. 

It should be highlighted that this Article is being presented to Town Meeting at the same time as 
Article 21. Article 21 seeks to codify the current status quo of Town and School operations, with 
no changes, in the Town’s General Bylaws rather than in the Town Charter. Codifying the current 
status quo into the General Bylaws will prevent any future proposed consolidation efforts from 
occurring without Town Meeting approval, but Town Meeting can change a General Bylaw at 
any Town Meeting to reflect a desirable potential future consolidation agreement. 

If Article 21 and 22 are passed by Town Meeting it is possible that no future agreement on 
consolidation is reached. If that is the case, the current status quo will be forever maintained in 
the Town’s General Bylaws. Further, if a future consolidation agreement is reached between the 
Town and the Schools but Town Meeting is not in favor of the agreement, then Town Meeting 
can refuse to alter the General Bylaws to reflect such an agreement, and the status quo will be 
maintained.  

Passage of Article 21 and 22 will give Town Meeting the final say on the potential for future 
consolidation of Town and School services, rather than leaving that decision up to the 
Massachusetts Legislature. 

216



ARTICLE 23: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 23: Charter Amendment – Charter Review Committee 
To see if the Town will vote to amend Chapter 7 Section 6 of the Plymouth Town Charter to permit 
a future Charter Review Committee to propose bylaws for Town Meeting consideration as part of 
their report to Town Meeting, consistent with the proposed language; with underlined text to be 
inserted and strikethrough text to be deleted, as follows: 
 
Chapter 7, Section 6 Periodic Charter Review Committee   
 
7-6-1 At least once every 5 years, a Charter Review Committee shall review this Charter and make 
a report, with recommendations, to the Town Meeting concerning any proposed amendments 
which the Committee may determine to be necessary or desirable. The Charter Review Committee 
shall also have the ability to propose new or amended general bylaws for Town Meeting 
consideration as part of their report. The members of the Charter Review Committee shall be 
appointed by a special committee consisting of the Moderator, who will serve as Chairman, one 
member of the Select Board and one (1) member of the Committee of Precinct Chairs. 
 
or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 23. Approval of 
this article will expand the scope of Charter Review Committee’s report to Town Meeting to 
include recommending new or amended general bylaw changes. 
 

217



218



 

To: Advisory & Finance Committee 

From: Select Board 

Date: January 27, 2025 

Re: Spring Annual Town Meeting Article 23 

 

Article 23 seeks to permit future Charter Review Committees to propose new General Bylaws to 
Town Meeting at the same time as any proposed Charter changes they propose to Town Meeting. 

Plymouth’s Town Charter contains many clauses and provisions that some believe would be 
better codified in the General Bylaws. Town Meeting members can change the General Bylaws 
themselves at any Town Meeting, while a Charter change that Town Meeting is in favor of 
requires additional approval by the Massachusetts Legislature and takes eighteen months to two 
years to take effect. 

Giving a Charter Review Committee the ability to propose General Bylaws does not guarantee 
such bylaws would be approved by Town Meeting. Any future proposed General Bylaws that a 
Charter Review Committee presents to Town Meeting would be evaluated by Town Meeting and 
assessed on their merits, just like any proposed Charter changes are. But, if a future Charter 
Review Committee believed one or more provisions of the Charter would be better situated in 
the General Bylaws then approval of Article 23 would seek to permit that Charter Review 
Committee to propose General Bylaw language that would replace the Charter provision they 
seek to alter so that both the Charter revision and bylaw language could be assessed by Town 
Meeting at the same time. 

It should be noted that only Town Meeting can approve changes to the General Bylaws, not the 
Select Board, the School Committee, the Planning Board, or any other part of Town government. 

219



220



ARTICLE 24: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 24: Charter Amendment – Land Use Acquisition Committee 
To see if Town will vote to authorize amending the Town Charter regarding the role, 
scope, and appointing authority of the Land Use and Acquisition Committee, consistent with the 
proposed language; with underlined text to be inserted, as follows: 

3-14-9 A Land Use and Acquisition Committee comprised of seven (7) members to act 
in an advisory capacity to the Select Board with respect to the acquisition, conveyance, 
and disposition of real property by the Town, or its subdivisions, either pursuant to 
Chapter 61, 61A, or 61B of the General Laws or in any instances as requested by the 
Town Manager on behalf of the Select Board. The members of the Land Use and Acquisition 
Committee shall be appointed for three (3) year overlapping terms as follows: Two (2) members 
shall be appointed by the Select Board, two (2) by the Planning Board, one (1) by the Conservation 
Commission, one (1) by the Agricultural Commission, and 
one (1) by the Open Space Committee. 

or take any other action relative thereto. 

SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously, 12-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 24. Approval of 
this article will expand the Land Use and Acquisition Committee’s role to include advisory 
capacity of conveyance and disposition of real property or in any instances as requested by the 
Town Manager on behalf of the Select Board, and to reduce the appointing authority for the 
Conservation Commission to one (1) member, and to add appointing authority to the Agricultural 
Commission for one (1) member to the Land Use and Acquisition Committee.  
 

221



222



ARTICLE 25: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 25: HERO Act – Cost of Living Increase  
To see if the Town will vote to accept the provisions of G.L. c. 59, §5, cl. 22I, as added by Chapter 
178 of the Acts of 2024, commonly referred to as the “HERO Act”, which will allow the Assessors 
to increase the real estate property tax exemptions for qualifying military service members, 
veterans and their spouses annually by an amount equal to the increase in the cost of living as 
determined by the Consumer Price Index for such year, which additional exemption will begin in 
Fiscal Year 2026; or take any other action relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (11-0-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 25. Approval of 
this article will allow the Assessors to increase the real estate property tax exemptions for 
qualifying military service members, veterans and their spouses annually by an amount equal to 
the increase in the cost of living as determined by the Consumer Price Index for such year. 
 

223



224



Plymouth, MA 

Memo 
To: Advisory and Finance Committee 

From: Select Board 

Date: January 21, 2025 

Re: HERO Act: Articles 25 and 26 

On August 8, 2024, Governor Maura Healey signed into law An Act Honoring, Empowering, and 
Recognizing our Servicemembers and Veterans (commonly referred to as the HERO Act). This 
act included more than 30 provisions intended to positively impact the lives of veterans residing 
in Massachusetts. Among those provisions are two local options, which are subject to approval 
by the municipal legislative body, and which expand property tax exemptions for veterans 
granted under M.G.L. 59 § 5. 

The new sections of M.G.L. 59 § 5 include clauses 22I and 22J. 22I provides an annual Cost of 
Living Adjustment (COLA) to the amount of the tax exemption granted to veterans on their 
primary residence. The COLA is determined by the Department of Revenue (DOR) and is tied to 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI). Clause 22J allows municipalities to increase the base 
exemption amount granted to veterans on their primary residence up to an additional 100%. The 
net effect of acceptance of these local options are added to the Town’s overlay account, which 
is money set aside for the purposes of abatements and exemptions. 

On Tuesday, December 17, 2024, the Town of Plymouth Select Board voted unanimously to 
include these articles on the annual spring Town Meeting warrant, and to recommend approval 
by Town Meeting. Town administration has factored in the COLA and a 50% increase as part of 
the FY2026 proposed budget. 

225



226



ARTICLE 26: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 26: HERO Act – Exemption Amount Increase  
To see if the Town will vote to accept the provisions of G.L. c. 59, §5, cl. 22J, as added by Chapter 
178 of the Acts of 2024, commonly referred to as the “HERO Act”, to allow the Assessors to grant 
an additional real estate property tax exemption for qualifying military service members, veterans 
and their spouses in an amount equal to 50% of the amount of the exemption for which the taxpayer 
qualifies for, which additional exemption will begin in Fiscal Year 2026; or take any other action 
relative thereto. 
SELECT BOARD 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (11-0-1) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 26. Approval of 
this article will allow the Assessors to grant an additional real estate property tax exemption for 
qualifying military service members, veterans and their spouses in an amount equal to 50% of the 
amount of the exemption for which the taxpayer qualifies for. 
 

227



228



ARTICLE 27: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 27: Citizen’s Petition: Zoning Bylaw Amendment - Light Industrial to Mixed 
Commerce 
To see if the Town will vote to amend the Zoning Bylaw, Official Zoning Map of the Town of 
Plymouth, by changing the designation of Lots 11 B, 26A and 27 on Assessors' Map 102 
located off Commerce Way and Cherry Street from Light Industrial (LI) District to Mixed 
Commerce (MC) District, as well as to amend associated sections, provisions, definitions, 
table, charts, and procedures pertaining thereto, or take any other action relative thereto. 
By Petition: Bill Hallisey, et al 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (12-1-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 27. Approval of 
this article will amend the Zoning Bylaw, Official Zoning Map of the Town of 
Plymouth, by changing the designation of Lots 11 B, 26A and 27 on Assessors' Map 102 
located off Commerce Way and Cherry Street from Light Industrial (LI) District to Mixed 
Commerce (MC) District, as well as to amend associated sections, provisions, definitions, 
table, charts, and procedures pertaining thereto. 
 

229



230



231



232



233



234



235



KINGSTON

RABOTH ROAD

IN
DEPENDENCE

M
ALL

W
AY

MONKS HILL ROAD

ROUTE
44

SM
EL

T
PO

ND
 R

OAD

MC

LI

MC

MC

CO
M

M
ER

CE
 W

AY

C
O

M
M

ER
C

E
W

AY

CO
M

M
ER

CE
 W

AY

CO
M

M
ER

CE
W

AY

ROUTE 44

ROU TE

44

ROUTE
44

ROUTE 44

ROUTE 44

ROUTE 44

ROUTE 44

CO
M

M
ER

CE
 W

AY
CO

M
M

ER
CE

 W
AY

ROUTE 44
ROUTE 44

NIC
KS

ROCK
RO

AD

COLONY PLACE

CO
LO

NY
VILLAG

E
DRIVE

P
R

ES
TI

G
E

W
AY

CHERRY STREET CR
OW

S
W

AY

R
IC

H
AR

D
'S R

O
AD

INDUSTRIAL P
ARK ROAD

2025 Annual Town Meeting
Cherry Street - Commerce Way 

Light Industrial to Mixed Commerce 

Legend
Proposed MC Zone

Standard Zoning
LI LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

MC MIXED COMMERCE

Department of Planning 
and Development

236



ARTICLE 28: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 28: Citizen’s Petition: Bylaw Amendment - Public Comment 
Proposed Article to add a new By-law requirement to Town By-laws. 
Add paragraph 173-13: Each Precinct Caucus shall have provision in its Agenda for Public 
Comment. At the discretion of the Chair, Public Comment may be made at one time or interspersed 
with Presentations at the meeting. Public Comments cannot be censored. Public Comments are 
simply comments and not debatable. A minimum of two minutes should be allowed for each Public 
Comment speaker but may be allowed a longer period at the discretion of the Chair. The sequence 
of Public Comment speakers shall be (1) Precinct residences, (2) Plymouth Town Residences and 
(3) any other member of the Public. 
By Petition: Herbert G. McKay, et al 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval of Amended Bylaw Language (Unanimously, 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 28 as amended. 
Approval of this article will Add paragraph 173-13 to the Town By-law: Each Precinct Caucus 
shall have provision in its Agenda for Public Comment. At the discretion of the Chair, Public 
Comment may be made at one time or interspersed with Presentations at the meeting. A minimum 
of two minutes should be allowed for each Public Comment speaker but may be allowed a longer 
period at the discretion of the Chair. 
 

237



238



CCi
tiz

en
’s 

Pe
tit

io
n 

–
By

la
w

 A
m

en
dm

en
t –

20
25

 S
TM

 –
Ar

tic
le

 2
8

Ad
vi

so
ry

 &
 Fi

na
nc

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 A
m

en
de

d 
By

la
w

 A
pp

ro
ve

d:

Ad
d

pa
ra

gr
ap

h
17

3-
13

Ea
ch

Pr
ec

in
ct

Ca
uc

us
sh

al
lh

av
e

pr
ov

isi
on

in
its

Ag
en

da
fo

rP
ub

lic
Co

m
m

en
t.

At
th

e
di

sc
re

tio
n

of
th

e
Ch

ai
r,

Pu
bl

ic
Co

m
m

en
tm

ay
be

m
ad

e
at

on
e

tim
e

or
in

te
rs

pe
rs

ed
w

ith
Pr

es
en

ta
tio

ns
at

th
e

m
ee

tin
g.

A
m

in
im

um
of

tw
o

m
in

ut
es

sh
ou

ld
be

al
lo

w
ed

fo
r

ea
ch

Pu
bl

ic
Co

m
m

en
ts

pe
ak

er
bu

t
m

ay
be

al
lo

w
ed

a
lo

ng
er

pe
rio

d
at

th
e

di
sc

re
tio

n
of

th
e

Ch
ai

r.

239



240



241



242



243



244



ARTICLE 29: 
 
 
 
ARTICLE 29: Citizen’s Petition: Home Rule Petition – Digital Legal Notices 
An Act allowing "print-free" digital legal notices for the Town of Plymouth. 
 
Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the General Court assembled, and by 
the authority of the same, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this Act is to allow, but not require, the Town of Plymouth and its subdivisions to 
satisfy legal notice requirements entirely by digital publication as voted necessary by its Select 
Board and School Committee in light of the changing landscape of print newspaper businesses, 
particularly at the local level. 
 
Section 2. Means of Legal Notice Publication 
 
Notwithstanding G. L. c. 4, section 13 (b) or any other general or special law to the contrary, 
wherever the Town of Plymouth, Plymouth Public Schools, and/or their subdivisions, committees, 
boards, commissions, or offices are required by statute, ordinance, by-law or judicial order to 
publish a legal notice in a newspaper or newspaper of general circulation, the person, corporation, 
agency, authority, municipality, or legal entity may satisfy such requirement by one or more of the 
following means: 
 
A. a print newspaper of local or general circulation; 
B. the website of an on line news site reporting local news and opinion which satisfies all criteria 
for print or digital publication as set forth in G. L. c. 4, section 13(b); 
C. a townwide website that may be maintained as a repository for such notices; 
D. a statewide website that may be maintained as a repository for such notices. 
 
Section 3. Nothing set forth in this Act shall be construed to alter or amend the time or timing of 
publication of legal notices set forth in the General Laws. 
 
Section 4. This act shall take effect upon passage, subject to any editorial changes of form only 
that may be suggested by the General Court and any amendments that the Select Board determines 
to be within the scope of the general purpose objectives of this petition. 
By Petition: Richard M. Serkey, et al 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval (Unanimously 13-0-0) 
The Advisory & Finance Committee recommends Town Meeting approve Article 29. Approval 
of this article will authorize the Select Board to petition the Massachusetts General Court for 
special legislative allowing digital legal notices for the Town of Plymouth as defined in the 2025 
Spring Annual Town Meeting Warrant and as on file with the town clerk.  

245



 

246



 

Talking Points for Article 29 

1. This Article proposes a Home Rule Petition, that, if passed at Town 
Meeting and subsequently passed on Beacon Hill and signed by the 
Governor, will give the Town the option to publish legal notices generated 
by Town Hall ONLINE (i.e. the PLYMOUTH INDEPENDENT and any other 
online publication that may come along) and not just in PRINT (i.e. the 
OLD COLONY MEMORIAL). 

2. State law currently requires that all legal notices MUST be published in a 
PRINT newspaper, but we all know that since that State law was written, 
delivery systems to inform the public have DRAMATICALLY changed with 
the onset of websites, email, online news journals, and online podcasts. 

3. As a result, the now antiquated REQUIREMANT that legal notices MUST 
be published in print has had the following unwelcome consequences: 

a. It results in LESS notice rather than MORE notice, because far fewer 
people read the OLD COLONY  than the  INDEPENDENT. 

i. The OLD COLONY  does not report local news because it no 
longer has any local reporters. 

ii. Access to the OLD COLONY is limited to those who pay for a 
subscription. The OLD COLONY has just 2,000 subscribers 
left, while the INDEPENDENT has 24,000 subscribers. 

iii. PRINT publication is SUBSTANTIALLY MORE EXPENSIVE than 
ONLINE publication. The Town can expect savings based on 
the general market rate for digital only notices being less than 
print notices. 

b. The REQUIREMENT that legal notices be published in PRINT results 
in a windfall for PRINT newspapers as opposed to ONLINE 
newspapers. 

247



4. If this Home Rule Petition is passed by Town Meeting, it will then go to 
Beacon Hill for its approval, and the likelihood of Beacon Hill approval is 
high: 

a. Two other towns (Bedford and Arlington) whose Home Rule Petition 
have been approved by Beacon Hill. 

b. Our Home Rule Petition was patterned after those Home Rule 
Petitions. 

c. There currently are two other towns (Franklin and Lincoln) whose 
Home Rule Petitions are awaiting approval by Beacon Hill. 

5. All members of our State delegation (Senator Fernandes, Representative 
Badger, and Representative LaNatra) are in support of this Home Rule 
Petition. 

6. law to allow 
ALL legal notices (i.e., not only those legal notices generated by Town 
Hall) to be published ONLINE, but passage of that law will take longer 
than passage of our Home Rule Petition. 

 

 

248


	Blank Page


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



 
 
    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 10 to page 17
     Font: Times-Bold 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 25.20 points
     Prefix text: ''
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     
     8
     TB
     1
     0
     1079
     147
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         8
         10
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     25.2000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     9
     250
     16
     8
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   TrimAndShift
        
     Range: From page 177 to page 178
     Trim: fix size 8.630 x 11.250 inches / 219.2 x 285.8 mm
     Shift: none
     Normalise (advanced option): 'original'
      

        
     32
            
       D:20170220085757
       810.0000
       8.5 x 11 Trimmed
       Blank
       621.3600
          

     Tall
     1
     0
     No
     658
     312
     None
     Down
     9.3600
     936.0000
            
                
         Both
         177
         SubDoc
         178
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     Uniform
     9.3600
     Left
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     176
     250
     177
     2
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 177 to page 178
     Font: Times-Bold 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 25.20 points
     Prefix text: ''
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     
     175
     TB
     1
     0
     1079
     147
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         2
         177
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     25.2000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     176
     250
     177
     2
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 177 to page 177
     Font: Times-Bold 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 25.20 points
     Prefix text: ''
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     
     175
     TB
     1
     0
     1079
     147
    
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         1
         177
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     25.2000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     176
     250
     176
     1
      

   1
  

 HistoryList_V1
 qi2base




 
 
    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 10 to page 17
     Font: Times-Bold 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 25.20 points
     Prefix text: ''
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     
     8
     TB
     1
     0
     1079
     147
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         8
         10
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     25.2000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     9
     250
     16
     8
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   TrimAndShift
        
     Range: From page 177 to page 178
     Trim: fix size 8.630 x 11.250 inches / 219.2 x 285.8 mm
     Shift: none
     Normalise (advanced option): 'original'
      

        
     32
            
       D:20170220085757
       810.0000
       8.5 x 11 Trimmed
       Blank
       621.3600
          

     Tall
     1
     0
     No
     658
     312
     None
     Down
     9.3600
     936.0000
            
                
         Both
         177
         SubDoc
         178
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     Uniform
     9.3600
     Left
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     176
     250
     177
     2
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 177 to page 178
     Font: Times-Bold 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 25.20 points
     Prefix text: ''
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     
     175
     TB
     1
     0
     1079
     147
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         2
         177
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     25.2000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     176
     250
     177
     2
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 177 to page 177
     Font: Times-Bold 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 25.20 points
     Prefix text: ''
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     
     175
     TB
     1
     0
     1079
     147
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         1
         177
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     25.2000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     176
     250
     176
     1
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   TrimAndShift
        
     Range: current page
     Trim: fix size 8.630 x 11.250 inches / 219.2 x 285.8 mm
     Shift: none
     Normalise (advanced option): 'original'
      

        
     32
            
       D:20170220085757
       810.0000
       8.5 x 11 Trimmed
       Blank
       621.3600
          

     Tall
     1
     0
     No
     658
     312
    
     None
     Down
     9.3600
     936.0000
            
                
         Both
         177
         CurrentPage
         178
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     Uniform
     9.3600
     Left
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     9
     250
     9
     1
      

   1
  

 HistoryList_V1
 qi2base



